



Review of the scientific literature and the international pig welfare codes and standards to underpin the future Standards and Guidelines for Pigs

Final Report APL Project 2017/2217

August 2018

Animal Welfare Science Centre, University of Melbourne

Dr Lauren Hemsworth Prof Paul Hemsworth Ms Rutu Acharya Mr Jeremy Skuse

21 Bedford St North Melbourne, VIC 3051

Disclaimer: APL shall not be responsible in any manner whatsoever to any person who relies, in whole or in part, on the contents of this report unless authorised in writing by the Chief Executive Officer of APL.

Table of Contents

Executive Summary	3
1. Animal welfare and its assessment	11
2. Purpose of this Review and the Australian Model Code of Practice for the Welfare of Pigs	
3. Housing and management of pigs	20
3.1 Gestating sows (including gilts)	20
3.2 Farrowing/lactating sow and piglets, including painful husbandry practices	29
3.3 Weaner and growing-finishing pigs	44
3.4 Boars	51
3.5 Outdoor housing	53
4. Specific physiological and behavioural problems in pigs	56
5. General management practices of pigs	64
6. Human resource management	76
7. Mitigation of risk in emergency situations	80
8 References	82

Executive Summary

All pigs farmed in Australia are governed by the Australian Model Code of Practice for the Welfare of Animals – Pigs, which was approved by the Primary Industries Ministerial Council on April 2007. The original Model Code of Practice was approved by the Australian Agricultural Council in 1989 and the code has been subsequently updated in 1998, 2001, 2004 and 2007 to incorporate the latest research findings and new technologies in the area. This review is a comprehensive documentation of recent findings on pig welfare at all stages of their production cycle. Furthermore, comparisons are made between the current Australian Model Code of Practice for the Welfare of Animals – Pigs and the current Codes or Standards in Canada (Code of Practice for the Care and Handling of Pigs, 2014), the United Kingdom (UK, Codes of Recommendations for the Welfare of Livestock: Pigs, 2002), the European Union (EU, Council Directive 2008/120/EC) and New Zealand (Pigs – Animal Welfare Code of Welfare, 2018). These countries were selected because their high standards of pig welfare have been widely recognised.

Pig farming is one of the most intensive of all the livestock production systems; animals are commonly housed in large buildings, with a high degree of automation to supply feed, water, heat and ventilation. Whilst the increased intensification of animal production methods has reduced or removed a range of welfare problems, such as predation, thermal stress, some infectious diseases and nutritional stress, it has also created or exacerbated other welfare problems such as restricted space and social contact, lameness and barren environments. Extensive livestock production systems are generally thought to be less restrictive, however they do still impose restrictions on animals, albeit with considerable freedom and there are different welfare risks including frequency of inspections, climatic conditions and natural disasters.

All aspects of pig production are attracting welfare concerns; sow housing, growing-finishing pig housing, transport and slaughter. In pig production, the most contentious welfare issues involve indoor housing (close confinement and barren environment), particularly of breeding sows, however potential welfare issues do also exist in outdoor pig systems, including the implications of nose-ringing, shelter, litter desertion, pre-weaning piglet mortality, wallow design and management, thermoregulation in winter, heat stress in summer, any implications of lower back fat, and the suitability of different genotypes.

The following review provides conclusions, recommendations and future research for the following issues relevant to the Australian pig industry:

Gestating sows (including gilts)

- There are some obvious gaps in our knowledge on safeguarding the welfare of gestating sows and these obviously are topics for future research.
- The most obvious weakness in our knowledge on safeguarding the welfare of gestating sows
 is strategies for effective environmental enrichment in intensive, indoor and non-bedded
 systems. Together with the practice of restricted feeding of gestating sows, strategies for
 example to increase foraging and feeding times in feed-restricted gestating sows will reduce
 hunger and the likely development of oral stereotypies.
- Research on space allowance indicates that a space allowance for gilts and sows of 1.4 m²/animal is likely to be too small and that significant improvements in welfare, in terms of aggression and stress, are likely to be achieved with space allowances for gilts and sows in the range of 2.0–2.4 m²/animal.
- The effects of space on aggression and stress are most pronounced soon after mixing, highlighting the importance of floor space at mixing. Indeed, a strategy of staged gestation penning, with more space immediately after mixing and less space later in gestation may provide distinct animal welfare and economic advantages, but this requires investigation.
- While floor feeding is generally viewed as the most competitive feeding system, accessing feeding stalls or an electronic sow feeder (ESF) system also leads to competition between group-housed sows. A better appreciation of the positioning of resources and barriers in pens to facilitate access to important resources, such as feed, water and a comfortable lying area, and allow escape opportunities from others, is important in reducing aggression and stress and thus minimise risks to sow welfare.

Research recommendations: areas for future research to safeguard gestating sow welfare include effective environmental enrichment for gestating sows in intensive, indoor and non-bedded systems; opportunities to increase foraging (which clearly also provides environment enrichment); feeding times in feed-restricted gestating sows; and the use of stage gestation penning.

S&G recommendations: increasing the space allowance guidelines for gilts and sows in the range of 2.0–2.4 m²/animal is likely to result in significant improvements in welfare (and productivity) with regard to aggression and stress. It is also important to monitor ongoing research investigating effective environmental enrichment for intensive, indoor and non-bedded systems in order to use outcomes to inform S&G on enrichment for not only gestating sows but pigs in all stages of production.

Farrowing/lactating sow and piglets, including painful husbandry practices

- Housing pre-parturient sows in farrowing crates without bedding/nesting material reduces their level of maternal behaviour in comparison to sows in more enriched environments.
- While confining sows, at least primiparous sows, at farrowing and/or denying them access to bedding/nesting material may induce acute stress, the limited evidence suggests that housing sows in farrowing crates without bedding is not a potent stressor for at least 3 weeks of lactation. However, housing beyond 3 weeks of lactation in farrowing crates may be stressful for sows.
- Alternative loose farrowing and lactation environments can provide sows with bedding and thus increased opportunity to perform maternal behaviours (including nest building and interaction with their piglets). However, these loose farrowing and lactation systems require extra floor space and can lead to an increased risk of piglet crushing.
- Total overall piglet losses (stillbirths and live born deaths) may be similar with loose farrowing
 and lactation pens and farrowing crates, however crushing of live born piglets is often higher
 in loose pens.
- Many causes of piglet mortality are a welfare concern because asphyxiation, starvation and physical trauma are likely to lead to negative affective states such as pain, fear and suffering.
- Piglets that develop full breathing but descend quickly into hypothermia and thus unconsciousness and, to a lesser extent, piglets that never develop full breathing are less of a welfare concern. However, piglets that develop full breathing, are not hypothermic, but suffer deaths from hunger, injury or disease are a greater welfare concern. Thus, any farrowing and lactation housing system needs to safeguard liveborn piglet mortality during the first few days post-partum when liveborn piglet mortality is at most risk.
- Maternal characteristics of sows and the quality of stockmanship will be integral to the success of loose farrowing and lactation systems.
- The on-going development of loose farrowing and lactation systems needs to be cognisant of minimising piglet mortality; current hybrid systems in which sows are confined at parturition and during the first few days post-partum when liveborn piglet mortality is at most risk, provide at least in the medium term an alternative system that addresses many of the most serious sow and piglet welfare concerns with farrowing crates and loose housing.
- Research indicates that castration in young pigs results in a short-term moderate acute stress
 response and that castration is likely to be painful for piglets at any age. Alternatives to surgical
 castration include immunocastration, genetic selection against boar taint compounds, and
 raising entire males slaughtered at lower body weights before they reach sexual maturity.
- The EU, Canada and UK have all mandated the use of anaesthetics for surgical castration, and also recommend the use of prolonged analgesics. Amongst different options of pain-relief available, the most promising ones are NSAID drugs, however the literature in support of NSAID drugs is still in its infancy and insufficient to make their use mandatory.
- Future research needs to focus on evaluating efficacy of pain relief using wider range of pain assessment markers as well as a non-invasive mode of delivery of pain relief in order to avoid double handling of piglets.
- Physiological and behavioural responses to tail docking of piglets vary according to the method
 used to perform the procedure. While tail docking piglets using either the clipper or
 cauterisation method caused increases in cortisol concentrations and behavioural indicators
 of pain, the cauterisation treatment resulted in a lower stress response compared to those in
 the clipper treatment. Furthermore, based on electroencephalographic (EEG) responses, tail

- docking using clippers appears more painful than tail docking using cautery iron and that tail docking within the first few days of birth may be less acutely painful than at a later age.
- Whilst there is evidence that tail docking causes acute, short-term behavioural and physiological responses, there is also concern that tail docking may cause chronic, long-term pain in pigs since neuromas have been found in the tail stumps of tail docked pigs.
- The use of pain-relief such as meloxicam for tail docking looks promising, especially if the method of trans-mammary delivery meloxicam is refined.
- The implications of teeth clipping and teeth grinding on piglet health and in turn welfare require more extensive study.

Research recommendations: areas for future research to safeguard the welfare of sows and piglets during farrowing and lactation include examining the implications of confinement in a farrowing crate without bedding/nesting material on stress physiology of multiparous sows; opportunities to facilitate sow maternal behaviour, particularly sow-piglet interactions in crates, because providing opportunities for increased sow-piglet interactions may be beneficial for both sow and piglet welfare; sows' experience with farrowing and lactation housing system and the subsequent effect on the welfare of both the sow and the piglets; long-term effects of group lactation housing on both sows and piglets; the effect of early experience on stress resilience, emotionality and welfare in pigs later in life; evaluating efficacy of pain relief using wider range of pain assessment markers as well as a non-invasive mode of delivery of pain relief in order to avoid double handling of piglets during husbandry procedures.

S&G recommendations: if farrowing crates are to remain a feature of intensive housing systems, then increasing minimum dimensions of the crate and the provision of nest building materials (straw) around parturition need to be seriously considered in order to improve sow welfare. Whilst further research is still needed (particularly around pain-relief), it could be recommended that husbandry practices are performed on piglets of a young (less than seven days) and pain-relief should be administered for the duration of the procedure.

Weaner and growing-finishing pigs

- Space allowance for growing-finishing pigs is less contentious than for breeding sows; the literature indicates that current Australian space allowance requirements of 0.14 m² to 0.74 m²/pig (weight: 10-120 kg) are likely to be sufficient. However, improvements in welfare (in terms of aggression and stress) and productivity (with regard to growth rate) are likely to be achieved with space allowances greater than the current Australian requirements.
- The effect of space allowance (and pen design and features) on the aggressive behaviour of growing pigs in the period immediately following mixing requires further investigation.
- There is considerable evidence in the young pig indicating that aggression is not affected by group size; other factors such as floor space and competition for feed or feeding space may have a greater impact on aggression, injuries and stress than does group size.
- Enrichment suitable for growing-finishing pigs is likely to be one that they can root, chew and manipulate. Novelty appears important in maintaining interest, but there should also be diversity in the materials at any one time. Furthermore, desired environmental enrichment needs to be targeted to be most effective.
- While the utilisation of environmental enrichments has been investigated, the effects of enrichment on stress adaptability and indicators denoting poor welfare have not been extensively studied.
- Straw has been widely accepted as an effective form of enrichment for pigs of all stages, however further research is needed to enable its use in systems with slatted or partially-slatted floors
- At present it is not possible to identify point-source objects that can be recommended as
 effective enrichment.
- Further research is required to evaluate the effectiveness (type and placement within pen) of enrichment strategies for growing-finishing pigs, particularly when housed on slatted floors.
- Early weaning is considered one of the main welfare challenges for weaner pigs, further
 research to examine the effects on welfare and productivity of weaning alternatives is required.
 In addition, further understanding on the effect of weaning on the sow would be beneficial.

Research recommendations: areas for future research to safeguard the welfare of growing-finishing pigs include examining the effect of space allowance (and pen design and features) on the aggressive behaviour of growing pigs in the period immediately following mixing; the effectiveness (type and placement within pen) of enrichment strategies for growing-finishing pigs, particularly when housed on slatted floors; and the effects on welfare and productivity of weaning alternatives.

S&G recommendations: current Australian space allowance requirements of 0.14 m^2 to $0.74 \text{ m}^2/\text{pig}$ (weight: 10-120 kg) are likely to be sufficient, however, improvements in welfare (in terms of aggression and stress) and productivity (with regard to growth rate) are likely to be achieved with space allowances greater than the current requirements.

Boars

- There is no specific research on the housing requirements of mature boars, although it is reasonable to infer information on requirements such as space, flooring, temperature, lighting and social stimulation from guidelines for sows.
- Research on boar housing requirements and the implications for boar welfare is required.

Research recommendations: whilst it may not be viewed as a high priority, research on boar housing requirements and the implications for boar welfare is required.

Outdoor housing

• The limited literature suggests there are no large differences in risks to sow welfare in indoor and outdoor systems, based on the variation in a number of selected variables.

Research recommendations: areas for future research regarding outdoor housing include nose-ringing, predator control, shelter, litter desertion, selection and training of stockpeople, wallow design and management, overgrown claws, avoidance by pigs of others at feeding time, thermoregulation in winter, and any implications of lower backfat.

S&G recommendations: the provision of huts for farrowing and lactation are currently a recommendation, however consideration should be made to make them a requirement to ensure protection for sows and the piglets during sensitive period of their life cycle.

Specific physiological and behavioural problems in pigs

- Finely grounded pelleted feed is a risk factor and provision of straw can reduce the prevalence of gastric ulceration.
- Lameness is a major welfare concern because of the likely pain and discomfort for extended periods. Quality of flooring is widely considered to be essential to pig welfare as it is likely to have a direct effect on foot health. In slatted floor areas, the slat and gap widths should be appropriate to the claw size of the pigs to prevent injuries, while in solid floor areas, the surface should not be too smooth, but sufficiently rough to provide some abrasion to avoid excessive hoof growth.
- Stereotypies may develop in long-term conflict or thwarting situations, and there is evidence
 that stereotypies can develop in response to barren or restricted environments as well as feed
 restriction and restricted foraging opportunities.
- The implication of stereotypies on pig welfare is contentious; a major review of the extensive literature on human and animal stereotypies and their links to welfare found evidence that increased stereotypies can be associated with reduced welfare, increased welfare or no change in welfare. Nevertheless, stereotypies generally indicate either a present problem for the animal or a past problem that has resolved.
- With the practice of restricted feeding of gestating sows, strategies to increase foraging and feeding times will reduce hunger and the likely development of oral stereotypies, such as oral stereotypic licking, bar-biting and sham chewing or vacuum chewing. With intensive, indoor and non-bedded systems in current pig production systems, providing opportunities to forage in terms of searching and chewing for example with straw has been shown to reduce oral stereotypies.
- With the extensive use of fully- or partially-slatted, non-bedded and non-enriched environments in Australian pig production, further research is clearly required to investigate functional and effective enrichment. Recommendations can then be made regarding appropriate S&G for environmental enrichment for all stages of pig production.
- Tail biting is likely to cause both acute and chronic pain in the short-term in the recipient due
 to the actual tail biting and consequently weight loss and infection in the longer term is a
 potentially serious welfare problem for growing-finishing pigs.
- Tail biting is believed to be a multi-factorial syndrome factors influencing tail-biting appear to
 include external factors such as manipulable objects or substrates that can be chewed and
 manipulated, and particularly straw, space, stocking density and group size; indoor and
 outdoor climate; crowding, flooring, and food and feeding system; and internal factors such as
 genetics, gender, age and weight, gastrointestinal discomfort and health status.

Research recommendations: areas for future research regarding specific physiological and behavioural problems in pigs include investigate strategies to increase foraging and feeding times to potentially reduce hunger and the likely development of oral stereotypies; and functional and effective enrichment, the outcomes of which recommendations could then be made regarding appropriate S&G for environmental enrichment for all stages of pig production.

S&G recommendations: once functional and effective enrichment strategies have been identified recommendations need to be updated to include appropriate S&G for environmental enrichment for all stages of pig production

General management practices of pigs

- The current focus of pig breeding programmes is largely driven by market needs and economic benefit, however, future research needs to include welfare-relevant traits to help counter the effects of productivity-based genetic selection.
- Anaesthetic overdose is effective for a painless death in all classes of pigs, but euthanasia may be delayed because veterinary supervision and administration is required, and it is expensive.
- When applied with sufficient force, blunt trauma and non-penetrating captive bolt are effective methods of euthanasia for piglets and result in immediate unconsciousness and death.
- Penetrating captive bolt is effective as a single step method for euthanasia of pigs under I 20kg. For mature sows and boars, penetrating captive bolt causes loss of consciousness, but a secondary step (e.g. exsanguination) is necessary to ensure death.
- Blunt trauma, non-penetrating and penetrating captive bolts are all safe for the stockperson and cost effective, however highly dependent on the training and skills of the operator. Furthermore, blunt force trauma is likely to be unpleasant for some stock people to perform, and as such it may result in a delay in the euthanasia of compromised piglets.
- Electrocution for pigs less than 2.3kg causes immediate death; an electric current flows through the brain resulting in unconsciousness and through the heart leading to cardiac arrest. Cost and maintenance of equipment may limit this euthanasia method.
- Carbon dioxide (CO₂) is the most commonly used gas for gas inhalation euthanasia in piglets.
 Exposure to carbon dioxide (>80% CO₂), to a mixture of CO₂:Argon, argon gas (90%) or nitrous oxide in either pre-filled chamber or with a high flow rate have all been found to be effective methods to kill pigs.
- However, CO₂ inhalation is highly noxious and causes signs of distress until loss of
 consciousness which may occur as long as 2 minutes following exposure to the gas. Piglets
 exposed to alternative gases or gas mixtures also show some signs of distress.
- A lack of conclusive outcome-based evidence means that further research is required to determine the most effective and humane gas or gas mixture for gas inhalation euthanasia of piglets.

Research recommendations: further research is required to determine the most effective and humane gas or gas mixture for gas inhalation euthanasia of piglets.

S&G recommendations: the different methods of euthanasia for piglets, growing-finishing pigs and adult pigs are highly dependent on the training and skills of the operator, and as such appropriate training and support should be a primary component of the human resource management practices at a farm.

Human resource management

- Irrespective of the housing system, the skills, knowledge and motivation of stockpeople to
 effectively care for and manage their animals are integral to the standard of welfare
 experienced by their animals.
- Attitudes influence not only the manner in which stockpeople handle pigs, but also their
 motivation to care for their pigs. Thus, training targeting technical skills and knowledge as well
 as the attitudes and behaviours of stockpeople should be a primary component of the human
 resource management practices at a farm.
- As has occurred in the Australian pig industry in the past, this cognitive-behaviour training needs to remain an integral element in the industry's stockperson training priorities.

I. Animal welfare and its assessment

I.I Animal ethics and animal welfare

Ethics is concerned with the principles of right conduct, that is, the moral aspect of behaviour (Levy, 2004). Thus, when we reflect upon ethical standards for animals, we ask how people ought to behave towards animals, in general or in relation to a specific domain. In any ethical analysis though, science can provide facts that need to be utilised to remain rational, and when combined with other beliefs and principles, facts can yield behavioural guidance (Levy, 2004). Therefore, in an ethical analysis of an animal use, science may provide the factual basis of the impact of this animal use on the animal, in particular its impact on the welfare of the animal.

It is widely acknowledged that most of the animals that society uses can suffer. Mellor et al. (2009) argues that in using these animals for our purposes we implement varying degrees of control over the quality and duration of their lives, which consequently provides us with the opportunity to manage them humanely. Furthermore, using these animals for our own purposes rather than theirs, requires us to manage them humanely. We therefore have an ethical 'duty of care' towards the animals under our care and this translates into a practical obligation to ensure their welfare is maintained at acceptable levels.

There are a number of recent reviews on animal welfare, its assessment and the strengths and weakness of the assessment (for example, Broom (1986), Boissy et al. (2007), Fraser (2008), Mellor et al. (2009), Hemsworth and Coleman (2011), Mellor (2012), Hemsworth et al. (2015), Tilbrook and Ralph (2017), Hemsworth (2018a)), which can be summarised as follows.

1.2 Animal Welfare

Animal welfare is a state and it is largely agreed that animal welfare relates to experienced sensations, that is, how the animal feels (Hemsworth, 2018a). How an animal feels develops from the integrated outcomes of the current sensory and other neural inputs from within the animal and from its environment, which are processed and interpreted by the animal according to its species-specific and individual nature, and its past experience. It is these integrated outcomes that represent the animal's current experience (i.e., its welfare status), and this changes as the balance and nature of the inputs change. These experiences are subjective and will differ in their affective or emotional contents: negative affective experiences include thirst, hunger, nausea, pain and fear, and positive affective experiences include satiety, contentment, companionship, curiosity and playfulness. As a result, the welfare state of an animal can vary on a continuum from very poor to very good (Hemsworth, 2018a). Whilst conscious emotional experiences cannot be assessed directly; neural, behavioural and physiological indicators of emotion can be measured. Researchers have employed these measures to describe how animals respond to situations assumed to cause discrete affective or emotional states. Most animal welfare research during at least the last four decades has concentrated on preventing animal suffering. However, attitudes toward animal welfare have moved beyond whether the animal is suffering and there is increasing societal interest in providing domesticated animals with the opportunity for positive affective experiences (Tannenbaum, 2001, Mellor, 2012, Hemsworth et al., 2015, Lawrence et al., 2017). Consequently, there is an increasing research focus on positive welfare states in captive animals.

1.3 Conceptual frameworks for assessment of animal welfare

Understanding animal welfare and its assessment requires the use of multiple indicators from multiple disciplines (Hemsworth et al., 2015, Tilbrook and Ralph, 2018) particularly since individuals vary in the manner in which they cope with stressors (Broom, 1986, Koolhaas et al., 1999). The conceptual framework of 'biological functioning' is commonly used to infer compromised animal welfare on the basis that difficult or inadequate adaptation will generate welfare problems, while the framework of 'affective state' is based on the concept that the welfare of an animal derives from its capacity for affective experiences. The principle underlying the concept of 'natural living' is that animals should be raised in 'natural' environments and allowed to behave in 'natural' ways. However, this third conceptual framework has the least scientific credibility because the concept of natural is usually too poorly defined to provide a sound basis for animal welfare assessment. The rationale for and the approach of these three conceptual frameworks in assessing animal welfare will be briefly considered now.

1.3.1 Biological functioning

Difficult or inadequate adaptation will create welfare problems for animals. Animals use a range of behavioural and physiological responses to assist them in coping with challenges, and while biological regulation in response to challenges occurs continuously, successful adaptation is not always possible (Hemsworth, 2018b). Serious challenges can limit an animal's ability to adapt and as such lead to its death. Less severe challenges which can have significant biological costs, resulting in growth, reproductive, health and other impairments, which also reflect and/or result in welfare problems for the animal. Thus, animal welfare is at risk in environments in which adaptation is difficult for the animal (Hemsworth, 2018b). The rationale for the biological functioning approach is therefore that difficult or inadequate adaptation will generate welfare problems for the animal and that the risks to welfare can be assessed at the following two levels: first, the magnitude of the behavioural and physiological responses to the challenge and, second, the biological costs of these responses (Hemsworth, 2018a).

It is the biological cost of stress that is the key to understanding the associated welfare implications. The success of an animal in coping with its environment will be reflected in the normality of its biological functioning and fitness, with severe risks to welfare associated with the most extreme coping attempts. The normality of biological functioning can be studied using an animal's behavioural responses to the challenges such as stereotypies, redirected behaviours and displacement activities as well as the animal's physiological stress responses to challenges such as the activation of the sympathoadrenal-medullary (SAM) system and the hypothalamo-pituitary-adrenal (HPA) axis, with the subsequent increase in synthesis of catecholamines and glucocorticoids, respectively. For many stressors, the first and, at times, the most biologically economical and effective response is a behavioural one. In concert with the behavioural responses, the activation of the SAM system and the HPA axis can be highly effective mechanisms to assist the animal in adapting to changes in its environment. In addition to behavioural responses, physiological outcomes include adjustments in metabolic rate, cardiac function, blood pressure, peripheral circulation, respiration, visual acuity and energy availability and use that allow the animal to meet physical and/or emotional challenges (Sapolsky, 2002, Kaltsas and Chrousos, 2007, Moberg, 2000). Long-term activation of the HPA axis can have marked effects on efficiency of growth with for example the breakdown of muscle protein under the catabolic effects of ACTH and glucocorticoids (Sapolsky, 2002, Kaltsas and Chrousos, 2007). Stressinduced secretion of these stress hormones have also been implicated in failed reproduction (Clarke et al., 1992, Tilbrook et al., 2000) and immune competency (Blecha, 2000). How serious these costs are, depends on how long the animal is required to divert physiological resources to maintain homeostasis. Thus, the extent to which these coping attempts are succeeding or failing is reflected in the biological costs to the animal, such as deterioration in growth efficiency, reproduction and health (injury or disease).

This conceptual framework has been predominantly used in assessing risks to animal welfare (i.e. negative welfare states). Research has largely used the biological functioning framework to imply compromised animal welfare on the basis that suboptimal biological functioning accompanies negative affective states, such as hunger, pain, fear, helplessness, frustration and anger (Hemsworth, 2018b). The measures used in studies in pigs have included behavioural variables, such as aggression and stereotypies; physiological variables, including circulating concentrations of cortisol and neutrophil to lymphocyte ratio and immunoglobulin A; and health variables, such as lameness, skin lesions, live weight change and reproductive performance.

1.3.2 Affective state

The second framework emphasises that the welfare of an animal stems from its capacity for affective experiences, that is, experienced sensations of the animal and thus how it feels. An animal's welfare state is therefore likely to be in a negative state when the predominant affects they experience are predominantly unpleasant, and vice versa. Affective experiences are generated by both sensory inputs that reflect the animal's internal functional state and by other sensory inputs that reflect the animal's perception of its external circumstances (Hemsworth, 2018b).

Preference research (the measurement of animal preferences), in which the strength of the animal's preference for a chosen environmental option or the motivation to perform a type of behaviour is measured, has been used by scientists to make inferences about animal welfare (Hemsworth, 2018a). The rationale for these inferences is that an animal's preferences are influenced by either the animal's emotions, which have evolved to motivate behaviour to avoid harm and facilitate survival, growth and reproduction, and these emotions reflect important biological requirements of the animal. Furthermore, it has been suggested that animals make choices that, for the most part, are in their best interest: animals will likely avoid aversive stimuli and choose rewarding stimuli (Hemsworth, 2018a). To determine the question of the strength of an animal's preference, experiments have incorporated varying levels of cost (e.g., work effort, time and relinquishing a desirable resource) associated with gaining access to a resource or avoiding aversive stimulation. These 'behavioural demand' studies have been used to investigate the animal's level of motivation to access or avoid the situation being tested and the strength of the motivation provides a quantitative measure of how much the animal 'wants' to access or avoid the situation.

Further approaches that have been used to assess affective experiences, particularly negative affective experiences, include measures of behaviour, such as fear, pain and illness behaviours, cognitive bias, such as deviation in judgement, and physiology, such as activation of the sympatho-adrenal medullary system and the hypothalamo-pituitary adrenal axis (Hemsworth, 2018a). While there are inconsistencies in the literature, behaviours such as play, affiliative behaviours and some vocalizations appear to be the most promising current behavioural indicators of positive affective experiences in animals.

A promising area of research is the study of changes in cognitive function as indicators of affective state. For example, in tests of 'judgement bias', in which one cue predicts a positive event while another predicts a less positive/negative event, animals in a negative affective state when presented with ambiguous (intermediate) cues are more likely to respond to these ambiguous cues as if they predict the negative event (a 'pessimistic' response), than animals in a more positive state (Mendl et al., 2009).

1.3.3 Natural living

The final conceptual framework, although not often well articulated in the literature, is based on the view that the welfare of animals is improved when they can express their normal behaviour. This also often implies that the animal should be raised in a 'natural' environment and allowed to behave in 'natural' ways. The general idea that we can improve animal welfare by providing more 'natural' environments and thus allowing animals to perform their full 'repertoire' of behaviour is intuitively appealing. Though, both the concept of natural and the behaviours that are desirable or undesirable in terms of animal welfare are usually too poorly defined to provide a sound basis for animal welfare assessment. However, there is an increasing research focus on those behaviours that are highly-motivated, for example those that are strongly preferred.

In conclusion, the interpretation of the physiological and behavioural indices of both biological functioning and affective states provide the basis for inferences regarding an animal's welfare state. Although the biological functioning and affective state frameworks were initially seen as competing, a more unified orientation has now emerged where biological functioning is taken to include affective experiences, and affective experiences are recognised as products of biological functioning.

As mentioned the majority of studies on pig welfare have employed the biological functioning framework to infer compromised pig welfare on the basis that suboptimal biological functioning accompanies negative affective states, such as hunger, pain, fear, helplessness, frustration and anger (Green and Mellor, 2011, Mellor, 2015a, 2015b). Few studies have used preference and motivation tests to investigate what resources or behaviours are important to pigs, and which, by implication, might provide "relief" by reducing the intensity of some negative effects or "benefit" by increasing opportunities to experience positive affects (Mellor, 2012, Mellor, 2015a, 2015b). For example, motivation tests have been used to assess sow hunger (see Bergeron et al. (2000) and the strength of sow preference to gain access to a pen from a gestation stall (Kirkden and Pajor, 2006b). These three frameworks, particularly biological functioning, are used in this review of the literature to assess the welfare implications of common practices in the pig industry.

1.4 Assessment of welfare in the field

The assessment of welfare in a livestock production system can be used to demonstrate compliance with policy, law, and regulatory standards, and to assure the community (both consumers and non-consumers) that welfare standards are being met. Welfare assessment in a production system can also be used to assist owners and managers to monitor and improve the welfare of their livestock. Welfare assessment in the field requires practical and effective welfare measures and two types of measures are used: environmental and management components (input measures); and validated, repeatable and

feasible animal-based welfare indices (outcome or output measures). In recent years, the assessment and monitoring of animal welfare has moved from the conventional approach of evaluating the environment and resources required to ensure good welfare, to focussing on animal-based measures of welfare. Examples of this are, AssureWel, Real Welfare, PigCare™ and the animal welfare assessment at a farm or on-site level in the European Union Welfare Quality® project (Botreau et al., 2009).

Animal-based measures can provide a direct assessment of the animal's welfare state, and while environmental parameters will offer information regarding potential or current welfare risks, they fail to directly reflect the welfare state of the animal (Colditz et al., 2014). Nevertheless, Main et al. (2014) suggest that outcome measures are unlikely to replace all environment measures, particularly where welfare science has shown that the resources provided contribute to genuine welfare benefits. In addition, it is widely recognized that there are some challenges in assessing some animal-based measures, particularly behaviour measures, in a reliable, consistent and time-efficient way (Main et al., 2014).

It has been argued that compliance and market assurance schemes might measure compliance with certain aspects of the welfare of animals, but they do not provide clear directions on how to improve animal welfare (Butterworth et al., 2011, Colditz et al., 2014, Main et al., 2014). Indeed, these authors propose a continuous improvement approach utilizing both regular monitoring of pre-defined welfare criteria (input- (environmental and management) and outcome-based), benchmarking performance to identify targets for improvement and a management system to ensure preventive and corrective action to maximize levels of these criteria. Furthermore, it has been suggested that such an animal welfare risk assessment and management scheme lends itself to providing evidence for compliance and assurance schemes. In addition, production variables should be utilised, many of which farmers already collect such as growth, reproduction, health, mortality and culling statistics and environmental measures. Thus, this multi-pronged approach provides opportunities to benchmarking livestock welfare, both within farms and within the livestock industry for use by individual farmers, industry and stakeholders, to provide compliance evidence and market assurance and, probably most importantly, to assess animal welfare and risk in order to continuously improve animal welfare (Hemsworth, 2018b).

As outlined previously, a multidisciplinary approach is necessary in the assessment of pig welfare, including measures of behaviour (e.g. fear, pain, aggression, play and stereotypic behaviour), physiology (e.g. circulating concentrations of cortisol and neutrophil, lymphocyte ratio), health (e.g. lameness, skin lesions, body condition score) and production (e.g. live weight change, reproductive performance). A range of animal-based measures of pig welfare are currently used in the field, at an individual level including body condition score (individual), lameness (individual), injury score (individual), shoulder lesions (individual), vulva lesions (individual), tail lesions (individual), bursitis (individual), leg swellings (individual), and manure on the body (individual); and at a group-level such as enrichment use (group/pen), tail docking (group/pen), ear/flank biting (group/pen), use of nose rings (group/pen), pigs needing further care (group/pen), hospital pen (group), panting (group), huddling (group), coughing (group), sneezing (group), pumping (laboured breathing; group), rectal prolapse (group), scouring (group), constipation (group), metritis (group), mastitis (group), uterine prolapse (group), rupture and hernia (group), local infection (group), social behaviour (group), stereotypies (group), exploratory behaviour (group), fear of humans (group), qualitative behavioural analysis (QBA) (group), mortality

(group), neurological disorder (tremor in piglets; group), splay leg (group), castration (group), and teeth clipping (group).

2. Purpose of this Review and the Australian Model Code of Practice for the Welfare of Animals – Pigs

All pigs farmed in Australia are governed by the Australian Model Code of Practice for the Welfare of Animals – Pigs, which was approved by the Primary Industries Ministerial Council on April 2007. The original Model Code of Practice was approved by the Australian Agricultural Council in 1989 and the code has been subsequently updated in 1998, 2001, 2004 and 2007 to incorporate the latest research findings and new technologies in the area. This review is a comprehensive documentation of recent findings on pig welfare at all stages of their production cycle. Furthermore, the current Australian Model Code of Practice for the Welfare of Animals – Pigs (Appendix IV) is compared to the current Codes or Standards in Canada (Code of Practice for the Care and Handling of Pigs, 2014; Appendix V), the United Kingdom (UK, Codes of Recommendations for the Welfare of Livestock: Pigs, 2002; Appendix VI), the European Union (EU, Council Directive 2008/120/EC; Appendix VII) and New Zealand (Pigs – Code of Welfare, 2018; Appendix VIII). These countries were selected because their high standards of pig welfare have been widely recognised. Major differences in the Codes of Practice and Standards of these other countries and that of Australia are listed below and throughout the review at the relevant sections.

NB: at the time of this review the United Kingdom Codes of Recommendations for the Welfare of Livestock: Pigs (2002) was in the process of being reviewed (updated version expected to be released in early 2019), and as such the revised recommendations are likely to differ from those reported below.

2.1 Major differences in the Codes of Practice and Standards

2.1.1 Housing in stalls

- Australia: By 2017 sows must not be housed in stalls for more than 6 weeks during any gestation period.
- Canada: Sows or gilts can only be housed in stalls for up to 5 weeks after mating.
- UK: Sows and gilts cannot be housed in gestation stalls but can be housed in farrowing crates during the period between 7 days before predicted farrowing time and the day of weaning piglets.
- EU: Ensure that sows and gilts are kept in groups during a period starting from four weeks
 after the service to one week before the expected time of farrowing. Shall not apply to
 holdings with fewer than 10 sows provided that they can turn around easily in their boxes.
- New Zealand: Sows or gilts can only be housed in stalls for the purpose of mating, for no longer than seven days per reproductive cycle. The pigs should be released from stalls as soon as practicable after mating.

2.1.2 Space allowance

- Australia: Sows and gilts mated or selected for breeding. Sows 1.4m², Gilts 1 m² and stalls 600mm x 2200mm
- Canada: Sows 1.8 to 2.2 m², Gilts 1.4 to 1.9 m².
- EU: Sows > 2.25 m^2 , Gilts > 1.64 m^2
- UK: Sows 2.25 m², Gilts 1.64 m².
- New Zealand: A specific space allowance is not specified, for sows and gilts, rather there is a requirement that all group-housed pigs must be able to stand, move about and lie down without undue interference with each other in a space that provides for separation of dunging, lying and eating areas. For growing-finishing pigs there is a formula for calculating space allowance requirements: Area (m²) per pig = 0.03 x liveweight 0.67 (kg).

2.1.3 Husbandry procedures

- Australia: Castration performed after 21 days of age should be done under analgesic to control procedural pain.
- Canada: Castration performed at any age should be done under analgesic to control procedural pain.
- EU: If castration is performed after 7 days of age it should be done by a veterinarian using anaesthetics. Tail docking performed after 7 days of age should only be done under anaesthetics and additional prolonged analgesia by a veterinarian. The method of castration must not involve tearing of tissues.
- UK: If castration is performed after 7 days of age it should be done by a veterinarian using anaesthetics. Tail docking performed after 7 days of age should only be done under anaesthetics and additional prolonged analgesia by a veterinarian. The method of castration must not involve tearing of tissues.
- New Zealand: Castration of piglets is not performed under commercial conditions in New Zealand but can be performed in pigs on smallholdings. If castration is performed at any age, then it must be carried out by a veterinarian and the pig must be given pain relief at the time of the procedure. Tail docking after 7 days of age can only be performed by a veterinarian and pigs must be given pain relief at the time of the procedure.

2.1.4 Enrichment (including nesting materials)

- Australia: In the current Australian Model Code of Practice for the Welfare of Animals Pigs
 there is no requirement to provide environmental enrichment. There are recommendations
 that boars and gestating sows should be provided with bulky or high fibre feed to satisfy
 appetite (Recommended practice 3.1.9) and that the provision of straw or other suitable
 materials to permit foraging behaviour is encouraged (Guideline 4.1.18).
- Canada: The Canadian Code of Practice for Care and Handling of Pigs stipulates that all classes of pigs must be provided with multiple forms of enrichment that aims to improve the welfare

- of the animals through the enhancement of their physical and social environments (Requirement I.8).
- New Zealand: 'Pigs Animal Welfare Code of Welfare 2018' states that all classes of pigs must be managed in a manner that provides them with sufficient opportunities to express and satisfy their normal behaviours. These include, but are not limited to, feeding, drinking, sleeping, dunging and urination, vocalisation, thermoregulation, and social contact (Minimum Standard No 9 Behaviour). This does not explicitly state foraging behaviour or the use of environmental enrichment, although the incidence of stereotypic behaviour, aggression, and tail, ear and vulva biting (as specified in example indicators of normal behaviour) may be reduced by providing environmental enrichment.
- EU: The EU Council Directive 2008/120/EC states that all class of pig must have permanent access to a sufficient quantity of enrichment materials that does not compromise their health and enables them to carry out proper investigation and manipulation activities and fulfil their behavioural needs. Additionally, in the week before the expected farrowing time, sows and gilts must be given suitable nesting material in sufficient quantity unless it is not technically feasible for the slurry system used. Furthermore, countries within the EU may have more specific standards regarding the provision of enrichment for pigs at different stages of production.
- UK: The UK Codes of Recommendations for the Welfare of Livestock: Pigs state that to
 enable proper investigation and manipulation activities, all classes of pig must have permanent
 access to a sufficient quantity of material such as straw, hay, wood, sawdust, mushroom
 compost, peat or mixture of such which does not adversely affect the health of the animals.
 Additionally, in the week before the expected farrowing time, sows and gilts must be given
 suitable nesting material in sufficient quantity unless it is not technically feasible for the slurry
 system used.

3. Housing and management of pigs

Whilst the increased intensification of animal production systems has reduced or removed a range of welfare problems, such as predation, thermal stress, some infectious diseases and nutritional stress, it has also created or exacerbated other welfare problems including restricted space and social contact, lameness and barren environments (Cronin et al., 2014). Extensive livestock production systems are generally thought to be less restrictive, however they do still impose restrictions on animals, albeit with considerable freedom and there are different welfare risks including frequency of inspections, climatic conditions and natural disasters. For pigs, modern indoor intensive production systems are considered by some sections of the community to be inherently bad due to a perceived lack of space, barrenness of the environment and a reliance on technology (Barnett et al., 2001, Mellor et al., 2009). On the other hand, outdoor housing is usually extensive and as such thought to be inherently good as it provides animals with a more 'natural' environment, the opportunity to perform a greater range of behaviours, and the use of fewer technological inputs reduces the likelihood of equipment breakdowns that may adversely affect welfare (Hemsworth, 2017).

For livestock, the primary focus of welfare concerns has been on intensive production systems. These concerns have led to a varied range of responses, however most commonly they have resulted in the development of alternative systems, sometimes based on previous, more traditional farming practices, such as free-range pig systems. These alternative systems often merely replace one set of welfare problems with another, due largely to an insufficient understanding of the animals' requirements, including those for space, social contact and environmental enrichment, and without this understanding it is difficult to design appropriate housing systems. In pig production, the most contentious welfare issues involve indoor housing, particularly of breeding sows, however potential welfare issues do also exist in outdoor pig systems, including the implications of nose-ringing, appropriate shelter, litter desertion, pre-weaning piglet mortality, wallow design and management, thermoregulation in winter, heat stress in summer, any implications of lower back fat, and the suitability of different genotypes (Barnett et al., 2001, Marchant-Forde, 2009).

While there remains a focus on intensive indoor housing systems, research has indicated that the design and management of both indoor and outdoor housing systems is probably more important for animal welfare than is generally recognised (Barnett et al., 2001, Rushen and Passillé, 1992, Hemsworth, 2018a).

3.1 Gestating sows (including gilts)

There are a number of recent comprehensive reviews on the effects of housing on the welfare of gestating sows, such as (Hemsworth, 2018a, Hemsworth et al., 2013, Hemsworth, 2017, Verdon et al., 2015) and this section of the present review adds to these recent reviews.

3.1.1 Space allowance

According to the standards in the Australian Model Code of Practice for the Welfare of Animals – Pigs, the minimum space allowance for group-housed gestating gilts is Im²/gilt, and for gestating sows it is I.4m²/sow. The Canadian Code of Practice for the Care and Handling of Pigs requires gilts housed on partly-slatted floors to have a minimum space allowance of I.4 to I.7 m²/gilt, whereas those housed

on solid-bedded floors must have a minimum space allowance of 1.5 to 1.9 m²/sow. The Canadian code also specifies that sows housed on partly-slatted floors should have a minimum space allowance of 1.8 to 2.2 m²/sow, and those housed on solid bedded floors should have a minimum space allowance of 2.0 to 2.4 m²/sow. The UK Code of Practice states that gilts should have a minimum access to 1.64 m²/gilt of space, whereas sows should have minimum space allowance of 2.25 m²/sow. The EU's Council Directive 2008/120/EC requires all member states to provide > 1.64 m² and > 2.25 m² of total unobstructed floor area for gilts and sows, respectively. There are also additional requirements in the EU and UK about pen dimensions and amount of solid flooring per sow/gilt. New Zealand uses the formula Area (m^2) per pig = 0.03 x liveweight 0.67 (kg) to calculate the space allowance for housing of pigs.

Reducing floor space for gilts and sows in the range of 1.0–3.0 m²/animal has been found to increase aggression and plasma cortisol concentrations and reduce reproductive performance. For example, in gilts, aggression was higher at a space allowance of 1.0 than at 2.0 m²/gilt (Barnett et al., 1992, Barnett et al., 1997) and stress was higher at 1.0 than at 1.4, 2.0 or 3.0 m²/gilt (Hemsworth et al., 1986, Barnett et al., 1992, Barnett et al., 1997). In sows, aggression was generally higher at 2.0 than at 2.4, 3.6 or 4.8 m²/sow (Weng et al., 1998) and at 2.25 than at 3.0 m²/sow (Remience et al., 2008). Within the range of 1.4–3.0 m²/sow, significant negative relationships have been shown between space allowance and aggression, stress and farrowing rate in sows (Hemsworth et al., 2016, Hemsworth et al., 2013).

Floor space has affected the prevalence of skin injuries in some studies (Weng et al., 1998, Salak-Johnson et al., 2007, Remience et al., 2008) but not in others (Barnett et al., 1992, Barnett et al., 1997, Hemsworth et al., 2013). These findings on the effects of space, particularly those on aggression and stress, indicate that a space allowance for gilts and sows of 1.4 m²/animal is likely too small and significant improvements in these respects are likely to be achieved with space allowances for gilts and sows in the range of 2.0–2.4 m²/animal. Furthermore, space effects on aggression and stress are most evident shortly after mixing (Hemsworth et al., 2013, Hemsworth et al., 2016), which highlights the importance of floor space at mixing.

Reducing floor space for gilts and sows has been found to decrease immunological responsiveness and reproduction. Immunological responsiveness in gilts, assessed on the basis of a cell-mediated response to a mitogen injection, was reduced in gilts with a space allowance of 0.98 m² rather than 1.97 m²/gilt (Barnett et al., 1997) and immunological responsiveness in sows, assessed on the basis of neutrophil to lymphocyte ratio was reduced with 1.4 and 2.3 m² than 3.3m²/sow (Salak-Johnson et al., 2012). Reduced expression of oestrus in gilts was found with a floor space I m² than 3 m²/gilt (Hemsworth et al., 1986a), while reducing floor space in the range of 1.0–3.0 m²/sow reduced farrowing rate (Hemsworth et al., 2013) and litter size (piglets born alive) were reduced with 1.4 and 2.3 m² than 3.3m²/sow (Salak-Johnson et al., 2007).

In contrast to the above studies, (Greenwood et al., 2016) found no effects of floor space allowances of 2, 4 or 6 m^2 /sow on agonistic behaviour, including aggressive behaviour, and injuries at mixing and the following 4 days, although salivary cortisol concentrations were higher in the $2m^2$ /sow treatment. There were no effects of the previous treatments on any of these measures when sows in all treatments were provided with 2 m^2 /sow.

The use of dedicated mixing pens has been proposed by several authors on the basis that providing features that allow avoidance by less aggressive sows while enabling the social hierarchy to quickly

form will reduce aggression and, subsequently, injuries and stress at mixing (Verdon et al., 2015). Although there is evidence that pre-mixing of sub-groups before introduction to large dynamic groups appears to reduce contact and aggression between new and resident sows (Durrell et al., 2003), surprisingly there has been no published research on the effects of mixing pens on the long-term effects when sows are subsequently placed in gestation group systems. An obvious design feature of a mixing pen that would allow avoidance by less aggressive sows while enabling the social hierarchy to quickly form is increased floor space. Since a sow's requirement for space appears to be less once the group is established (Hemsworth et al., 2013), with its animal welfare and economic implications, a strategy of staged gestation penning, with more space immediately after mixing and less space later in gestation, warrants further investigation. In their review of the literature on other possible design features, Verdon et al. (2015) suggest that a mixing pen with increased floor space, barriers and feed supplied *ad libitum* is likely to reduce aggression, injuries and stress at mixing. However, further research is required, particularly on the long-term consequences when sows are subsequently introduced to a gestation housing system in which there may be changes in the design features, such as less floor space, another feeding system or introduction to a dynamic group.

3.1.2 Group size during gestation

No difference in the stress of sows based on cortisol concentrations has been found in groups of 10, 30 or 80 (Hemsworth et al., 2013), but reports on effects of group size on aggression and injuries are contradictory. Aggression, but not the prevalence of injuries, increased in larger groups in one large study (Taylor et al., 1997), whereas injuries, but not aggressive interactions and stress, increased in larger groups in another (Hemsworth et al., 2013). The latter authors suggested that fast movement and, therefore, the opportunity to sustain injuries through slipping and contacting with pen features might be inhibited in small groups. Neither Taylor et al. (1997) nor Hemsworth et al. (2013) found any effects of group size on reproductive performance (farrowing rate and litter size (total and born alive)).

There is a considerable body of research in the young pig indicating that aggression is not affected by group size in the range of 6 to 80 pigs (Turner et al., 2000, Turner et al., 1999, Samarakone and Gonyou, 2009). Other factors such as floor space and competition for feed or feeding space may have a greater impact on sow aggression, injuries and stress than group size.

3.1.3 Feeding system during gestation

The type of feeding system affects the level of aggression related to competition for feed (Spoolder et al., 2009). Although floor feeding is competitive, accessing feeding stalls or an electronic sow feeder (ESF) system also leads to competition between group-housed sows. Andersen et al. (1999) (p. 102) stated that, "the feeding arrangement may influence the nature of the aggressive encounters as well as the amount of aggression."

Floor feeding is one of the simplest and cheapest methods of feed delivery, with feed delivered either manually or automatically, directly onto the pen floor. Feed droppers are normally spread to accommodate approximately 6 to 8 sows per feeder (Rizvi et al., 1998; Marchant-Forde et al., 2009),

allowing sows to feed simultaneously, which may be an advantage to pigs in general. In comparison to concurrent feeding and fixed schedule sequential feeding, feeding grower pigs over 4 weeks in a random order increases plasma cortisol concentration and decreases immunological responsiveness based on a cell-mediated response to a mitogen injection (Barnett and Taylor, 1997). These results suggest that an unpredictable schedule of feeding may compromise pig welfare.

With restricted feeding, group-housed sows compete, consuming as much feed as possible until all the feed is gone. Consequently, variation in feed intake between sows is seen in floor feeding systems (Mendl et al., 1992, Brouns and Edwards, 1994). Spreading feed over a greater area can minimize aggression and allow subordinate sows greater access to feed (Gonyou, 2005). Providing the daily ration over multiple feed drops per day can reduce skin and vulva injuries and structural problems with feet and legs in gestating group-housed sows (Schneider et al., 2007), although duration of agonistic behaviour was unaffected in young prepubertal gilts. Recent research has shown that 'dominant' sows (i.e., those that delivered more aggression than they received) spent the most time feeding where the majority of feed was distributed, while all other sows fed opportunistically, consuming what they could from between and around other sows (Verdon et al., 2018). However, 'subordinate' sows (i.e., those that delivered very little or no aggression relative to the aggression they received) spent more time than 'subdominant' sows (i.e., those that received more aggression than they delivered) and dominant sows avoiding where most of the feed was delivered. Clearly further research is necessary on the management and design of floor feeding systems to ensure that all sows are able to feed with minimise risks to their welfare.

In comparison to floor feeding, the provision of a feeding stall for each sow in the group, particularly full-body length stalls, reduces aggression and plasma cortisol concentrations in the long term in group-housed gestating gilts (Barnett et al., 1992, Barnett and Taylor, 1997, Andersen et al., 1999). Furthermore, as discussed earlier, even when feeding stalls are provided floor space, either total space or the space outside the feeding stalls, independent of the feeding system affects stress (Barnett and Taylor, 1997, Barnett et al., 1992).

However, it has been shown in some experiments that full-body length stalls do not affect aggression or skin injuries in the 90 minutes after mixing or skin injuries in the long term (Barnett et al., 1992, Barnett et al., 1997). Andersen et al., (1999) found increased vulva bites in pens with full-body feeding stalls and suggested that feeding arrangement influences the nature as well as the amount of aggression. Indeed, although floor feeding is competitive, gaining access to feeding stalls can also lead to competition and aggression between group-housed sows (Bench et al., 2013). Continuous access to feeding stalls in comparison to allowing access only around feeding, reduced aggression and skin injuries, but not salivary cortisol, in group-housed sows (Wang and Li, 2016).

While not extensively studied, the position of resources and barriers in pens to facilitate access to important resources, such as feed, water and a comfortable lying area, and allow escape opportunities from others, may also reduce aggression and minimise risks to sow welfare.

While electronic sow feeder (ESF) systems provide sows with the opportunity for protection from others at feeding, aggression and displacement occurs at the entrance of the ESF (Anil et al., 2005, Scott et al., 2009, Olsson et al., 2011, Bench et al., 2013). In fact, some authors have suggested that strategies to prevent queuing would improve sow welfare in these systems (Anil et al., 2003). Some ESF systems allow sows to re-enter after they have consumed their daily ration, allowing dominant

sows to repeatedly re-enter the ESF (Hunter et al., 1988, Olsson et al., 2011), placing pressure on the ESF and restricting others from accessing the feeder (Durrell et al., 2002). Vulva biting is also more prevalent in ESF systems than floor-feeding systems (Scott et al., 2009, Jensen et al., 2012) and Scott et al. (2009) in a survey of injuries in farms with different feeding systems reported that prevalence of severe vulva lesions in sows at farms with different feeding systems was highest in those with ESF systems. In a study of seven different types of group-housing systems for pregnant sows across 55 herds, Leeb et al. (2001) found vulva lesions in up to 62% of sows on one farm. Furthermore, (Rizvi et al., 1998) using a postal survey on 410 pig farms in south-west England reported vulva lesions in 70% of farms with ESFs.

As discussed earlier, there is evidence in grower pigs that feeding in a random order increases stress and decreases immunological responsiveness (Barnett and Taylor, 1997). These results suggest that an unpredictable schedule of feeding may compromise pig welfare. While feeding schedules were only studied over 4 weeks in this experiment, the stress and immune responses seen in grower pigs may have implications for the welfare, health and reproductive performance of sows recently introduced to ESF systems and thus research on this aspect is warranted, particularly those sows displaced from the ESF when the system is first active each day.

Verdon et al. (2015) in reviewing the literature on feeding systems for gestation sows suggested that feeding stalls may be the compromise, allowing sows to simultaneously feed while offering some form of protection against aggressive animals and reduced feed intake, although sows in these systems could be at greater risk of vulva injuries than either ESF or floor feeding systems. It is difficult to conclude on the optimal feeding system because first, research directly comparing aggression, stress, injuries, and feed intake (i.e., weight gain) between floor feeding, feeding stall, and ESF systems is lacking and second, of the research that has been conducted, the comparison of the feeding system (or housing type) is often confounded by design features such as space, group size and bedding.

3.1.4 Time of mixing

The results of the limited number of studies that have examined the effects of the stage of the reproductive cycle at mixing on aggression, injuries and stress are inconsistent. Higher levels of aggression and cortisol concentrations early after mixing have been observed in sows mixed in the week after insemination (early gestation) than 5 to 6 weeks after insemination (Stevens et al., 2015). Since there were no differences in aggression and cortisol 7 days after mixing either early or later in gestation, these effects seem to be acute. The effects of the stage of reproduction at mixing on injuries also appears to be a short term effect since sows mixed early in gestation had more skin injuries at 7 days after mixing than those mixed later in gestation (Stevens et al., 2015). More skin injuries, more vulva injuries and a greater incidence of lameness were also observed by Knox et al. (2014) in sows mixed early after insemination than in those mixed later in gestation.

In contrast to the effects on aggression and stress found by Stevens et al. (2015), Strawford et al. (2008) and Knox et al. (2014) found that aggression early after mixing was similar for sows mixed at 2 to 9 days after insemination and those mixed 35 to 46 days after insemination and Knox et al. (2014) found that sows mixed early after insemination had a smaller increase in serum cortisol from a baseline measure than sows mixed later in gestation.

The effects of the stage of the reproductive cycle at mixing on reproductive outcomes support the findings of Stevens et al. (2015) that mixing sows earlier after insemination results in higher levels of aggression and cortisol concentrations than mixing later in gestation. Conception rates were lower for sows mixed early in gestation than for those mixed later in gestation or those housed in stalls for the entire gestation (Knox et al., 2014), and farrowing rates were lower for sows mixed early in gestation than for those mixed later in gestation (Li and Gonyou, 2013, Knox et al., 2014).

It is relevant in this discussion of the effects of the stage of the reproductive cycle at mixing to consider the very limited data on grouping sows at weaning. While group housing may overall facilitate the sexual behaviour of sows (Barnett and Hemsworth, 1991), there is evidence that grouping of sows stimulates the sexual behaviour of dominant sows but suppresses that of subordinate sows (Pedersen et al., 1993, Peterson and Lee, 2003). Social stress, arising from both social restriction with individual housing (Barnett and Hemsworth, 1991) and social submission with the presence of a dominant sow, may be implicated in these effects on sexual behaviour and thus raise welfare concerns with grouping of sows at weaning. Furthermore, there is evidence that the onset of oestrus may be delayed and variation in the onset of oestrus may be increased with grouping of sows at weaning (Langendijk et al., 2000, Rault et al., 2014), although with high levels of boar stimulation, neither the detection nor duration of oestrus differed between weaned sows in stalls and those in groups (Langendijk et al., 2000). Cortisol concentrations one day after mixing was higher for sows mixed at weaning than those housed in stalls after weaning but mixed within 2 days after insemination (Rault et al., 2014), which could be due either to the stage of reproduction or the accumulation of various stressors when weaning sows into groups.

While the literature is inconsistent, possibly because of differences between studies in intrinsic sow factors, such as genetics, size, familiarity and experience, and design features of the housing systems, such as feeding system, pen design and group size, it nevertheless appears that the challenges associated with aggression, stress, and injuries at mixing may have the greatest implications for sows mixed early after insemination. Further research on the effects of the stage of the reproductive cycle at mixing on sow welfare is required.

3.1.5 Static and Dynamic groups

Static groups are normally formed within a few days of insemination or after pregnancy has been confirmed for the remainder of gestation. In contrast in dynamic groups, unfamiliar sows within a few days of insemination or after pregnancy has been confirmed are frequently introduced to the group so that they experience between 3 and 12 mixings per gestation (Marchant-Forde, 2009). Since sows are introduced to a group and within the group may experience regular introductions of unfamiliar sows, it is not surprising that some authors have proposed that aggression may be greater and persist for longer in dynamic groups of sows (Barnett et al., 2001, Arey and Edwards, 1998). Only a few studies have compared the welfare implications of static and dynamic groups. Anil et al. (2006a) found that although skin injury scores were higher in dynamic groups, there were no differences between the two groups in aggression, cortisol concentrations, farrowing performance, and longevity, while Strawford et al. (2008) found no differences between the two group types in aggression, skin injuries, and cortisol concentrations. In the most recent and most substantial study, involving 1,569 sows over 5 reproductive cycles and 2 years, Li and Gonyou (2013) found increased chronic skin injuries (e.g.,

cuts, swellings, and wounds) and lameness in the dynamic group, although there were no effects on farrowing rate, weight gain, or litter size. Interestingly, sows introduced into either group system between 2 and 9 d after insemination had a lower farrowing rate than those introduced into either group system between 35 days later. These studies differed markedly in a number of design features (e.g., the provision of bedding, flooring, and space allowance), however the findings of Li and Gonyou (2013) raise welfare concerns with dynamic groups. Thus, research on the effects of design features, such as space, both amount of floor space and quality of space in terms of escape opportunities to reduce agonistic behaviour, group size and bedding, is required to safeguard sow welfare in dynamic groups.

3.1.6 Restricted feeding of gestating sows

The feed intake of breeding sows is commonly restricted during gestation for productivity and lameness reasons (Meunier-Salaün et al., 2001). While this feeding level is sufficient for maintenance, and for some growth and foetal development, it leads to hunger (Barnett et al., 2001a). Behavioural demand or operant conditioning (motivation) tests have generally been used to assess sow hunger and are considered an effective way of measuring feeding motivation (Kirkden and Pajor, 2006a, D'Eath et al., 2009a, D'Eath et al., 2017), and such studies have shown that conventional restricted feeding during gestation results in sows being hungry for a considerable period of the day (Hutson, 1991, Lawrence and Terlouw, 1993). In behavioural demand tests, Bergeron et al. (2000) found that sows fed a control diet (5% crude fibre), ad libitum 'worked' to obtain less feed rewards than restrictively-fed sows on either high levels of high fibre diets (3.5 kg/day (18% crude fibre) and 4.5 kg/day (23% crude fibre)) or the control diet (2.5 kg/day). While working for feed in itself may be rewarding because even those sows fed ad libitum worked to obtain some feed reward, restrictive feeding results in gestating sows experiencing hunger.

Increasing the amount of roughage and daily feed allocation generally reduces stereotypies and increases the time spent feeding (Appleby and Lawrence, 1987, Robert et al., 1993, Bergeron et al., 2000, Terlouw and Lawrence, 1993, Spoolder et al., 1995, Whittaker et al., 1998, Ramonet et al., 1999, Holt et al., 2006). While high-fibre diets increase the time sows spent feeding and reduce stereotypies as long as the animal's nutrient requirements are met (Robert et al., 1993, Brouns and Edwards, 1994, Ramonet et al., 1999), increased feeding time accounts for much of the reduction in stereotypy level associated with high-fibre diets (Robert et al., 1997). Bergeron et al. (2006) in an extensive review of the literature proposed that for sows (as with other ungulates), low fibre, high-concentrate diets that require little food-searching behaviour and consummatory behaviours such as chewing, result in unfulfilled motivations to perform these natural foraging activities, leading to increased oral stereotypies (including oral stereotypic licking, bar-biting and sham-chewing or vacuum-chewing).

In a review of the literature, (Meunier-Salaün et al., 2001) concluded that there is no consistent evidence of increased stress, based on plasma and urinary cortisol concentrations, in sows individually housed and restrictively fed, and this is supported by more recent studies (De Leeuw and Ekkel, 2004, Toscano et al., 2007). However, since glucocorticoids can be affected by metabolic rate, glucocorticoids may not be an appropriate physiological measure of stress associated with hunger (De Jong et al., 2002).

Therefore, regardless of the feeding system, gestating sows on a restricted diet experience hunger, however, while this feeding practice has and will continue to raise welfare concerns, the implications of hunger on the welfare of feed-restricted sows is unclear. The addition of roughage to the diet of feed -restricted sows increases the time spent feeding and reduces stereotypies compared to feeding a concentrate diet at a restricted level. Interestingly though, while roughage increases feeding and reduces stereotypies, these effects are less pronounced than those arising from a concentrate diet fed ad libitum (Bergeron et al., 2000).

3.1.7 Barren environments

It remains difficult to clearly define what constitutes a 'barren' environment, however it is believed to be an environment that does not allow animals to perform 'highly motivated behaviours' that if deprived cause biological disruption (and potentially a welfare concern) (Mason, 2006). Most indoor farm animal production systems are considered by some to provide barren environments for animals (Barnett et al., 2001). Stereotypies may develop in long-term conflict or thwarting situations, and there is evidence that stereotypies can develop in response to barren or restricted environments (Mason, 1991, Würbel et al., 1998). Stereotypies may originate from redirected behaviours (and other abnormal behaviours including displacement, redirected and vacuum behaviours) if the conflict or thwarting persists (Hemsworth, 2018b). Once developed, stereotypies can become part of the animal's behavioural repertoire and therefore may persist in the absence of the original eliciting, stimuli/conditions (Mason, 1991). The implications of stereotypies on animal welfare is highly controversial, and Broom (1983) argued that the welfare of the animal is at risk if stereotypies occur for 10% of an animal's waking life, and Wiepkema (1983) suggested that animal welfare is at risk if stereotypies occur in more than 5% of all animals (Wiepkema, 1983).

Pigs have evolved to root and investigate their environment with their snout and specialised rostral disc to obtain a balanced, nutritional and satiating diet (down to specific amino acids). This behaviour can account for 10–20% of their active time (Stolba and Wood-Gush, 1989). Modern systems of intensive pig production thwart the expression of key behaviours such as exploration and foraging. Enrichment suitable for pigs is therefore likely to be one that they can root, chew and preferably ingest with some nutritional benefits. Effective enrichment should decrease the incidence of abnormal behaviour and increase the performance of behaviours such as exploration, foraging, play, and social interaction, which are within the range of the animal's, normal, species-specific behaviour (Chamove, 1989, Mench, 1994, Markowitz et al., 1995, Van de Weerd and Baumans, 1995).

Stereotypies have been reported in sows in a range of indoor housing systems including tethered, stall-housed and group-housed sows (Barnett et al., 2001, Schouten and Rushen, 1992, Vieuille-Thomas et al., 1995). Lack of stimulation in the pig's environment may lead to boredom and stereotypies, but the welfare implications of intensive, indoor and non-bedded systems common in current Australian pig production systems are poorly understood. The EU Council Directive 2001/93/EC states 'pigs must have permanent access to a sufficient quantity of material to enable proper investigation and manipulation activities, such as straw, hay, wood, sawdust, mushroom compost or a mixture of such that does not compromise the health of animals.' However, the extent to which this provides effective enrichment has been questioned by many (Marchant-Forde, 2009, van de Weerd and Day, 2009).

A well-accepted definition of environmental enrichment in the scientific literature is an increase in the biological relevance of captive environments by appropriate modifications (Newberry, 1995). In other words, enrichment is an environmental change that improves or enhances animal welfare (Mills and Marchant-Forde, 2010). However, the term enrichment is often used loosely to denote any environmental change without an understanding of its impact on the animal. Some environmental enrichment strategies have been shown to assist animals in adapting to barren environments. For example, provision of objects or conditions which stimulate exploration, foraging, manipulation, social behaviour and problem solving, particularly when combined with diversity of opportunities, may mitigate deleterious stress effects on neurobiological systems and endocrine profiles and promote stress adaptability in rodents (Lehmann and Herkenham, 2011, Abou-Ismail et al., 2010, Abou-Ismail and Mendl, 2016, Greenwood and Fleshner, 2008). While the utilisation of the enrichments has been investigated, the effects of enrichment on stress adaptability and indicators denoting poor welfare have not been extensively studied in pigs (van de Weerd and Day, 2009), particularly gestating sows. The provision of straw that elicits foraging behaviour in terms of searching and chewing, has been shown to reduce oral stereotypies, such as bar biting and sham chewing, in gestating sows housed in stalls and groups (Sambraus and Schunke, 1982, Spoolder et al., 1995, Bergeron et al., 2006). While the utilisation of the enrichments has been studied, the effects of enrichment on stress adaptability and indicators denoting poor welfare have not been extensively studied in pigs (Van de Weerd and Day 2009). De Jong and colleagues (De Jong et al., 1998, 2000; de Groot et al. 2000) compared the effects of two rearing environments on pig behaviour and stress physiology; an 'Enriched' environment, in which pigs were reared in large farrowing pens followed by large growing and fattening pens with provision of straw, and a 'Barren' environment, in which pigs were reared in smaller farrowing pens in which sows were crated, followed by smaller growing and fattening pens with partially slatted solid floors. While pigs reared in the Enriched treatment had higher baseline salivary cortisol concentrations at 14-22 weeks of age, but not at 9 weeks of age, the pigs reared in the Barren treatment environment had a blunted circadian rhythm in salivary cortisol at 14-22 weeks of age. De long et al. (2000) proposed that since blunted circadian cortisol rhythms are often recorded during states of chronic stress in pigs and rats or during depression in humans, the blunted circadian rhythm in cortisol in the Barren treatment pigs may reflect decreased welfare. Pigs reared in the Barren treatment also displayed more manipulative behaviours directed towards pen-mates, such as massaging and nibbling (De Jong et al. 1998).

A further advantage of the use of straw as environmental enrichment is that it may reduce gastric ulceration (Scott et al 2006; Herskin et al, 2016). Both hunger and gastric ulcers are thought to be possible causes of sham chewing in sows (D'Eath et al. 2009). A high fibre diet and access to straw (Steward et al, 2011), and provision of silage in addition to straw bedding has been shown to reduce sham chewing. Other than straw or objects, pens can be enriched with barriers or hiding areas to reduce the frequency and type of aggressive interactions (Van de Weerd and Day, 2009). This can be used for example to mix sows in a dedicated mixing pen where barriers are provided.

With the extensive use of fully- or partially-slatted, non-bedded and non-enriched environments for gestating sows, further research is clearly required to examine the extent to which this provides functional enrichment. This research should identify objects or situations that have functional relevance to the animal and act with a foreseeable rewarding outcome and improves or enhances animal welfare (Newberry, 1995). This is a topic that has been neglected for the breeding sow.

3.1.8 Conclusions, recommendations and further research on gestating sows

There are some obvious gaps in our knowledge on safeguarding the welfare of gestating sows and these obviously are topics for future research. The most obvious weakness in knowledge is strategies for effective environmental enrichment in intensive, indoor and non-bedded systems. Together with the practice of restricted feeding of gestating sows, strategies for example to increase foraging and feeding times in feed-restricted gestating sows will reduce hunger and the likely development of oral stereotypies such as oral stereotypic licking, bar-biting and sham chewing or vacuum chewing.

Research on space allowance, particularly recent research indicates that a space allowance for gilts and sows of 1.4 m²/animal is likely to be too small and that significant improvements in welfare, in terms of aggression and stress, are likely to be achieved with space allowances for gilts and sows in the range of 2.0–2.4 m²/animal. The research also indicates that the effects of space on aggression and stress are most pronounced soon after mixing, highlighting the importance of floor space at mixing. Indeed, a strategy of staged gestation penning, with more space immediately after mixing and less space later in gestation may provide distinct animal welfare and economic advantages, but this requires investigation. Mixing pens with increased floor space, barriers and feed supplied *ad libitum* have been advocated by many authors.

While floor feeding is generally viewed as the most competitive feeding system, accessing feeding stalls or an electronic sow feeder (ESF) system also leads to competition between group-housed sows. However, irrespective of the housing and feeding, a better appreciation of the positioning of resources and barriers in pens to facilitate access to important resources, such as feed, water and a comfortable lying area, and allow escape opportunities from others, is important in reducing aggression and stress and thus minimise risks to sow welfare.

This review of gestating sow housing highlights the importance of the design of the system on sow welfare. It highlights the need for research on animal welfare in new and modified housing systems, as well as current but contentious systems, to be attentive to the design contributions of these systems to animal welfare. This review also highlights areas for future research to safeguard gestating sow welfare: effective environmental enrichment for gestating sows in intensive, indoor and non-bedded systems; opportunities to increase foraging (which clearly also provides environment enrichment) and feeding times in feed-restricted gestating sows.

3.2 Farrowing/lactating sow and piglets, including painful husbandry practices

The Australian Model Code of Practice for the Welfare of Animals – Pigs states that farrowing crates must have minimum dimensions of $0.5 \,\mathrm{m} \times 2 \,\mathrm{m}$, and overall dimensions of farrowing crate and the creep area must be at least $3.2 \,\mathrm{m}^2$. Recent comprehensive reviews on the effects of farrowing and lactation housing on the welfare of sows and piglets, include Baxter et al. (2011) and Baxter et al. (2017).

Individual housing in farrowing crates for parturient and lactating sows has been a controversial issue for many decades (Singh et al., 2017). As in the EU, USA, NZ and Canada, the majority of sows in Australia are housed in farrowing crates during parturition and lactation (Baxter et al., 2012). However, the use of loose farrowing systems (both single-litter and multi-litter) is increasing (Baxter and Edwards, 2017, Baxter et al., 2017). Farrowing crates save space and labour, and facilitate ease of

inspection and intervention, however, they were also designed to reduce piglet mortality (Barnett et al., 2001, Johnson and Marchant-Forde, 2009). Because the sow's position is fixed, the footprint of the farrowing crate is minimal; typically, 1.23 m² crate within 3.6 m² pen (Baxter et al., 2012). The primary criticism of the farrowing crate is the behavioural restriction of the sow and the subsequent impact on sow welfare. Farrowing crates limit the movement of sows and the opportunity for sows to perform natural behaviour, such as nest building, and to be able to freely interact with their piglets (Barnett et al., 2001, Singh and Hemsworth, 2013, Pedersen et al., 2015) and a restricted choice of stimuli to interact with such as other pigs and additional features of the physical environment (Barnett et al., 2001). Additionally, the physical aspects of restriction associated with farrowing crates have become more relevant as sow size has increased considerably over the last 30 years; genetic improvement and breeding for hyperprolificacy has resulted in a 55% increase in sow weight (Moustsen et al., 2011). The significant increase in sow weight has implications for sows fitting in farrowing crates that have not been adapted to account for sow size increase and consequently may be non-compliant with welfare regulations, for example, in the EU and UK regulations require sows to be able to stand up and lie down without difficulty.

Farrowing crates were developed largely to reduce high piglet mortality, primarily through reducing accidental crushing by the sow, and the data on whether farrowing crates have contributed, at least in part, to a general reduction in piglet mortality are equivocal (see Barnett et al., 2001). Criticisms of the farrowing crate have generally focused on sow rather than piglet welfare, which is perhaps surprising considering the far greater incidence of piglet deaths from various causes (a critical measure of welfare) compared with sow deaths in farrowing crates. As Baxter (1984) notes, the visible nature of the farrowing crate, with its explicit function of confining the sow and restricting her movements may be responsible for this greater criticism.

Alternative loose farrowing environments such as the PigSafe pens (Piglet and Sow Alternative Farrowing Environment) (Edwards et al., 2012) provide sows with bedding and thus increased opportunity to perform nest building and to freely move about and interact with their piglets during farrowing and lactation (Verdon and Rault, 2018). However, these loose-farrowing and lactation systems require extra floor space and can lead to an increased risk of piglet crushing (Morrison et al., 2011), which has limited their uptake by pork producers.

3.2.1 Implications of confinement on sow welfare

While there is little evidence that domestication has resulted in the loss of behaviours from the species' repertoire or that the basic structure of the motor patterns for such behaviours has been changed, behavioural differences between wild and domestic stocks in nearly all cases are quantitative in character and best explained by differences in response thresholds of behaviour, such as to sexual stimuli, novel stimuli, humans and environmental conditions (Price, 2002). Certainly, in relation to maternal behaviour, domestic sows have retained a strong motivation to build a nest before parturition (Gustafsson et al., 1999) and studies in semi-natural conditions indicate that sows have retained the need to express maternal behaviour (Stolba and Wood-Gush, 1989, Špinka et al., 2000, Damm et al., 2002). From about 24 hours before parturition, nest building starts and becomes more intense between about 12 and 6 hours prepartum (Algers and Uvnäs-Moberg, 2007, Wischner et al., 2009a). Thus, the obvious welfare risk for the sow is confinement per se. While entry to either farrowing

crates or farrowing pens results in an acute stress response in gilts based on cortisol concentrations (Cronin et al., 1991), gilts housed in farrowing crates had increased stress during the 24 h pre-partum period and parturition (Lawrence et al., 1994, Jarvis et al., 1998), but not the day following parturition (Cronin et al., 1991, Lawrence et al., 1994, Jarvis et al., 1998). In contrast, (Oliviero et al., 2008) found that multiparous sows in crates had similar cortisol concentrations prior to and during parturition.

Some authors, for example, Lawrence et al. (1994) proposed that this increased stress around parturition in farrowing crates is a consequence of the inability of sows to fully perform natural behaviours such as nest-building. However, it is difficult to determine the welfare consequences of an acute stress response around parturition, since parturition *per se* is associated with an increase in cortisol concentrations. While both Cronin et al. (1991) found no effects of housing gilts in farrowing crates during the first 3 weeks postpartum, they found higher concentrations at 4 weeks postpartum in farrowing crates than farrowing pens. This finding was supported by Jarvis et al. (1998). At least in gilts, any effects of farrowing crates on stress may be limited to the period around parturition and the later stages of lactation (that is, the 4th week post-partum). While concern for sow welfare has been linked with farrowing crate confinement because of a restriction in nest-building opportunity (Lawrence et al., 1994, Jarvis et al., 2002), there remains a lack of comparative data on multiparous sows.

It is clear that housing pre-parturient sows in farrowing crates without bedding/nesting material reduces their level of maternal behaviour, in particular pre-farrowing nest-building behaviour, compared with sows in more enriched environments (see Barnett et al., 2001). A major function of maternal behaviour in naturalistic environments is to minimise piglet mortality by providing a comfortable, thermally insulated environment for the sow and her litter that may also provide a degree of protect from predators. Thus, it could be argued that nest-building behaviour may be irrelevant to piglet survival in farrowing crates as the beneficial elements of a nest are also provided by an indoor crate, i.e. shelter, warmth and protection. Although the expression of maternal behaviour can vary between sows (Spinka et al., 2000, Andersen et al., 2005), it has been shown that sows with lower piglet mortality rates expressed more nest building behaviour (Andersen et al., 2005, Wischner et al., 2009b), were calmer during farrowing (Andersen et al., 2005) and were more careful during lying down movements (Burri et al., 2009). There is limited evidence that primiparous sows in loose farrowing and lactation housing systems have improved maternal behaviour, based on increased interactions with their piglets and increased responsiveness to piglet vocalizations (Cronin and Smith, 1992, Cronin et al., 1996, Thodberg et al., 2002b). An increase in maternal behaviour observed in loose farrowing and lactation housing systems may have welfare benefits for piglets because nestbuilding activity, response to piglet distress calls, nose contact with piglets during posture changes and restlessness when piglets are removed are reported to negatively correlate with risk of piglet crushing (Andersen et al., 2005).

Furthermore, several authors have proposed that a function of nest-building behaviour is to influence the course of parturition and thereby the survival of piglets (Cronin et al., 1993, Cronin et al., 1996). In a review of the literature, Yun and Valros (2015b) proposed that nest-building behaviour appears to be positively related to the parturition process and post-partum sow behaviour and piglet survival. Longer farrowing durations in sows in crates have been reported to be associated with higher stillborn rates in some but not all studies (see review by Baxter et al. (2017)). Higher incidences of savaging of piglets are reported when sows are confined in crates (Lawrence et al., 1994) and there is limited evidence suggesting that increased nest-building is associated with a faster farrowing process with

fewer complications (Morrison et al., 2011). Higher oxytocin levels have been reported in sows provided with greater nest-building opportunities (Yun et al., 2013) with this research demonstrating greater suckling success for piglets as evidenced by greater IgG levels in piglets from loose-housed mothers (Yun et al., 2015a). Depriving or limiting sows of the opportunity to freely interact with their piglets appears to reduce their maternal responsiveness to piglets. In comparison to multiparous sows and their litters remaining in farrowing crates, transferring sows from farrowing crates to pens at 2 days post-partum resulted in increased sow–piglet interactions and increased maternal responsiveness based on the behavioural response of sows to audio recording of unfamiliar piglet screams (Singh et al., 2017). Similarly, Cronin et al. (1996) found that crated sows vocalise less towards their piglets when presented with an audio recording of a screaming piglet while (Thodberg et al., 2002b) found that sows in crates took longer to react as they moved to a lying position when an audio recording of a screaming piglet was played.

Therefore, confining primiparous sows at farrowing and/or denying them access to bedding/nesting material may induce an acute stress response, but the available evidence suggests that housing in a farrowing crate without bedding for at least for 3 weeks of lactation is not a potent stressor for sows. Research on the longer-term effects of housing in crates on stress physiology of multiparous sows is inadequate. However, depriving sows of opportunities to perform behaviours that appear to be highly motivated such as nest building and opportunity to freely interact with their piglets, presumably deprives sows of increased opportunity for positive emotional experiences. Thus, the housing of sows and piglets in farrowing crates is likely to remain contentious for some of the public.

More comprehensive research on sow welfare post-partum is required. One of the main difficulties in reviewing research on loose farrowing and lactation housing is the considerable variation in housing design features, including space and bedding, which may markedly affect sow welfare. In addition, this variation in housing also has the potential to impact significantly on the welfare of piglets. Furthermore, if farrowing crates are to remain a feature of intensive housing systems, then increasing minimum dimensions of the crate and the provision of nest building materials (straw) around parturition need to be seriously considered in order to improve sow welfare.

3.2.2 Implications of confinement of the sow on piglet welfare

While there is often discussion about the welfare implications of mortality per se, many causes of piglet mortality are a welfare concern because asphyxiation, starvation and physical trauma are likely to lead to negative affective states such as pain, fear and suffering (Edwards, 2002). Since sentience and consciousness are prerequisites of suffering (Mellor and Diesch, 2006), there is debate about piglet welfare when considering mortality associated with the birth process and the newborn piglet (Baxter and Edwards, 2017). Based on research by David Mellor and others, (Mellor and Diesch, 2006) it has been concluded that the embryo and fetus cannot suffer before or during birth because suffering can only occur in the newborn when the onset of breathing oxygenates its tissues sufficiently to substantially reduce the dominant adenosine inhibition of brain electrical activity. Therefore, as reviewed by Baxter et al. (2017), the least welfare concerns relate to those piglets that never develop full breathing (i.e., never gain full consciousness because they die during labour or immediately after), intermediate concerns relate to piglets that develop full breathing but descend quickly into hypothermia (and thus unconsciousness) and high concern relates to piglets that develop full breathing,

are not hypothermic, but suffer deaths from hunger, injury or disease. It is this third group of piglets that have the potential to suffer for a considerable period. While stillborn piglets that are intrapartum deaths occurring just before expulsion is initiated, during expulsion or just after being born are of intermediate concern, it is particularly the third group of piglets that have the potential to suffer and to suffer for a considerable period.

While the design of alternate farrowing and lactation housing (loose housing) has largely focused on improving sow welfare by reducing confinement, there is increasing concern for how the different loose housing systems affect piglet welfare, as well as piglet performance (Ahmadi et al., 2011, Baxter et al., 2012). Pre-weaning piglet mortality has dropped from over 25% 30 years ago to less than 10% today (Garcia and McGlone, 2018). However, even at 10% pre-weaning mortality, over 100 million piglets die before weaning each year. Larger litters have been shown to have a greater number of smaller, at-risk piglets and crushing is a major cause of pre-weaning mortality (Nuntapaitoon and Tummaruk, 2015, Westin et al., 2015, KilBride et al., 2012). Solutions to reduce pre-weaning mortality have focused on the farrowing environment, sow genetics and management practices such as cross-fostering piglets among sows (Garcia and McGlone, 2018).

While there are concerns about the variability in pre-weaning piglet mortality in loose farrowing and lactation housing systems (Baxter et al., 2012, Moustsen et al., 2013), a contentious point with these housing systems is that live born piglet mortality is generally higher than in farrowing crates (Cronin et al., 2014). However, recent reviews of the literature have concluded that comparable levels of total piglet survival, one of the main economic parameters for evaluating alternatives to farrowing crates, have been achieved in some non-crate farrowing systems (Baxter et al., 2012, Morrison et al., 2011). A collation of a large database of literature by Baxter et al. (2012) indicates that pen systems designed to meet the animals' biological needs, such as separate dunging and lying areas and rails or sloped walls to assist sow posture changes and protect piglets, had a similar total piglet mortality (16.6%) to conventional farrowing crates (18.3%) and modified farrowing crates, such as turnaround/ellipsoid (16.3%) and hinged/swingside crates (17.4%). In a large comparative study in Switzerland (655 farms comprising 63,661 litters), (Weber et al., 2007) found no difference in total piglet mortality (stillbirths and live born deaths) between loose farrowing pens and farrowing crates (17.2% and 18.1% total mortality, respectively), but crushing was higher in loose pens and mortality due to other causes was higher in farrowing crates. Similarly, in a cohort study of 112 breeding farms in England (2143 litters, with 6.5% of piglets stillborn and 12% live born pre-weaning mortality), KilBride et al. (2012) found no difference in pre-weaning mortality or numbers reared between non-crated and crated systems. As in the study by Weber et al. (2007), more piglets were crushed when reared in non-crated systems and more piglets died of other causes in crated systems. It is difficult to make comparisons of systems in industry because of variation within systems in design features and variation both within and between systems in management, however these findings indicate that total piglet mortality in loose housing systems can be similar to that in conventional crated systems.

Since the majority of pre-weaning piglet mortalities occur within the first 2–3 days postpartum and are mainly caused by crushing (Johnson and Marchant-Forde, 2009, Cronin et al., 2014), there is interest in brief confinement of sows during parturition and early lactation. Recent research has shown that confinement only in early lactation is effective in maintaining the survival of live-born piglets (Moustsen et al., 2013, Pedersen et al., 2015, Hales et al., 2015, Singh et al., 2017, Condous et al., 2016); in comparison to confinement during parturition and the entire lactation, similar piglet survival

was achieved when sows were confined either for parturition and the first 3–7 days postpartum or only during the first 3–7 days postpartum.

Transitioning to less restrictive systems means that loose farrowing and lactation housing systems may be used alongside farrowing crates within the same herd, which may result in sows being housed interchangeably between farrowing and lactation systems. There is evidence that interchanging sows between different farrowing and lactation systems affects maternal behaviour, however the subsequent effect on piglet mortality remains poorly understood (King et al., 2018). Whilst sow productivity is considered an individually stable trait, sow maternal behaviour is believed to develop over consecutive parities, with the previous farrowing environment influencing subsequent maternal behaviour (Jarvis et al., 2001, Thodberg et al., 2002b, a). A recent study by King et al. (2018) reported that inter-parity farrowing consistency is important for sow performance; returning sows to the same farrowing and lactation system reduced piglet mortality during second parity, whilst farrowing in a loose farrowing and lactation system during first parity significantly increased second parity litter size without increasing piglet mortality. Sows' experience with farrowing and lactation housing system and the subsequent effect on piglet welfare requires further investigation.

As discussed earlier, sows in loose farrowing and lactation systems show increased interactions with their piglets and responsiveness to piglet vocalisations (Cronin and Smith, 1992, Cronin et al., 1996, Thodberg et al., 2002b), which may have welfare benefits for their piglets. Maternal behaviour, such as nest-building activity, behavioural response to piglet distress calls, nose contact with piglets during posture changes and restlessness when piglets are removed, has been shown to be negatively correlated with the risk of piglet crushing (Andersen et al. 2005). Piglets reared in loose farrowing and lactation housing systems show more play behaviour and less injurious behaviour, such as nibbling, sucking or chewing another piglet (Oostindjer et al., 2011, Singh et al., 2017) and piglets reared in multi-litter group lactation systems are less aggressive post-weaning (Li and Wang, 2011, Verdon et al., 2016). Thus, rearing in farrowing crates, either directly or more likely indirectly through the maternal behaviour of the sow, may adversely affect the social development of piglets.

Multi-litter group lactation systems, which utilise a "two-stage farrowing system", may provide the benefits of a loose farrowing housing (single-litter) whilst also protecting piglets when they are at the greatest risk of crushing (Marchant-Forde et al., 2000). In a two-stage farrowing system sows and their litters are transferred to group lactation pens after an initial period of single-litter housing, Verdon et al. (2016) found that in comparison to single-litter lactation piglets, group lactation piglets had reduced aggression and skin injuries post-weaning, however they also had a lower growth rate during lactation. Li and Wang (2011) found that piglets raised in multi-litter group lactation systems were less aggressive than those raised in single-litter systems after being mixed post-weaning into small groups containing familiar and unfamiliar piglets. Grimberg-Henrici et al. (2016) reported that group-housed lactating sows had stronger maternal reactions in their home pen to distress calls from their separated litter and fewer crushed piglets. Recently, (van Nieuwamerongen et al., 2015) found that when compared to single-litter farrowing crate piglets, multi-litter (group-housed) piglets showed greater feed-directed behaviour during early lactation, had a higher feed intake in the early post-weaning period, had a more solid fecal consistency after weaning, showed a higher post-weaning weight gain, and displayed more play behaviour and less damaging oral manipulation of other pigs (including tail biting and ear biting). Thus, while two-stage farrowing systems provide sows with greater opportunity for movement, interactions with their piglets and social interactions with other sows, there is also limited evidence suggesting that these systems may benefit piglet survival and behavioural development. Long-term effects of group lactation housing on both sows and piglets needs further investigation.

The benefits of improved piglet welfare during lactation may well persist beyond weaning (Chaloupková et al., 2007, Oostindjer et al., 2011, Martin et al., 2015). However, Verdon et al. (2016) found that piglets reared in enriched single litter, loose sow pens were just as aggressive in the 2 h post-mixing at weaning as those reared in farrowing crates. The long-term effects of sow lactation housing on piglet social behaviour may benefit from more research.

Whilst the literature is lacking in pigs, there is increasing evidence of the importance of early experiences, such as maternal behaviour, on an animal's stress resilience later in life. The review by McEwen (2007) outlines the profound long-term effects early maternal care in rodents and non-human primates has on the offspring. In summary, strong maternal behaviour, which may include interactions such as licking and grooming of the offspring, produces a "neophilic" animal that is more exploratory of novel environments, less emotionally reactive and produces a lower and more contained glucocorticoid stress response in novel situations; poor maternal care leads to a "neophobic" phenotype with increased emotional and HPA reactivity and less exploration of a novel situation. Maternal behaviour has been found to affect offspring cortisol and serotonin levels in non-human primates (Maestripieri et al., 2007, Onyango et al., 2008) and experiences in early life can have lasting implications for later temperament measures in rodents, such as stress reactivity and fear (Meaney et al., 1988, Davis et al., 2004), and cognitive skills, such as spatial memory (Liu et al., 2000). The effect of early experience on stress resilience, emotionality and welfare in pigs later in life warrants further examination.

3.2.3. Barren environments

Environmental enrichment and alternative housing systems can provide benefits for both sows and piglets (see review by Vanheukelom et al. (2012)). As discussed in sections 3.2.1. and 3.2.2, providing opportunities to engage in explorative behaviour, nest-building and social interactions and improving maternal responses provides enrichment for both sows and their piglets. Social enrichment, increased space allowance and/or straw provide positive welfare outcomes, however they are not always practical to implement and raise other potential risks and concerns. Little is known about the effectiveness of enrichment using point-source enrichment-objects in the farrowing housing.

Pre-weaning feeding of piglets can be stimulated using a specially designed feeder for unweaned piglets (Kuller et al., 2010) or by intermittent suckling by removing the sow for several hours per day (Berkeveld et al., 2009). Alternative farrowing systems that provide enriched environments for both the sow and the piglets are multi suckling and get-away systems, with the former reducing stress and aggression around weaning due to the improvement in social skills of the piglets but little effects on feed intake (Bohnenkamp et al., 2013). The PigSAFE system, which provides additional space and straw bedding, increases play behaviour, social behaviour and sow-piglet interactions in piglets and reduces chronic aggression post-weaning (Martin et al, 2015). Increasing interaction of piglets with the sow, especially around a communal feed, and access to enrichment such as straw, both stimulate post weaning feed intake (Oostindjer et al., 2014).

Recently, (van Dixhoorn et al., 2016) compared disease development between piglets reared in environmentally and socially enriched pens (10m² pen, partly slatted (40%) and partly solid (60%) floor) and piglets reared in barren, stimulus-poor housing conditions (5 m² pen, 100% slatted floor with a 100x45cm solid rubber floor mat); enriched pens were provided with rooting substrate (1 kg straw, 160 L of moist peat and 180 L of wood shavings), jute bags, branches of a broom, and chains with blocks, while the barren pens were only provided with the chains with blocks. Enriched rearing led to a less severe onset and outcome of Porcine Reproductive and Respiratory Virus (PRRSV) and Actinobacillus pleuropneumoniae (A. pleuropneumoniae) co-infection, with enriched pigs showing reduced impact of infection and were less prone to develop clinical signs of disease. Furthermore, when compared to the barren housed piglets, piglets provided with enrichment performed less stress-related behaviour and had lower skin lesion scores (van Dixhoorn et al., 2016).

Research on the effects of environmental enrichment during the farrowing and lactation period with regard to both the sow and her piglets is still required.

Conclusions, recommendations and further research on farrowing/lactating sows and their piglets

As with housing sows during gestation, some of the inconsistencies in the literature on the effects of farrowing and lactation systems may be due to differences among studies in intrinsic sow factors as well as differences in the specific design of the systems. Nevertheless, it is clear that housing preparturient sows in farrowing crates without bedding/nesting material reduces their level of maternal behaviour, in particular pre-farrowing nest-building behaviour, in comparison to sows in more enriched environments. While confining sows, at least primiparous sows, at farrowing and/or denying them access to bedding/nesting material may induce acute stress, the limited evidence suggests that housing sows in farrowing crates without bedding is not a potent stressor for at least 3 weeks of lactation. However, housing beyond 3 weeks of lactation in farrowing crates may be stressful for sows.

Alternative loose farrowing and lactation environments can provide sows with bedding and thus increased opportunity to perform nest building and to freely move about and interact with their piglets during lactation. However, these loose farrowing and lactation systems require extra floor space and can lead to an increased risk of piglet crushing.

Many causes of piglet mortality are a welfare concern because asphyxiation, starvation and physical trauma are likely to lead to negative affective states such as pain, fear and suffering. While there is evidence that total overall piglet losses (stillbirths and live born deaths) may be similar with loose farrowing pens and farrowing crates, crushing of live born piglets is often higher in loose pens. Piglets that develop full breathing but descend quickly into hypothermia and thus unconsciousness and, to a lesser extent, piglets that never develop full breathing are less of a welfare concern. However, piglets that develop full breathing, are not hypothermic, but suffer deaths from hunger, injury or disease are a greater welfare concern. Thus, any farrowing and lactation housing system needs to safeguard liveborn piglet mortality during the first few days post-partum when liveborn piglet mortality is at most risk.

While there will be continuing development of the farrowing and lactation housing systems during parturition and early in lactation, as well as the remainder of lactation to safeguard sow and piglet

welfare, any farrowing and lactation housing system will need to be economical for large-scale commercial production. There is general agreement in the literature that the maternal characteristics of sows and the quality of stockpersonship will be integral to the success of loose farrowing and lactation systems. Thus, from a welfare perspective, farrowing crates and loose housing systems have both advantages and disadvantages. Further research examining the implications of confinement in a crate without bedding/nesting material on stress physiology of multiparous sows is required. Furthermore, opportunities to facilitate sow maternal behaviour, particularly sow-piglet interactions in crates requires investigation, since providing opportunities for increased sow-piglet interactions may be beneficial for piglet welfare.

Clearly the likely on-going development of loose farrowing and lactation systems, both single and group litters, needs to be cognisant of minimising piglet mortality. So-called hybrid systems or temporary crate systems such as SWAP Pens in which when used correctly the intention is that sows are loose for nesting but then confined at parturition and during the first few days post-partum when liveborn piglet mortality is at most risk, provides at least in the medium term an alternative system that addresses many of the most serious sow and piglet welfare concerns with farrowing crates and loose housing systems.

3.2.4 Painful husbandry procedures: Piglets

Newborn piglets reared in commercial production experience a number of painful husbandry practices early in life, including castration, tail docking, tooth clipping, vaccinations and ear tagging or notching (Telkänranta and Edwards, 2018). These early procedures are some of the most significant interactions that pigs have with humans, however they are generally of a negative nature. Following these husbandry procedures, piglets demonstrate signs of distress as seen by extreme behavioural reactions and elevated levels of cortisol in the blood (Sutherland, 2015a). However, the extent to which these early-life stressors have long-term consequences is not well known. For example, piglets that have undergone tail docking show increased fearfulness to human in a voluntary human approach test carried out two weeks after the procedure (Tallet et al., 2016). In addition, there is increasing pressure from animal welfare groups to provide pain relief for these elective husbandry procedures in piglets. The Australian RSPCA's position is "that any procedure that may cause pain to the animals should be undertaken at the earliest possible age and only by competent and accredited operators. Appropriate pain-relieving products and treatments, and/or anaesthetics, must be used" (RSPCA, 2016).

Pain is difficult to study because it is an inherently subjective experience and only indirect indices of pain are available for use in animals. Like welfare, pain can be assessed in animals using a range of physiological and behavioural measures. The physiological response is measured by assessing total cortisol concentrations post-stressor to determine activation of the HPA axis (see review by Barnett and Hemsworth (2009)). Glucocorticoids are generally accepted as a measure of stress (Barnett, 2003), however, non-painful components of a surgical husbandry procedure such as restraint, isolation, and the presence of humans may also increase cortisol concentrations. Furthermore, glucocorticoids also have anti-inflammatory and immunosuppressive properties in response to tissue injury (Yeager et al., 2004). The behavioural response is assessed by behavioural indicators of pain such as vocalisation, escape attempts and standing with head lowered (Hemsworth et al., 2009, Hay et al., 2003). The neurophysiological responses (activity of the cerebral cortex) of the animal, recorded by

electroencephalographic (EEG) responses recorded using a minimal anaesthesia model have been successfully used to assess nociception in a range of domesticated mammals (Johnson, 2007)(Johnson et al., 2005a; Johnson et al., 2005b) and are now used in combination with behavioural and physiological responses of the animals to measure pain.

The pain and welfare risks associated with performing elective husbandry procedures on piglets remain controversial and warrant further research into alternative strategies.

NB. Anesthetics are a diverse group of drugs that are used in the management of pain. The administration of anesthetics is necessary to provide inhibition of individual pain pathways (local anesthesia) or to render a patient unconscious to enable surgical procedures to be carried out (general anesthesia) (Rang et al., 2003). Analgesics (also known as pain-killers, OTC or NSAIDs) are medications designed to relieve the symptoms of pain.

3.2.4.1 Castration 3.2.4.1.2 Standards

	Castration Standards		
Australia	Surgical castration of male pigs older than 21 days must be performed under anaesthesia and by a veterinary practitioner		
Canada	Castration performed at any age must be done with analgesics to help control post- procedure pain, castration performed after 10 days must be done with anaesthetic and analgesic to help control pain		
UK	Male pigs may be castrated provided the means employed do not involve tearing of tissues		
	If castration is carried out after the seventh day of life it shall only be done by a veterinarian surgeon.		
New Zealand	Surgical castration at any age must be carried out by a veterinarian		
EU	If castration of piglets is carried out, pain relief must be administered prior to the procedure taking place within seven days of birth. Anaesthetic required for pigs castrated after seven days of birth		

The Australian Model Code of Practice for the Welfare of Animals – Pigs requires the surgical castration of pigs older than 21 days of age be performed under anaesthesia and by a veterinarian. The New Zealand Animal Welfare (Care and Procedures) Regulations (2018) recommends that surgical castration should not be performed, however if it is (on pigs at any age) it must be performed by a veterinarian, and it recommends that pain relief should be provided (as with any elective husbandry procedure). The Canadian Code of Practice for the Care and Handling of Pigs states that as of July 2016, castration performed at any age must be performed with analgesics to help control post-operative pain. According to the EU Council Directive 2000/120/EC, surgical castration performed after 2012 should be done so with anaesthesia and/or prolonged analgesics and as of January 1st, 2018 surgical castration of pigs should be abandoned. However, the uptake of this directive has been inconsistent amongst different countries within the EU. The UK Codes of Recommendations for the Welfare of Livestock: Pigs requires castration to not involve tearing of tissues, and if performed in

piglets older than 7 days of age it must be by a veterinarian. However, in the UK castration is generally not performed and pigs are slaughtered at a younger age to reduce the incidence of boar taint.

Castration of male pigs is a management practice widely performed as a preventative measure against boar taint (Lundström et al., 2009) and post-pubertal aggression in male pigs (Rydhmer et al., 2010). Castration prevents the production of androstenone and skatole, that are both linked to boar taint in pig meat (Čandek-Potokar et al., 2017). However, castration also stops the production of testicular hormones such as testosterone and estrogens, which negatively affects the feed conversion efficiency and lean tissue growth (Prunier et al., 2006). Most of the European countries, as well as the USA and China routinely perform surgical castration. Most commonly surgical castration is performed by farmers without the use of analgesics or anaesthetics (EFSA, 2004, Prunier et al., 2006). There is growing scientific literature on negative welfare implications of surgical castration due to the acute pain caused during the procedure and prolonged post-operative pain that can last for several days (Rault et al., 2011, von Borell et al., 2009, Prunier et al., 2006).

In both Australia and New Zealand male pigs are slaughtered at lower body weights before they reach sexual maturity in order to avoid the use of castration (Sutherland, 2015b). However, anecdotal evidence suggests that Australian farmers that castrate male pigs do so using surgical castration without anaesthetics or analgesics. Recent work on consumer attitudes, primarily from European countries has reported increasing consumer concern over the use of surgical castration due to the pain and stress associated with the procedure (McGlone et al., 1993, Sutherland et al., 2010, Rault et al., 2011). Whilst the continued use of surgical castration needs to be reconsidered, it is difficult to implement a cessation of the practice because at present none of the alternatives are economically viable at a commercial level.

The most common castration method is the surgical removal of the spermatic cord using a scalpel blade and the procedure takes approximately 1-2 minutes (Marchant-Forde et al., 2009). Surgical castration in young pigs generally results in a short-term moderate acute stress response and castration, based on behavioural indicators, is painful for piglets at any age. Castrated piglets vocalised more frequently during treatment than sham-castrated piglets (Taylor et al., 2001). Castration also reduces sucking and standing and increases lying for 6 hours (McGlone et al., 1993), increases standing or sitting and reduces lying for 2 hours (Taylor et al., 2001) and reduces sucking and massaging the udder for 2.5 hours, increases inactivity while awake for 2.5 hours and increases scratching and tail wagging for 24 hours (Hay et al., 2003). White et al. (1995) found piglets castrated without lidocaine had a higher heart rate and higher frequency of highest energy (HEF) measurements of vocalization than those castrated with pain relief, and that castration without anesthetic is of greater stress for pigs 8 d of age or older. Castration increases plasma ACTH and cortisol concentrations from 5 to 30 minutes and from 15 to 90 minutes, respectively (Prunier et al., 2005), while plasma cortisol concentrations were still elevated at 24 hours (Carroll et al., 2006). In contrast, no effects of castration have been found on nursing, lying, standing or sitting during the first 2 hours after treatment (Carroll et al., 2006) and on urinary corticosteroids and catecholamines concentrations from 1 to 4 days following castration (Hay et al., 2003). Age at castration within the range of I to 20 days appears to have little influence on behaviour (McGlone et al., 1993; Taylor et al., 2001) or cortisol concentrations (Carroll et al., 2006).

Most studies have shown little or no effects of castration on growth. McGlone et al. (1993), Hay et al. (2003) and Carroll et al. (2006) found no effect of castration on weight gain, but Kielly et al. (1999) found that castration at 3 days of age but not 10 days temporarily reduced weight gain in piglets.

3.2.4.1.2 Pain relief post-surgical castration

Whilst a number of anaesthetics and analgesics have been explored as potential pain-relief post-routine husbandry procedures, there are currently no effective and affordable options for use in a commercial setting (McGlone et al., 1993, McGlone and Hellman, 1988, White et al., 1995, Jäggin et al., 2006, Sutherland et al., 2010). Pain relief for castration can be divided into general anaesthetics, local anaesthetics and analgesics (von Borell et al., 2009). Several studies have explored the use of injectable general anaesthetics such as a cocktail of xylazine, ketamine and glyceryl guaiacolate injected intravenously (McGlone and Hellman, 1988), ketamine and azaperone injected intramuscularly (Schmidt et al., 2012), and intravenous injection of thiopentone (Waldmann et al., 1994). However, these studies reported a number of limitations for the use of general anaesthetics as pain-relief post-castration, including insufficient pain relief, time consuming, expensive and delayed piglet recovery. The long recovery period was also associated with increased piglet crushing and reduced feed intake.

To overcome the limitations of general anaesthetics, a number of studies have explored the use of local anaesthetics injected directly into the testicles and subcutaneous tissues around it (White et al., 1995, Horn et al., 1999). However, most anaesthetic substances are governed by strict national regulations that mandate their administration by a certified veterinarian (Gottardo et al., 2016). The use of inhalant gases such as nitrous oxide (Rault and Lay, 2011), CO₂ (Kohler et al., 1998b, Gerritzen et al., 2008) and isoflurane (Walker et al., 2004) have been investigated, however, they provide limited post-operative pain relief. An in-depth review of literature on pain management practices for routine husbandry procedures in piglets suggested that the risks (including body weight dependant efficacy, inconsistent protocols, lack of applicator skills and the likelihood of anaesthetic overdose) associated with the use of CO₂/O₂ for general anaesthetics outweigh the benefits (O'Connor et al., 2014). In another study nitrous oxide was shown to be an effective anaesthetic during handling of piglets, however it provided limited post-operative pain relief following castration (Rault and Lay, 2011).

Non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs (NSAIDs) are becoming licensed for use in food-producing animals and are often the preferred option to address pain associated with elective husbandry procedures such as surgical castration. The relatively long-acting meloxicam is a NSAID that becomes effective approximately 30 to 60 minutes after administration. Meloxicam is registered and recommended for use in Canada and the EU for surgical castration of piglets (European Declaration, 2010). In Australia, meloxicam is registered for use in reducing symptoms associated with locomotor conditions and inflammation in pigs. Meloxicam has been shown to significantly reduce behavioural markers of pain in piglets one day post-castration (Keita et al., 2010, Hansson et al., 2011). Kluivers-Poodt et al. (2013) found meloxicam to be an effective form of pain-relief for castrated piglets even when the practice was performed without anaesthetics. This study also found that piglets given only local anaesthetics showed increased tail wagging in the days following castration, however, this effect was mitigated when meloxicam was given along with local anaesthetics (Kluivers-Poodt et al., 2013). The review by (O'Connor et al., 2014) suggests that NSAID's such as meloxicam, flunixin, meglumine and carprofen, pose minimal safety risk, however, there is limited evidence in the literature on long-term pain mitigation. Furthermore, the authors point out that limited markers have been used to test

different pain-relief options following castration. For example: McGlone et al. (1987) used behavioural measures (nursing, standing, lying, coordination), Hansson et al. (2001) used behavioural measures (running, playing, sitting etc.), serum amyloid and skin temperature and Langhoff et al. (2009) measured cortisol at different timepoints until 24 hours post castration. This highlights the need for future research focusing not only on the long-term consequences of providing pain-relief but also evaluating its efficacy using a more comprehensive panel of stress markers (i.e. physiological, neurophysiological and behavioural). As such Coetzee (2013) reported that meloxicam acts on cytokines and hence is effective mainly in reduced inflammation related pain and would not work on procedural pain, which acts via nerves in the tissue.

3.2.4.1.3 Immunocastration

The most commonly available and effective alternative to surgical castration is an active immunisation against gonadotropin releasing hormone (GnRH); also referred to as immunocastration (Caraty and Bonneau, 1986, Dunshea et al., 1993). The main advantages of immunocastration include no pain or wound associated with castration, better production performance in terms of a more favourable feed conversion (Dunshea et al., 2001, Turkstra et al., 2002, Cronin et al., 2003, Jaros et al., 2005) and a higher percentage of lean meat (Jaros et al., 2005) compared to surgically-castrated pigs, reduced sexual and aggressive behaviour compared to entire males (Cronin et al., 2003, Velarde et al., 2007b), and the procedure is applicable to production systems with long fattening period (Thun et al., 2006). The most commonly used and effective vaccine for immunocastration is Improvac® (also referred to as Improvest® in the United States), which was developed in Australia (Zoetis, Parkville, Victoria, Australia). Improvac® was first authorized for commercial use in 1998 in Australia and New Zealand, and since then it has been used in many countries, including the EU which approved its use in 2009 (Batorek et al., 2012a). There are approximately 1.3 million pigs that are immunocastrated each month worldwide using the Improvac® vaccine (Zamaratskaia and Rasmussen, 2015a). Despite of the obvious benefits of immunocastration in place of surgical castration its adoption for commercial use in Australia and elsewhere remains modest (Dunshea et al., 2001). The limited commercial uptake may be due to vaccination costs (vaccine and labour), uncertainties regarding consumer/market acceptance of the method, the additional cost of screening at slaughter line to detect individuals with failed vaccination, accidental self-injection by stockperson, and lack of adequate return for boar taintfree pork (Prunier and Bonneau, 2006, Prunier et al., 2006, de Roest et al., 2009). Immunocastration may also adversely affect animal welfare, due to increased aggression and mounting displayed by pigs as they are physiologically entire males up until they receive the second dose of vaccination (Andersson et al., 2012, Rydhmer et al., 2010).

Research is ongoing in order to make immunocastration a reliable commercial alternative to surgical castration. A number of studies have investigated modified vaccination schedules, whereby pigs are vaccinated earlier (pre-pubertal or early-pubertal) in order to prevent farmers from handling heavy pigs (Einarsson, 2006, Andersson et al., 2012, Brunius et al., 2011). These studies have found no difference in the growth performance and carcass quality of early vaccinated boars to the entire males. Furthermore, Anderson et al. (2012) found that early vaccination may result in better welfare outcomes for pigs as the heightened aggression and sexual behaviour often seen in immunocastrates can be controlled earlier. Immunocastration increases feed intake post immunisation, which may lead to immunocastrates being fed a restricted diet to ensure carcass leanness. However, immunocastrates

fed on a restricted diet have been found to have more carcass lesions than immunocastrates fed ad libitum (Batorek et al., 2012b).

Based on our current knowledge of immunocastration it can be suggested as a viable alternative to surgical castration, however further research is still needed on a range of factors; the vaccination regime to control aggression in boars prior to revaccination, increasing the quantity of lean meat, and as increasing cost efficiency facilitate use in a commercial environment.

3.2.4.2 Genetic selection

The levels of androstenone and skatole in adipose tissue is determined by both genetic factors and breed. Studies have shown that between 5-8% of purebred Hampshire, Yorkshire and Landrace boars and 50% of Duroc boars have high androstenone concentrations in adipose tissue (Zamaratskaia and Squires, 2009, Xue et al., 1996, Pedersen, 1998, Hortos, 2000, Doran et al., 2002). Tajet and Andresen (2006) showed positive genetic correlation between skatole and androstenone for both Landrace and Duroc, possibly due to the interaction between androstenone and skatole metabolism (Doran et al., 2002, Zamaratskaia and Squires, 2009). These findings suggest that genetic selection against one boartaint compound may result in overall reduction of boar-taint in some breeds. Earlier attempts at selection against androstenone has resulted in overall reduction of androgens and estrogens, which lead to decreased performance and delayed sexual maturity (Willeke et al., 1987). A selection of boars with reduced capacity to accumulate androstenone in fat while maintaining normal levels of testosterone may be a more efficient way of selecting against boar-taint. In addition, further research to identify candidate genes for boar taint and to develop genetic markers for low boar taint would be beneficial.

3.2.4.3 Raising entire males

Entire males reportedly have a more efficient feed conversion as well as leaner carcasses, which in turn is economically beneficial. It is also believed that higher protein content in meat from entire males may be nutritionally better than that from castrates (Zamaratskaia and Rasmussen, 2015b). However, raising entire males is associated with poor pork quality as well as negative welfare outcomes. Increased aggression and sexual behaviour in entire males has been associated with increased skin lesions (and thus reduced market value) and management difficulties (Zamaratskaia and Rasmussen, 2015a). In countries such as Great Britain, Ireland and Spain where entire males are slaughtered at lower weight or before attaining sexual maturity, boar-taint is not a serious concern (de Roest et al., 2009). Even though Australia has a similar practice, studies from Australian commercial farms have found poor correlation between boar taint and weight at slaughter (D'Souza et al., 2011), and the prevalence of boar taint has been reported at multiple sites in Australia (Hennessy et al., 1995). In the face of a voluntary ban on castration in EU by the start of 2018, Borrisser-Pairó et al. (2016) conducted a survey of stakeholders in a Spanish pork supply chain and found positive attitude towards the voluntary ban as the use of castration was already decreasing. However, it was recognised that specialised breeds such as Iberian should be given an exception to the ban and alternatives to surgical castration should be explored in that breed. Most importantly for butchers that produce high quality traditional meat with high intramuscular fat content, it is essential to explore alternatives to surgical castration rather than banning it altogether (Borrisser-Pairó et al., 2016).

3.2.4.4 Tail docking

	Tail Docking Standards
Australia*	Tail docking should be avoided wherever possible. Where tail docking is practised as a preventative measure, it should be carried out before pigs are seven days of age.
Canada	Tail-docking performed at any age must be done with analgesics to help control post- procedure pain
UK	Tail-docking shall not be carried out routinely but only where there is evidence that injuries to sows' teats or to other pigs' ears or tails have occurred: No tail docking may be carried out unless other measures to improve environmental conditions or management systems have been taken in order to prevent tail biting or other vices. If docking of tails is carried out after the seventh day of life it shall only be performed under anaesthetic and additional prolonged analgesia by a veterinary surgeon.
New Zealand	Tail docking of pigs over seven days of age must be carried out by a veterinarian
EU	Tail docking of piglets is allowed if there is documentation that tail injuries in the herd can be attributed to omission of tail docking. If tail docking is necessary, no more than half the tail may be docked and it must be carried out between the piglet's second and fourth day of life. If docking of tails is practised after the seventh day of life, it shall only be performed under anaesthetic and additional prolonged analgesia by a veterinarian.

^{*}these are guidelines/recommendations

	Teeth Clipping Standards	
Australia *	Qualified advice should be sought to determine if teeth-clipping is necessary. This procedure should not be routinely required. If aggression between littermates or damage to the sow are a problem, this procedure should be carried out within three days of birth. It should only be done where unacceptable injury is occurring to littermates and the sow's udder. Only the tips (no more than a quarter) of the teeth should be removed.	
Canada	The need to clip piglets' teeth must be evaluated, and the procedure performed only when deemed necessary	
UK	Teeth grinding / clipping shall not be carried out routinely but only where there is evidence that injuries to sows' teats or to other pigs' ears or tails have occurred: Uniform reduction of corner teeth of piglets by grinding or clipping not later than the seventh day of life of the piglets leaving an intact smooth surface; No tooth reduction may be carried out unless other measures to improve environmental conditions or management systems have been taken in order to prevent tail	
New Zealand	Clipping or grinding of needle teeth must be carried out before five days of age.	
EU	necessary, the eye teeth of the piglets may have their sharp point removed by anding within the first three days of life I - a uniform reduction of corner teeth of piglets by grinding or clipping not later than a seventh day of life of the piglets leaving an intact smooth surface	

^{*}these are guidelines/recommendations

3.3 Weaner and growing-finishing pigs

The weaner period is defined as a week or two post-weaning. Growing-finishing pigs are those pigs of a post-weaning age kept for slaughter. These pigs make up the majority of the world pig population of approximately I billion (latest figures from FAOstat accessed on 10 March 2018). There are a number of recent reviews on the welfare of growing-finishing pigs including O'Connell (2009), Amory (2018) and (Verdon and Rault, 2018).

3.3.1 Floor space and group size

Growing-finishing pigs are typically housed in groups on fully slatted pens or partly slatted pens with either dry feed ad libitum or liquid feed. At present the Australian Model Code of Practice for the Welfare of Animals – Pigs requires a space allowance of 0.14 m² to 0.74 m²/pig (weight: 10-120 kg). The Canadian Code of Practice for the Care and Handling of Pigs stipulates that pigs require 0.16 m² to 0.95 m²/ pig on fully or partially-slatted floors (weight: 10-150 kg) or 0.18 m² to 1.10 m² on solid

bedded floor (weight: 10-150 kg). In accordance with the EU Council Directive 2008/88/EC, all growing-finishing pigs must have a space allowance of at least 0.1 m² to 0.65 m²/pig (weight: 10-110kg). In comparison, the UK's Codes of Recommendations for the Welfare of Livestock: Pigs standards require 0.15 m² to 1.0 m²/pig (weight: 10-100kg and more). The New Zealand Animal Welfare (Pigs) Code of Welfare and Animal Welfare (Care and Procedures) Regulations require that at all times a grower pig has an unobstructed floor space in which it can lie down, of which the minimum lying space is no less than the area calculated from the following formula: a=0.03xb^{0.67} where a is the minimum area (in m²) and b is the weight of the pig in kg. Space allowance recommendations for growing-finishing pigs appear relatively consistent across countries.

Many of the welfare problems found in growing-finishing pigs can be attributed, either directly or indirectly, to inadequate space allowance (O'Connell, 2009). The relationship between animals and space can be defined in terms of space allowance per animal (m²/animal) or stocking density (number of animals/m²) (Petherick, 1983). Whilst both measures are mathematically equivalent, they may differ substantially in terms of the ethological impact on the animal. Pigs require sufficient space to lie down in a fully recumbent position, maintain discrete pen areas for feeding, lying and dunging, and be afforded opportunity to perform species-specific behaviours (Petherick, 1983; Baxter, 1984; O'Connell, 2009).

Space allowance for growing-finishing pigs is less contentious than for breeding sows, probably because the effects of inadequate space allowance on pig productivity are both well studied and easier to demonstrate (O'Connell, 2009). Spatial restriction of growing-finishing pigs can result in reduced access to feeders, increased stress and consequently reduced growth performance, and as such will also have adverse welfare implications.

Inadequate space allowance in growing-finishing pigs has traditionally been assessed by assessing effects on production. Bond et al. (1962) reported that rate and efficiency of weight gain increased as space allowance was increased from 0.45 to 0.90 to 1.80m²/pig for groups of 3, 6 and 12 pigs. Similarly, Wingert and Knodt (1960) reported that during the finishing period pigs in groups of 49 provided with 1.32 and 1.76 m² of floor space/pig gained weight 24 and 31% faster, respectively than those allowed 0.88 m². More recently, Gehlbach et al. (1996) recommended minimum floor space allowance for growing pigs of 0.27 to 0.72 m² for pigs housed on slatted floors (weight: 11-95 kg) and 0.36 to 1.08 m² for pigs housed on solid floor (weights: 11–95 kg). A study by Jensen et al. (2012) also found that there was no evidence that productivity or pen hygiene were improved by increasing the space allowance of growing pigs from 0.67 m²/pig to 0.79 m²/pig in well-managed commercial pig systems (housed in non-bedded part-slatted pens, 1/3 solid floor, permanent access to wooden sticks as a manipulable substrate) and suggested that such an increase would be costly to producers. Turner et al. (2000) found no benefit in performance would be gained from increasing space allowance from 32 kg/m² for growing pigs housed on deep litter, however evidence for greater aggression and the depressed immune response to a novel antigen when housed at 50 kg/m², supports the use of a larger space allowance.

The literature indicates that space allowance and group size do not interact, suggesting that there is no need to specify different space requirements for growing pigs in large or small groups (Turner et al., 2000). It was suggested by Petherick (1983) that behavioural and performance indicators of stress attributable to a large group size would only become apparent when floor space allowance was below a threshold level. Evidence has been presented which suggests that stress was associated with a reduction in space allowance from 32 kg/m² to 50 kg/m² (Turner et al., 2000). McGlone and Newby

(1994) described mathematically the relationship between group size and unused space where the area of unused space per pig was found to increase in proportion to group size. From their calculation, animals in groups of 80 would be expected to have 36% more unused space per individual, then would animals in a group of 20. Thus, the stressful experience of being housed with many other individuals may have been minimised by the opportunity to avoid aggressive individuals provided by the greater pen dimensions and the greater free space which is actually available per pig in the large groups. Alternatively, the structure of social organisation in large groups may change from that based on a dominance hierarchy through physical assessment of fighting ability and individual recognition (Edwards and Turner, 2000).

Little is known about the relationships between aggression in recently weaned pigs and features of pen design or management (see review by (Verdon and Rault, 2018)). The limited literature suggests that aggression post-weaning is not affected by floor space allowance when pigs are mixed into pairs or small groups (0.35-0.72 m² per pig, Spicer and Aherne (1987)). However, group size was confounded with space allowance in this study. When space allowance is kept constant, increasing weaning group size from 6 to 12 pigs reduced the linearity of the hierarchy (Fels et al., 2014), however increasing group size to between 10 and 60 pigs had no effect on aggression for the 24 hours post-mixing (O'Connell et al., 2004).

The effect of space allowance on the aggressive behaviour of growing pigs in the period immediately following mixing requires further investigation. There is no evidence of increased aggression at mixing in large groups of growing pigs (5-20 pigs Nielsen et al. (1995); 10-80 pigs Schmolke et al. (2004)). Neither the provision of straw on the pen floor (Arey and Franklin, 1995) or the presence of food and/or water (McGlone, 1986) affect levels of aggression after mixing growing pigs.

Studies on the relationship between floor space allowance and aggression in growing pigs vary considerably in terms of the age and housing conditions of pigs (see review by (Verdon and Rault, 2018)). When group size is controlled for, general levels of agonistic behaviour between growing pigs increases as space allowance decreases (0.56-1.19 m²/pig, Ewbank and Bryant (1972), but space allowance does not affect aggression related to competition for feed (Ewbank and Bryant, 1972, Meunier-Salaun et al., 1987, Scollo et al., 2014). As is the case with sows, space allowance (0.33-0.64 m²/pig) has a greater effect than group size (range 5-20 pigs/pen) on the aggressive behaviour of growing pigs once the hierarchy has been formed, and there is no interaction between the two variables (Randolph et al., 1981). There is a considerable body of research in the young pig indicating that aggression is not affected by group size in the range of 6 to 80 pigs (Turner et al., 1999, Turner et al., 2000, Samarakone and Gonyou, 2009). As with gestating sows, in growing-finishing pigs other factors such as genetics, floor space and competition for feed or feeding space may have a greater impact on aggression, injuries and stress than does group size.

Space allowance has been reported as a crucial risk factor for tail biting (Schrøder-Petersen and Simonsen, 2001), however studies have produced inconsistent results, with most reporting no effect (D'Eath et al., 2014). (Munsterhjelm et al., 2015a) reported a more or less linear effect of space allowance, ranging from 0.7 to 1.5 m² on reducing the prevalence of tail damage, and Scollo et al. (2016) found a high stocking density increased the risk of tail biting damage in heavy pig production. Finnish farmers in the study by Valros et al. (2016) ranked restricting animal density as the 11th most important preventive measure for tail biting, while the Dutch farmers in the study by Bracke et al. (2013) rated space allowance as the second most important risk factor. With regard to group size,

past research does not indicate a significant effect on tail biting (D'Eath et al., 2014), however a recent study on long-tailed pigs indicated that the risk for tail biting increased when pigs were housed in groups of more than 10 pigs per pen (Palander, 2016).

3.3.2 Barren environments

Effective enrichment should decrease the incidence of abnormal behaviour and increase the performance of behaviours such as exploration, foraging, play, and social interaction, which are within the range of the animal's, normal, species-specific behaviour (Chamove, 1989, Mench, 1994, Markowitz et al., 1995, Van de Weerd and Baumans, 1995) and, as has been found in rodents, promote stress adaptability (Lehmann and Herkenham, 2011, Abou-Ismail et al., 2010, Abou-Ismail and Mendl, 2016). As indicated earlier, pigs have evolved to root and investigate their environment, spending 10-20% of their active time in exploring and foraging in semi-natural conditions (Stolba and Wood-Gush, 1989). A series of experiments found that 'chewable', 'deform- able' and 'destructible' enrichment objects were most valued by growing pigs (Bracke et al., 2006). Although relatively common, the use of car tyres and chains are not effective forms of enrichment as pigs lose interest when the novelty wears off (Bracke et al., 2006). However recently Bracke (2017) has suggested that branched chains may in fact be a cost-effective way to tangibly improve pig welfare. Enrichment materials need to have sustained appeal rather than just an initial interest that diminishes over time (Van de Weerd et al., 2005). Novelty is important in maintaining interest (Trickett et al., 2009, Tarou and Bashaw, 2007), but the enrichment materials should be presented in a manner to provide diversity. For example, research with rats demonstrates that novelty per se in the absence of diversity of objects or materials at any one time seems to be less beneficial (Abou-Ismail and Mendl, 2016). It is important to note that environmental enrichment needs to be targeted to be most effective. For example, if exploration is the targeted behaviour, then changing the environment or introducing a novel object may be the best, while if foraging is the target, using feeding devices, changing the normal feeding regimen, or supplementing the diet may be more effective (Tarou and Bradshaw 2007).

Straw has been widely accepted as an effective form of enrichment for pigs of all stages (Tuyttens, 2005, van de Weerd and Day, 2009). It improves thermal and physical comfort, provides additional fibre when ingested and can be used for foraging and chewing (Fraser, 1975, 1985, Fraser et al., 1991). Many studies have shown that provision of straw reduces harmful social behaviours, including tail biting, even if straw was placed in a dispenser or rack (Van de Weerd et al., 2006, Zonderland et al., 2003). When straw is provided as bedding, it covers the whole floor area, which inevitably increases the proportion of time that pigs can spend manipulating the substrate, and results in higher levels of activity (McKinnon et al., 1989, Arey and Franklin, 1995, Lyons et al., 1995, Morgan et al., 1998, Kelly et al., 2000, Guy et al., 2002, Van de Weerd et al., 2006, Scott et al., 2006, Day et al., 2008). When pigs are provided with a full bedded environment, they spend about 25% of the active time interacting with the straw bedding (Beattie et al., 2000a, Beattie et al., 2000b). In addition, enriched housing has previously been shown to increase body weight and growth rate in growing-finishing pigs (Brown et al., 2018). Furthermore, the provision of straw bedding has been shown to be a significant factor in this increased average daily gain (Douglas et al., 2015), however there has been little research to determine why this may be the case.

When straw enrichment is compared with point-source enrichment-objects, studies report up to twenty times as much interaction with the straw in comparison with the objects (Ruiterkamp, 1987, Lyons et al., 1995, de Jong et al., 1998, Scott et al., 2006, Van de Weerd et al., 2006). Furthermore, straw is generally provided in much larger quantities than other forms of enrichment, which in itself increases the pig's opportunity to interact with it and potentially reduces competition among pigs to access it compared with point-source enrichment-objects. The effect on aggression is less clear, but this does not appear to be reduced in straw-based systems (van de Weerd and Day, 2009). Enriching the post-weaning environment with straw does not affect aggression at mixing (Melotti et al., 2011) but reduces aggression on the day after mixing, possibly by diverting piglet attention (Oostindjer et al., 2011; Melotti et al., 2011). As reviewed earlier, recent literature examining the effect of lactation housing on piglet aggression post-weaning, found piglets raised in group lactation housing had reduced aggression and skin injuries post-weaning when compared to single-litter lactation piglets (Verdon and Rault, 2018). Availability and cost may limit the use of straw in certain areas, while many systems with slatted or partially-slatted floors limit the use of straw.

Despite such strong benefits, the use of straw is often not applicable in many current production settings in Australia (and other parts of the world). This can be due to availability and cost, or in systems with fully- or partially-slatted flooring, the use of significant quantities of substrates such as straw block current waste handling-facilities. Alternative forms of enrichment are point-source objects, often called toys (van de Weerd and Day, 2009). To be effective these objects need to fulfil certain criteria. Housing of growing pigs in pens with multiple enrichment features has been shown to reduce fear in novel environments and increase ease of handling, reduce harmful social behaviour and aggression directed at pen mates and increase behavioural diversity (van de Weerd and Day, 2009). However, these studies combined several features (such as increased space, multiple levels and several objects) and many lacked proper control groups, therefore it is not possible to identify a single feature that can be recommended as effective enrichment.

While the utilisation of environmental enrichments has been investigated, the effects of enrichment on stress adaptability and indicators denoting poor welfare have not been extensively studied in pigs (van de Weerd and Day, 2009). Brown et al. (2018) reported that relative to piglets in barren environments, those in enriched environments may experience reduced anxiety, increased neuroprotection and synaptic plasticity, and an immune response consistent with reduced inflammatory challenge. The authors suggest that environmental enrichment may confer neuronal health benefits in growing-finishing pigs, through a potential relative reduction in neuroinflammatory process and increase in neuroprotection driven by an enrichment-induced increase in behavioural activity, such as interaction with the enrichment-stimulus and play behaviour. Clearly further research is required to evaluate the effectiveness of enrichment strategies for growing-finishing pigs, particularly when housed on slatted floors.

Enrichment suitable for pigs is likely to be one that they can root, chew and manipulate. Novelty is important in maintaining interest, but there should also be diversity in the materials at any one time. Furthermore, desired environmental enrichment needs to be targeted to be most effective, for example specifically targeting exploration or foraging.

Age of weaning				
Australia	For weaning of pigs under 3 weeks of age, management and nutrition needs to be of very high standard to prevent piglet mortality and ill-thrift	Guideline		
Canada	Target an average weaning age of 3 weeks or older	Recommendation		
UK	Piglets shall not be weaned from the sow at an age less than 28 days unless the health or welfare of the dam or piglets would otherwise be adversely affected	Standard		
New Zealand	Piglets should be at least 28 days at weaning	Recommendation		
EU	No piglets shall be weaned from the sow at less than 28 days of age unless the welfare or health of the dam or the piglet would be otherwise adversely affected	Standard		

Early weaning is considered one of the main welfare challenges for weaner pigs (Pedersen, 2018). In domestic pigs, under semi-natural and wild conditions, there is a gradual separation of the sow from her litter prior to weaning. Sows have a natural tendency to spend time away from their piglets as lactation progresses and gradually reduce suckling frequency, which creates a gradual weaning process (Pajor et al., 1999). In conventional farrowing crates, the ability of the sow to moderate her own suckling frequency is reduced, and as such weaning becomes an abrupt event (de Ruyter et al., 2017). Abrupt weaning is typically associated with a reduction in growth, commonly referred to as a growth check, immediately post-weaning.

Common commercial weaning practices involve an abrupt early weaning at 3-4 weeks of age, when piglets may not be physiologically, immunologically or behaviourally ready to consume larger amount of solid feed (Heo et al., 2013). This can reduce the piglet's intake of metabolisable energy of up to 20% of normal intake. This reduced intake can last for several days and piglets have been found to not recover to pre-weaning energy (ME) intake levels until 2 weeks post-weaning (Pedersen et al., 2018). In suckling piglets, solid feed intake gradually increases in the fourth week of life (Bøe, 1991), although large individual differences have been reported. Pluske et al. (2017) reported that the percentage of piglets within a litter with little or none ingestion of solid feed before day 19 and day 27 was observed to be 51% and 16%. The daily feed intake of weaners was estimated to be on average 7-10 g/pig on day 18, increasing to 40 g/pig on day 25, and to 100 g/pig on day 31 (Pluske et al., 2017).

Farrowing housing that provides a sow only area has been shown to result in a more gradual weaning process, where suckling frequency can be reduced as lactation progresses (Pajor et al., 1999). This may benefit sow welfare by reducing confinement and allowing respite from piglets, but it may also affect the piglet's adaptability to weaning (Berkeveld et al., 2009). While gradually weaned piglets tend to be lighter at weaning (Kuller et al., 2004), the severity of the post-weaning growth check is reduced.

Several studies have examined the performance of piglets in response to intermittent suckling regimes (gradual weaning), in which the sow and piglets are separated for a defined proportion of the day and reported beneficial effects on piglet productivity post-weaning (Berkeveld et al., 2007, Berkeveld et al., 2009, Kuller et al., 2004, de Ruyter et al., 2017, Turpin et al., 2017). The observed improvement in piglet growth post-weaning has been attributed to increased creep feed ingestion in response to sow-piglet separation (Berkeveld et al., 2009; Berkeveld et al., 2007; Kuller et al., 2010; de Kuyker et al., 2017).

Growth performance post-weaning may be further affected as the weaning event is thought to be stressful, and stress and performance are strongly linked (Barnett et al., 2001). The removal of maternal contact, introduction of a new social and physical environment, and the changes in diet are all believed to contribute to the weaning stress response (Weary et al., 2008). de Ruyter et al. (2017) reported a reduced cortisol and stress physiology response to the weaning event in gradually weaned piglets compared to the response of abruptly weaned piglets.

Changes to behaviour and stress physiology of piglets at weaning are evident for different weaning ages (Colson et al., 2006). Negative piglet-directed behaviours are indicators of stress (Dybkjær, 1992) and increased incidences of these behaviours, such as belly nosing and aggression, are reported in abruptly weaned piglets when compared with gradually weaned pigs (Dybkjaer, 1992, Newberry et al., 1988, Worobec et al., 1999). de Ruyter et al. (2017) found that intermittent sow-piglet separation prior to complete weaning resulted in significantly shorter durations of belly nosing and aggressive interactions following the weaning event compared to abruptly weaned piglets. Belly nosing has been used as a key indicator for maladaptation in piglets post-weaning (Cox and Cooper, 2001, Straw and Bartlett, 2001, Jarvis et al., 2008, Widowski et al., 2008), and the repetitive nosing of another piglet's abdomen may be indicative of piglet nursing behaviour rather than consuming solid feed in the early post-weaning period (Widowski et al., 2008).

Short term separation (gradual weaning) during lactation reduces the piglet's response to the highly stressful event of weaning (de Ruyter et al., 2017; Turpin et al., 2017); the findings from these studies demonstrate that gradually weaned piglets exhibited fewer negative behaviours and a decreased cortisol response to weaning when compared to piglets that were abruptly weaned. These results suggest that in addition to previously reported increases in creep consumption pre-weaning, a reduction or change in stress experienced in response to weaning may help to explain differences in the performance of gradually weaned piglets.

On a side note, there has been limited investigation into the effect of weaning on the sow. Sows appear to experience a significant drop in feed intake and less activity after weaning than before weaning (Garcia and McGlone, 2018). Further research to examine the effects on welfare and productivity of weaning alternatives is required. In addition, further understanding on the effect of weaning on the sow would be beneficial.

Conclusions, recommendations and further research on weaner and growing-finishing pigs

Space allowance for growing-finishing pigs is less contentious than for breeding sows, probably because the effects of inadequate space allowance on pig productivity are both well studied and easier to demonstrate. The literature indicates that current Australian space allowance requirements of 0.14 m2 to 0.74 m2/pig (weight: 10-120 kg) are likely to be sufficient. However, improvements in welfare (in terms of aggression and stress) and productivity (with regard to growth rate) are likely to be

achieved with space allowances greater than the current Australian requirements. The effect of space allowance (and pen design and features) on the aggressive behaviour of growing pigs in the period immediately following mixing requires further investigation. The literature indicates that space allowance and group size do not interact, suggesting that there is no need to specify different space requirements for growing-finishing pigs in large or small groups. Furthermore, there is considerable evidence in the young pig indicating that aggression is not affected by group size. As with gestating sows, in growing-finishing pigs other factors such as floor space and competition for feed or feeding space may have a greater impact on aggression, injuries and stress than does group size.

Spatial restriction of growing-finishing pigs is likely to result in reduced access to feeders, increased stress and consequently reduced growth performance, and as such will also have adverse welfare implications. Enrichment suitable for growing-finishing pigs is likely to be one that they can root, chew and manipulate. Novelty is important in maintaining interest, but there should also be diversity in the materials at any one time. Furthermore, desired environmental enrichment needs to be targeted to be most effective. While the utilisation of environmental enrichments has been investigated, the effects of enrichment on stress adaptability and indicators denoting poor welfare have not been extensively studied. Straw has been widely accepted as an effective form of enrichment for pigs of all stages, however further research is needed to enable its use in systems with slatted or partially-slatted floors. At present it is not possible to identify point-source objects that can be recommended as effective enrichment. Clearly further research is required to evaluate the effectiveness (type and placement within pen) of enrichment strategies for growing-finishing pigs, particularly when housed on slatted floors.

Early weaning is considered one of the main welfare challenges for weaner pigs. Common commercial weaning practices involve an abrupt early weaning at 3-4 weeks of age, when piglets may not be physiologically, immunologically or behaviourally ready to consume a larger amount of solid feed. Further research to examine the effects on welfare and productivity of weaning alternatives is required. In addition, further understanding on the effect of weaning on the sow would be beneficial.

3.4 Boars

Mating service is either carried out by natural mating with a boar or by artificial insemination (AI). In some countries with small-scale farms natural mating is most common, whereas in countries such as Australia AI dominates. However, most farms will keep boars to assist with oestrus stimulation and detection even if they are using AI. Breeding boars and boars used for oestrus stimulation and detection, begin working at about 6-7 months of age and are generally sold or culled after 2-3 years, when they have become too large and/or are replaced by genetically-superior animals.

Mature boars are generally housed individually to facilitate management and staff safety. Group housing is more common in outdoor systems, where service is often carried out by a number of boars living with a group of sows. In Al studs and farms using boars for oestrus stimulation and detection, boars are typically housed in individual pens or stalls. The keeping of boars in individual stalls where they cannot turn around was common in the past but is now prohibited in most countries under Codes of Practice or regulated standards.

There appears to be no specific research on the housing requirements of mature boars, although it is reasonable to infer information on parameters such as space, flooring, temperature, lighting and social stimulation from studies of pigs at other stages of production. Under natural conditions, mature boars are solitary for long periods of time and join sow groups when the females come into oestrus. It is therefore reasonable to suggest that individual housing is not unacceptable, provided that neither long term sensory or social deprivation is involved. The minimum space requirement, based on a liveweight of up to 300 kg and snout to tail length of up to 2 m, would be a shortest pen side of 2.6 m to allow the boar to comfortably turn around (Petchey and Hunt, 1990). The space required to allow adequate opportunity for exercise, and the consequences of inadequate space for boar welfare are yet to be defined. In Australia, the current Code of Practice specifies a minimum space allowance of 6 m² per animal, which would preclude housing of boars in stalls (Outdoor shelter space allowance of 2 m²). Levis et al. (1995) examined the effect of breeding facility on plasma cortisol in boars; boar pens 2.6×10^{-2} 3m compared to boar stalls 0.8×2.9 m. Mating occurred in the conventional boar pens, whilst boars were moved out of their stalls into a central arena for mating. There was no difference between the two treatments in daytime concentrations of free cortisol concentrations, and treatment did not result in a difference in cortisol response to ACTH. Based on these physiological measures of stress, Levis et al (1995) concluded no increased risk to welfare from housing boars in stalls relative to individual pens. However as is the case with sows in stalls, the use of a single-point stress measure results in the potential for a dysfunctional cortisol response.

It is normal commercial practice to keep mature boars individually. It has been demonstrated that boars which are reared from weaning without physical or visual contact with other pigs show reduced courting and copulatory behaviour when compared with those reared in all male or mixed sex groups (Hemsworth et al., 1977). A subsequent study found that a lack of physical and visual contact with other pigs during rearing accounted for 70% of the impairment in copulatory behavioural in boars (Hemsworth et al., 1978). Housing of individual post-pubertal boars near sexually receptive females resulted in enhanced courtship and copulatory behaviour in comparison with animals housed in visual and/or physical isolation to other boars (Hemsworth et al., 1977). A subsequent study found that housing boars adjacent to females which were not sexually receptive was also effective in maintaining male sexual behaviour (Hemsworth et al., 1981). (Hemsworth et al., 1983) concluded that isolating young post-pubertal boars from female pigs will reduce their subsequent copulatory performance. Furthermore, while the adverse effects of social isolation on sexual behaviour may be permanent if imposed on young post-pubertal boars (<1 year of age), they appear to be reversible in older animals (Hemsworth et al. 1983).

Housing of mature boars in a group reduced courtship behaviour but not copulatory performance in comparison with boars which were group reared but housed individually once mature (Hemsworth et al. 1978). Group housed boars were reported to be in better physical condition because of improved space for exercise. Cordoba-Dominguez et al. (1991) reported that the incidence of sodomy behaviour and aggression within established groups of mature boars is very low.

Conclusions, recommendations and further research on boars

There is no specific research on the housing requirements of mature boars, although it is reasonable to infer information on requirements such as space, flooring, temperature, lighting and social stimulation from guidelines for sows. Boars should not be reared in social isolation. While it is acceptable to house boars individually, they should not be housed in visual and olfactory isolation from other pigs. The dimensions of individual pens for mature boars should correspond to the weight and

size of the pig, but the current Australian Code of Practice specification of a minimum space allowance of 6m² per animal seems reasonable. The mixing of mature boars should be avoided and carried out only when essential, and under close supervision. Whilst it may not be viewed as a high priority, research on boar housing requirements and the implications for boar welfare is required.

3.5 Outdoor housing

Outdoor housing has gained considerable interest in the past decade as an alternative to conventional indoor housing, potentially due to lower upfront investment cost (i.e. infrastructure, facilities, equipment) as well as increased opportunity for animals to perform species-specific natural behaviour (Von-Borell et al., 2001, Millet et al., 2005). The Australian Model Code of Practice for the Welfare of Animals – Pigs requires all pigs housed outdoors to have access to shelter in cold weather and shade in hot weather, and feed and watering points to be provided such that all pigs have access. The Australian Model Code of Practice for the Welfare of Animals – Pigs prohibits outdoor housing of pigs on land that is contaminated with toxins, chemical residues, toxic plants or disease-causing organisms. It is recommended in the Australian Model Code of Practice that farrowing and rearing huts provide protection for pigs from the elements, and in locations with high summer temperatures the provision of shade, ventilation, wallows or water sprinklers is recommended. Recommendations also include the use of herd heath programs that includes vaccination, parasite control and regular pasture rotation and spelling. Consideration also should be given to using breeds like Large Black, Tamworth, Wessex Saddleback and Berkshire breeds or hybrids of such breeds that are more suited for outdoor conditions (Guidelines 4.6.8).

The New-Zealand Pigs – Animal Welfare Code of Welfare 2018 states that "Pigs must have access, at all times, to shelter that is adequately ventilated and provides protection from extremes of heat and cold". The code also requires that non-farrowing pigs have access to a dry area that is large enough to allow the pigs to stand up, turn around, and lie down in a natural position. Furthermore, according to the code faeces and urine must not be allowed to accumulate in any area in which the pig is kept to an extent that may pose a threat to the health or welfare of the pigs (Minimum Standard No. 5). It recommends that between batches of piglets, farrowing huts should be re-sited and bedding should be replaced in order to limit disease transmission. The Canadian Code of Practice for the Care and Handling of Pigs requires pigs to have access to shelter that minimises the effects of adverse weather and provides a dry resting area and shade. It also requires a protocol to be developed and implemented to protect pigs from parasites and predators.

The UK Codes of Recommendations for the Welfare of Livestock: Pigs requires pigs housed outdoors to, where necessary and possible, be provided with protection from adverse weather conditions, predators and risks to their health and be given access to a well- drained lying area. All pigs over two weeks of age must have permanent access to a sufficient quantity of fresh drinking water. Farrowing pens where sows are kept loose must have some means of protecting the piglets, such as farrowing rails.

Exposure to high heat loads is common for outdoor pig production in Australia. For a dry sow on straw, the upper critical temperature (UCT) of a sow depends on a range of factors, however, at optimal feed intake levels, UCT is likely to be 26–30°C (Bruce 1982). An early sign of heat stress is

decreased feed intake, one of the only ways for a sow to reduce her heat burden, and this can result in loss of condition and reduced fertility. Reduced feed intake in lactating sows can also reduce their milk production and adversely affect their piglets. Although heat stress is also an issue for indoorhoused sows, it is generally ameliorated by the use of a cooling system. A further problem for the outdoor pig is sunburn, with white skinned animals particularly susceptible.

An Australian study by Barnett and colleagues (Agribiz, 1999); some data are reported in (Barnett et al., 1999) has shown that there may be some thermal problems for sows housed outdoors in Australia in the cooler months. Rectal temperature was similar in the indoor pigs across sampling periods, whereas in the outdoor pigs it was higher both overall and in February–April than in June–September. There was also a higher proportion of sows with a rectal temperature less than the lower 95% confidence limit in the outdoor pigs in September. The authors concluded that some pigs may have potential problems controlling their body temperature in the outdoor environment in winter. Other differences between the indoor and outdoor sows were that the outdoor sows had a greater variation in back-fat, a considerably longer claw length, and a lower farrowing rate. There were no differences in variation in body weight and scores for lameness and gait were generally similar. There were fewer lesions in outdoor sows, which concurs with the findings of Martin and Edwards (1994).

Whilst the literature is limited, and the reasons are not immediately clear, pigs housed in outdoor systems are generally believed to have a better health than pigs in indoor herds (Thornton, 1990). Sows housed in outdoor systems appear to have fewer respiratory problems than those housed indoors (Thorton, 1990). Tubbs et al. (1993) reported that outdoor pigs were healthier and had a lower incidence of enteric diseases than pigs in indoor systems. McGlone (1997) observed little or no E. coli-related scours among outdoor litters, whereas scour outbreaks were common in indoor litters. Kleinbeck (1995) found no differences in immunology in sows housed in indoor and outdoor systems. A controlled study by Lahrmann et al. (2004) comparing indoor and outdoor housing of pigs found outdoor pigs to have lower morbidity and mortality during all rearing periods. The outdoor housed pigs were also more active, had higher daily weight gain during the weaning and fattening phase and similar meat quality to their indoor counterparts.

Barnett et al. (1999) concluded that there were no large differences in risks to welfare, on the basis that variation in a number of selected variables was similar between sows in the two production systems, although they did identify potential areas for improvement. These were: nose-ringing, predator control, shelter, litter desertion, pre-weaning piglet mortality, selection and training of stockpeople, wallow design and management, overgrown claws, avoidance by pigs of others at feeding time, thermoregulation in winter, and any implications of lower backfat and mating management (the latter may be a welfare or production issue or a combination of both). The selection of appropriate breed of pigs also appears to be important to outdoor pig production, and breeding companies have developed genotypes for outdoor production systems. These genotypes are crosses that generally combine desired behavioural traits (e.g. mothering ability), hardiness, and economic efficiency (Steen, 1994). There has been no research published on the suitability of different genotypes and phenotypes for outdoor conditions in Australia.

3.5.1 Nose-ringing

The Australian Model Code of Practice for the Welfare of Animals – Pigs has no standards concerning nose-ringing. It recommends that nose-ringing should be avoided, however if performed, rings should be placed through the cartilage at the top of the snout. The Canadian Code of Practice for the Care and Handling of Pigs has no standards concerning nose-ringing but recommends that nose-rings should not be used. The UK's Codes of Recommendations for the Welfare of Livestock: Pigs does not permit nose-rings in pigs housed continuously in indoor systems. It also recommends that nose-ringing should be performed by a suitably trained and competent operator. The New Zealand Pigs – Animal Welfare Code of Welfare 2018 requires that if nose-rings, clips or wires are used, they must be placed through the cartilage at the top of the snout or in the tissue separating the nostrils.

Nose-ringing is performed on the outdoor housed sows in order to reduce soil digging with forepaw and thereby prevent damage to the pasture (Horrell et al., 2001, Studnitz et al., 2003, Eriksen et al., 2006). Some studies have explored alternatives to nose-ringing, for example by providing sows with a specialized rooting area with enrichment (e.g. root crops, spent mushroom compost) and/or feed concentrate buried inside (Bornett et al., 2003, Edge et al., 2005). These strategies were designed with the intention of restricting rooting to a designated area in order to reduce the amount of pasture destruction. Even though these studies found reduction in pasture damage by providing a designated rooting area, this reduction was not significant and hence further research is warranted in this area. Another alternative that could be explored is the use of virtual fencing in order to limit sow's movement to a designated area thereby reducing the pasture destruction. Research currently underway in Australia on a virtual fencing system in which automated animal collars that provide audio and electrical stimuli as the animal approaches the virtual fence line (Campbell et al., 2018). Use of virtual fencing is gaining significant interest in other pasture grazing animals (Bishop-Hurley et al., 2007, Butler et al., 2004) and has the potential to be a valuable resource in improving efficiency of outdoor housing without compromising animal welfare (i.e. using nose-rings). The Australian Pork Limited is a participant in this world-leading research project and thus in the future, there is the opportunity to examine the use of virtual fencing in outdoor housed pigs and evaluate its efficacy in an Australian outdoor system.

Conclusions, recommendations and further research on outdoor pigs

In their review of pig welfare, Barnett et al. (1999) concluded that there were no large differences in risks to sow welfare in indoor and outdoor systems based on the variation in a number of selected variables. However, they identified some potential areas for outdoor systems that require attention. These were nose-ringing, predator control, shelter, litter desertion, selection and training of stockpeople, wallow design and management, overgrown claws, avoidance by pigs of others at feeding time, thermoregulation in winter, and any implications of lower backfat.

4. Specific physiological and behavioural problems in pigs

4.1 Gastric ulceration

Gastric ulceration is a welfare problem in intensive pig production which can result in a failure to thrive and sudden death. The prevalence of gastric ulcers has been reported to be around 30% in slaughter pigs and even higher in culled breeding sows (Robertson et al., 2002, Swaby and Gregory, 2012). Common feeding practices, such as the feeding of finely grounded pelleted feed have been identified as a risk factor (Canibe et al., 2007, Mößeler et al., 2012). The provision of between 50 and 1000 g straw per pig per day compared to no access to straw reduced the prevalence of gastric ulceration (Nielsen and Ingvartsen, 2000, Bolhuis et al., 2007, Scott et al., 2007, Di Martino et al., 2013, Herskin et al., 2016b).

4.2 Lameness

Lameness is common in the pig industry and is considered a major welfare concern that has the potential to induce pain and discomfort for extended periods of time (Barnett et al., 2001, Main et al., 2000). The primary cause of lameness is pain (Cockram and Hughes, 2011) and as a result lameness is associated with some level of suffering in the animal (Dawkins, 1980). Lameness, which is loosely defined as impaired movement or deviation from normal gait (Cockram and Hughes, 2011), is common in commercial sows (Chapinal et al., 2010). The causes of lameness range from inflammation and pain (Cockram and Hughes, 2011), and infected skin and claw lesions (Velarde, 2007), to broken bones (Marchant-Forde, 2009). The USDA has ranked lameness as the third most common reason for culling sows on farm (15% of sows; USDA, 2007), and Stalder et al. (2004) reported that leg soundness is one of the most commonly identified reasons for the involuntary culling of sows.

Quality of flooring is widely considered to be essential to pig welfare as it is likely to have a direct effect on foot health and the culling rate from lameness (Barnett et al., 2001). This aspect has been reviewed by Borell et al. (1997) and, for sows, focusses on the common use of partially slatted pens. Important factors include the space between the slats, the roughness of the surface and the edge design (Boon and Wray, 1989). Smooth surfaces and deep litter systems may cause excessive hoof growth, leading to lameness (Geyer, 1979), but some abrasion is necessary for foot health (Webb and Nilsson, 1983), while foraging substrates can reduce injury caused by slipping (Heinonen et al., 2013). In a study of 15 herds, Gjein and Larssen (1995) showed an overall lameness rate of 13.1% in sows with increased risks associated with concrete versus plastic slats and poor floor hygiene. The quality of flooring interacts with the thermal requirements and pen design on lameness in adult pigs. For outdoor sows, site and soil type are significant factors affecting lameness (Thornton, 1990).

4.3 Shoulder ulcers

Shoulder ulcers are seen in lactating sows in the week following farrowing, the underlying triggers for the development of such ulcers are not yet clear (Rioja-Lang et al., 2018). However, it is believed that constant pressure on the soft tissue restricts blood flow in the region causing necrosis which then leads to ulceration (Rolandsdotter et al., 2009, Rioja-Lang et al., 2018). Several sow related factors have been identified as underlying triggers for the development of shoulder ulcers such as; body condition post farrowing (Havn and Poulsen, 2004, Bonde et al., 2004), lameness (Anil et al., 2006b, Rosendal and Nielsen, 2004), health condition (Zurbrigg, 2006), duration of lactation (Pairis-Garcia et

al., 2015), previous occurrence of shoulder ulcer (Thorup, 2006) and the duration of performing resting behaviour (Lundgren et al., 2012). The rate at which a shoulder lesion progresses to become an ulcer is unclear, however it believed that the ulceration begins from the outer layer of skin, reaches deep into the tissue and in severe cases it can penetrate the underlying bone (Jensen, 2009). Environmental risk factors for shoulder ulcers are related to the housing conditions such as floor type (slatted vs. non-slatted, (Rosendal and Nielsen, 2004), location of the pen (Zurbrigg, 2006), humidity and temperature (Kokate et al., 1995). Human literature suggests that friction forces rubbing against the skin in combination with high humidity leads to pressure related ulcers (Lahmann and Kottner, 2011). Similarly, friction along the floor surface as well as hardness and abrasiveness may all contribute to the development of shoulder ulcers in sows, however, further research needs to be done to validate these theories.

4.4 Stereotypic behaviours

As discussed earlier (Barren environments; 3.1.7, 3.2.3 and 3.3.2), indoor production systems are considered by some to provide captive animals with barren environments (Barnett et al., 2001) which have been implicated in the development of stereotypies. Stereotypies can occur in prolonged conflict or thwarting situations in which there is no chance to escape (Dawkins, 1980, Mason, 1991). Furthermore, stereotypies may originate from redirected behaviours (and other abnormal behaviours including displacement, redirected and vacuum behaviours) if the conflict or thwarting persists (Hemsworth, 2018b). Once developed, stereotypies can become ritualized to the extent that they become part of the behavioural repertoire and persist even in the absence of the original eliciting, stimuli/conditions (Mason, 1991).

In pigs, stereotypies are essentially oral activities and include vacuum chewing (sham chewing), head waving, chewing of bars, and licking, chewing or nosing of various available objects (Fraser, 1975, Stolba et al., 1983, Terlouw et al., 1991). Stereotypies have been reported in a range of housing systems including tethered, stall-housed and group-housed sows (Barnett et al., 2001, Schouten and Rushen, 1992). There has been, and still is, ongoing discussion and research on the welfare significance of stereotypies. But stereotypies in captive animals have been generally viewed either as an adaptive coping response to the captive environment or as the inappropriate output in a conflict or thwarting situation (Mason and Latham, 2004), there are some instances where there is a poor relationship between stereotypies and stress (Mason, 2006). For example, frustration-induced stress may be at least partly resolved if the behaviour itself reduces the underlying motivation. Therefore, within a group, individuals that perform stereotypies may thus be coping. Nevertheless, stereotypies indicate either a present problem for the animal or a past problem that has resolved.

Feed restriction and the inability to express manipulative and/or foraging behaviour have been proposed as a major cause of the development of oral stereotypies in sows (Lawrence and Terlouw, 1993). Indeed, increasing the amount of roughage and daily feed allocation generally reduces stereotypies and increases the time spent feeding (Appleby and Lawrence, 1987, Robert et al., 1993, Bergeron et al., 2000, Terlouw and Lawrence, 1993, Whittaker et al., 1998, Holt et al., 2006). While high-fibre diets increase the time sows spent feeding and reduce stereotypies as long as the animal's nutrient requirements are met (Robert et al., 1993, Brouns and Edwards, 1994, Ramonet et al., 1999), Feeding time per se appears to implicated in stereotypies since increased feeding time accounts for much of the reduction in stereotypy level associated with high-fibre diets (Robert et al., 1997). Thus,

many authors have proposed that low fibre, high-concentrate diets for sows that require little foodsearching behaviour and consummatory behaviours such as chewing, result in unfulfilled motivations to perform these natural foraging activities, and leads to increased oral stereotypies including oral stereotypic licking, bar-biting and sham-chewing or vacuum-chewing (Bergeron et al., 2006). Furthermore, stereotypies may develop from other lengthy conflict or thwarting situations and there is evidence that stereotypies can develop in response to barren or restricted environments (Mason, 1991, Würbel et al., 1998). Pigs are highly motivated to root and investigate their environment (Stolba and Wood-Gush, 1989). Modern systems of intensive pig production thwart the expression of key behaviours such as exploration and foraging. Enrichment suitable for pigs is therefore likely to be one that they can root, chew and preferably ingest with some nutritional benefits; effective enrichment should decrease the incidence of abnormal behaviour and increase the performance of behaviours such as exploration, foraging, play, and social interaction, which are within the range of the animal's, normal, species-specific behaviour (Chamove, 1989, Mench, 1994, Markowitz et al., 1995, Van de Weerd and Baumans, 1995). However, as discussed earlier, welfare implications of intensive, indoor and non-bedded systems in current pig production systems are poorly understood. The European Union Commission directive 2001/93/EC states 'pigs must have permanent access to a sufficient quantity of material to enable proper investigation and manipulation activities, such as straw, hay, wood, sawdust, mushroom compost or a mixture of such that does not compromise the health of animals.' The extent to which this provides effective enrichment has been questioned (Marchant-Forde et al., 2009, van de Weerd and Day, 2009), and as such indicates the need for continued investigation into effective environmental enrichment.

The utilisation of the enrichments has been studied, however the effects of enrichment on stress adaptability and indicators signifying poor welfare in pigs require further investigation (van de Weerd and Day, 2009). In a series of experiments, De Jong and colleagues (de Jong et al., 1998, de Jong et al., 2000, de Groot et al., 2000) have shown that rearing pigs in large farrowing pens and large growing-finishing pens with provision of straw can reduce manipulative behaviours directed towards pen-mates, such as massaging and nibbling, compared to rearing in farrowing crates and smaller growing-finishing pens with partially slatted solid floors. Furthermore, provision of straw that elicits foraging in terms of searching and chewing, has been shown to reduce oral stereotypies, such as bar biting and sham chewing, in gestating sows housed in stalls and groups (Spoolder et al., 1995, Bergeron et al., 2006). With the extensive use of fully- or partially-slatted, non-bedded and non-enriched environments in Australian pig production, further research is clearly required to investigate functional enrichment.

The imperative for this research is the anecdotal reports of high levels of stereotypic behaviours such as sham chewing in group-housed sows, indicate that research of this nature may be both pertinent from a sow welfare and productivity perspective and prudent in terms of addressing community and NGO criticisms of indoor group-housing of pigs on slatted or partially slatted concrete floors. However, it should be recognised that the immediate implications of stereotypies on welfare are not always clear. Although glucocorticoids can be affected by metabolic rate and thus may not be an appropriate physiological measure of stress associated with hunger (De Jong et al., 2002), there appears to be no consistent evidence of increased stress, based on plasma and urinary cortisol concentrations, in sows individually housed and restrictively fed (see review by Meunier-Salaün et al. (2001), and this is supported by more recent studies (de Leeuw and Ekkel, 2004; Toscano et al., 2007). In a review of several hundred papers on human and animal stereotypies and their links to welfare, Mason and Latham (2004) found that in most conditions (68% of studies) that increased stereotypies,

welfare of the animals declined. However, in the remaining 32% of studies, welfare was either improved or no change occurred in conditions in which stereotypies increased.

4.5 Tail biting

Tail biting is a potentially serious welfare problem; light chewing on the tail can lead to a wound which can become attractive to other pigs in the group once the tail bleeds, leading to more severe consequences such as infection, spinal abscess, paralysis and, in extreme cases, death (Van Putten, 1969, Fraser, 1987, Schrøder-Petersen and Simonsen, 2001). As discussed previously, tail biting appears to occur in two stages, a pre-injury and an injury stage, with the second stage resulting in a wound and bleeding, and at times the more severe consequences. Tail biting is likely to cause both acute and chronic pain in the short-term in the recipient due to the actual tail biting and consequently weight loss and infection in the longer term (Sutherland and Tucker, 2011).

The aetiology of the behaviour remains poorly understood. Tail biting is believed to be a multi-factorial syndrome (Hemsworth et al., 2018). There is considerable research on the possible risk factors, but few experimental and epidemiological studies. Factors influencing tail-biting appear to include external factors such as manipulable objects or substrates that can be chewed and manipulated, and particularly straw, space, stocking density and group size; indoor and outdoor climate; crowding, flooring, and food and feeding system; and internal factors such as genetics, gender, age and weight, gastrointestinal discomfort and health status (see reviews of Schroder-Petersen and Simonsen, 2001; ESFA, 2007; Taylor et al., 2010; Valros, 2017).

Understanding the causation of tail biting is difficult because of its sporadic and unpredictable occurrence and the fact that many factors have been associated with the behaviour. In a review of the literature, Taylor et al. (2010) proposed that tail biting may not be a single homogenous behavioural category but rather comprise at least three different forms of behaviour, termed 'two-stage' (pre- and damaging stages), 'sudden forceful' and 'obsessive' tail biting, that each has differing underlying motivations. It is useful to consider this proposal by Taylor et al. (2010) here because it highlights the difficulty in understanding the aetiology of tail biting and appreciating both future research direction and possible solutions. The 'pre-damage stage', where the tail is lightly mouthed and manipulated causing no visible damage or distress to the recipient, is considered to be a normal extension of the pigs' natural foraging and exploratory behaviour. However, at some point this manipulation may break the skin and once bleeding occurs, the problem can rapidly escalate as other pigs are attracted to the tail, leading to harmful injuries (the 'damaging stage'). Therefore, preventing pigs from developing a manipulatory interest in tails by reducing the level of foraging/exploratory behaviour, or providing more appropriate substrates for foraging/exploratory behaviour, may be the key to preventing this form of tail biting.

Sudden forceful tail biting involves a pig's tail being seized and forcefully pulled or bitten. This type of tail biting generally occurs without a prior period of gentle manipulation. Sudden forceful tail biting is most commonly observed in pigs that are unable to access a desired resource, such as feeders. Consequently, preventing this type of tail biting may require identification of situations which may result in competitive/frustrating interactions between pigs, such as competition for resources such as space, food, water and preferred lying areas.

Obsessive tail biting is similar to forceful tail biting in that tails are forcefully pulled and bitten; however, it appears to be performed by one or a few individual animals in the group that seem to be focussed or fixated on biting tails. While either of the other two forms of tail biting may proceed it, obsessive tail biters may find the act of tail biting more rewarding than accessing the resource, thus resulting in tail biting itself becoming a consummatory, rather than appetitive, behaviour. It is also possible since this behaviour is extensively performed, and its occurrence is similar in frequency and intensity to that of stereotypies, that a degree of pathological change has taken place, for example with a dietary or health problem.

4.5.1 Enrichment and tail biting

Current research attention in EU is on the use of manipulable enrichment to reduce the welfare risks in pigs; including tail biting (D'Eath et al., 2014, Valros et al., 2016, Larsen et al., 2016b, Munsterhjelm et al., 2015b). As part of the shift away from tail docking, the EU's Council Directive 2008/120/EC has made it mandatory to provide 'pigs with permanent access to a sufficient quantity of material to enable proper investigation and manipulation activities, such as straw, hay, wood, saw-dust, mushroom compost, peat or a mixture of such, which do not compromise the health of the animal. A study on 93 commercial pig farms in Finland showed that farms that provided thick straw bedding with less than 50% of solid barren space had a lower prevalence of tail biting, compared to the ones that provided thin bedding, or no bedding (Munsterhjelm et al., 2015b). A Danish study also found straw to be equally effective in reducing the prevalence of tail biting as tail docking (Larsen et al., 2016b). While tail-docked pigs with straw bedding had the lowest level of tail biting, straw bedding does not eliminate tail biting. Since highly valued resources when given as enrichment can increase competition and consequent frustration in pigs that fail to access them, it is important to provide sufficient quantity of the enrichment (Scott et al., 2007).

The European Food and Safety Association in their recent scientific review of pig welfare acknowledged that bedding material such as straw is more effective in reducing tail biting compared to other manipulable form of enrichment (EFSA, 2014). Extended studies on the use of straw as enrichment have shown that it is more effective when replenished daily, probably because clean and fresh straw is more appealing than old and moist (Hunter et al., 2001, Moinard et al., 2003). Comparative studies on enrichments have also shown that both compost rack (Beattie et al., 2001) and straw bedding (Courboulay et al., 2009) were more effective in reducing the percentage of tail injuries in pigs than hanging toys (Scott et al., 2006, Van de Weerd et al., 2006), rubber hose and chains (Zonderland et al., 2008).

In an epidemiological study, Moinard et al. (2003) found increased tail biting in farms that had not provided straw in the creep area during lactation than those providing straw at least once daily in the creep area. However, there is evidence that pigs that had access to enrichment during lactation, but not later in life are at higher risk of tail injuries due to tail biting (Munsterhjelm et al., 2009, Ruiterkamp, 1985). Clearly the long-term effects of enrichment in early life on subsequent tail biting require research.

4.4.2 Feeding and tail biting

While Hunter et al. (2001) found that pigs fed a pellet diet have increased risk of tail biting, Palander (2016) and Taylor et al. (2010) found that pigs fed a liquid diet are also at an increased risk of tail biting. However, due to the different composition of the diets in these studies, it is unclear whether the form of the feed or its composition is associated with the increases the risk of tail biting. Epidemiological studies have found restricted feeder space to be another risk factor for tail biting (Hunter et al., 2001, Moinard et al., 2003). In commercial setting, pigs that cannot feed simultaneously may show 'sudden-forceful' frustration driven tail biting (Taylor et al., 2010, Palander, 2016). The implication of competition at feeding is also shown by the fact that a high proportion of tail biting occurs around the feeder (Sutherland et al., 2009, Palander, 2016). Finnish producers that raise their pigs without tail docking highly rate the importance of long-trough feeding, whereby all pigs have enough space to eat at the same time (Valros et al., 2016). Furthermore, the producers also ranked feeder space allowance as one of the most important preventative factors for tail biting. Providing double or multi-space feeders has been shown to reduce the risk of tail biting (Hunter et al., 2001), while automated feeder system with more than five pigs per feeder space increased the risk of tail biting (Moinard et al., 2003). Most of the commercial pig farms in Australia deliver feed using automated feeder system and since group housing is the most common practice, it likely that each feeder space is utilized by more than five pigs, which might be a contributing factor in tail biting. Providing higher feeder space either by increasing number of automated feeders per pen or by providing longer feeder troughs may reduce the need for tail docking: In addition to reducing tail biting, other behavioural vices related feed-driven frustration may be reduced.

Housing condition and designs and tail biting

Controlling the temperatures during extreme weather conditions reduces the risk of tail biting (Schrøder-Petersen and Simonsen, 2001, D'Eath et al., 2014) and hence may eliminate the need to perform tail docking. Use of artificial ventilation has been shown to be associated with reduced risk of tail biting, as such both Finnish and Dutch farmers have ranked stable climatic condition as of the most important risk factor in tail biting (Bracke et al., 2013, Valros et al., 2016). Another target area to reduce the risk of tail biting is floor design. Fully or partly slatted floors are associated with increased risk of tail biting compared to solid floors (Schrøder-Petersen and Simonsen, 2001, Moinard et al., 2003, Palander, 2016). This could potentially be due to lack of or low levels of bedding used on slatted floor or higher level of noxious gases in slatted floor systems (Schrøder-Petersen and Simonsen, 2001). Hence providing bedding material in each pen might be beneficial to the pigs in more than one way.

4.5.3 Training and early detection

Early detection of tail biting is critical in isolating its incidences to fewer pigs and preventing an outbreak, and further reducing the need to perform tail docking (Valros, 2018). Four main behaviours have been recognized as potential predictors of tail biting: increased restlessness (Ursinus et al., 2014), changes in interaction with pen mate or rooting material (Zonderland et al., 2011, Ursinus et al., 2014), lowered tail position (Munsterhjelm et al., 2013, Larsen et al., 2016b, D'Eath et al., 2018) and reduction in daily feed intake (Wallenbeck and Keeling, 2013, Munsterhjelm et al., 2016). A study conducted by

(Munsterhjelm et al., 2015b) found that pigs consequently had bitten tails had reduced feed intake almost 2-3 weeks before the damaged tail was identified by farm stockpeople. Raising awareness amongst stockpeople regarding these behavioural changes may help manage tail biting more effectively and perhaps avoid the need for tail docking. In order to enable countries to phase out tail docking, future research needs to focus on potential methods of remotely detecting the predictors of tail biting automatically, such as the cameras used by D'Eath et al. (2018) to successfully detect tail posture in pigs. Researchers have proposed different avenues that could be explored in order to facilitate early detection of tail biting such as: automatic activity sensor at an animal or pen level (Larsen et al., 2016b), automatic feeder that can measure feeding changes at an individual pig level (Valros, 2018), measuring quantitative and temporal changes in the above-mentioned behaviours in relation to tail biting to help develop algorithm for automatic detection at commercial level (Valros, 2018). Further research is needed to be done on commercial farms assessing the practicality and cost effectiveness of using targeted intervention by identifying 'high risk' individuals within each group rather than making changes to each pig (D'Eath et al., 2014).

Conclusions, recommendations and future research on contentious behavioural and physiological conditions for all classes of pigs

Gastric ulceration, which can result in a failure to thrive and sudden death, is a common welfare problem in slaughter pigs and breeding sows. Finely grounded pelleted feed is a risk factor and provision of straw can reduce the prevalence of gastric ulceration.

Lameness is a major welfare concern because of the likely pain and discomfort for extended periods. Quality of flooring is widely considered to be essential to pig welfare as it is likely to have a direct effect on foot health. In slatted floor areas, the slat and gap widths should be appropriate to the claw size of the pigs to prevent injuries, while in solid floor areas, the surface should not be too smooth, but sufficiently rough to provide some abrasion to avoid excessive hoof growth.

Stereotypies may develop in long-term conflict or thwarting situations, and there is evidence that stereotypies can develop in response to barren or restricted environments as well as feed restriction and restricted foraging opportunities. The implication of stereotypies on pig welfare is contentious. A major review of the extensive literature on human and animal stereotypies and their links to welfare found evidence that increased stereotypies can be associated with reduced welfare, increased welfare or no change in welfare. Nevertheless, stereotypies generally indicate either a present problem for the animal or a past problem that has resolved. With the practice of restricted feeding of gestating sows, strategies to increase foraging and feeding times will reduce hunger and the likely development of oral stereotypies, such as oral stereotypic licking, bar-biting and sham chewing or vacuum chewing. With intensive, indoor and non-bedded systems in current pig production systems, providing opportunities to foraging in terms of searching and chewing for example with straw has been shown to reduce oral stereotypies. With the extensive use of fully- or partially-slatted, non-bedded and non-enriched environments in Australian pig production, further research is clearly required to investigate functional enrichment.

Tail biting is likely to cause both acute and chronic pain in the short-term in the recipient due to the actual tail biting and consequently weight loss and infection in the longer term is a potentially serious welfare problem for growing-finishing pigs. Tail biting is believed to be a multi-factorial syndrome

factors influencing tail-biting appear to include external factors such as manipulable objects or substrates that can be chewed and manipulated, and particularly straw, space, stocking density and group size; indoor and outdoor climate; crowding, flooring, and food and feeding system; and internal factors such as genetics, gender, age and weight, gastrointestinal discomfort and health status. Tail-biting may not be a single homogenous behavioural category but rather comprise at least three different forms of behaviour, that each have differing underlying motivations. As concluded by Taylor et al. (2011) solutions to tail biting need to be tailored to tackle different types of tail-biting, and farmers and researchers should seek to identify more precisely the type of outbreak that is observed.

5. General management practices of pigs

5.1 Breeding for better welfare

In an intensive production system, there is a continuous need to achieve more sustainable economic and environmental gain without any negative impact on the welfare of animals. Selective breeding is one such means of obtaining a cumulative change, which can benefit one generation to the next (Turner et al., 2018). Despite the need to keep welfare of animals in mind, the main focus of pig breeding programs is productivity (Rauw et al., 1998). For example, successful breeding programs in pigs have achieved an annual improvement in growth rate of 5g/pig/day, which when accrued over decades of genetic selection is a dramatic change to productivity (Hermesch et al., 2015). However, selection for or against certain welfare traits in pigs is more challenging than perhaps selection for improved productivity, as pigs have large individual variations in their expression of negative welfare (Turner et al., 2018). This is potentially because traits that have major welfare implications are under both genetic and epigenetic control as a result of interactions between multiple genes (Balaban et al., 1996). One of the main advantages of improving animal welfare through genetic selection is that the traits can be improved without any major changes to the commercial farm itself, making it an economically viable option (Turner et al., 2018). Even though breeding programmes are not covered by the current code of practice in pig welfare, they play important role in addressing some of the main welfare shortfalls caused by the commercial production system. There are few studies that have looked at the heritability of certain welfare indicator traits such as; aggression, tail biting, neonatal mortality etc.

5.1.1 Genetic selection against aggression

The dynamic social environment of pigs housed in groups with conspecifics of similar competitive ability (i.e. similar in weight and size) without any means of escape is contradictory to their natural habitat, where living with an unfamiliar pig is uncommon and as such a gradual process (Mauget, 1981). Display of aggression to establish dominance is common amongst the wild boar, however, in commercial systems, aggression is displayed by pigs at all stages of production and its severity is more pronounced causing obvious skin lesions (Turner et al., 2006, Verdon and Rault, 2018). Even though there is variation in aggression within pig breeds, there is a positively skewed distribution amongst a small proportion of pigs that engage in high levels of aggression in every population (Turner et al., 2009, Desire et al., 2015). Certain aggression traits, such as the location and number of skin lesions have a heritability as high as growth rate, hence recording the location and number of skin lesions can be a fast way to predict genetic propensity of pigs to engage in aggressive behaviour (Turner et al., 2009). Current work on genetic programs against aggression focuses on selecting against skin lesions that will reduce the amount of active aggressiveness a pig might display, however this may reduce genetic predisposition of pigs to grow rapidly (Desire et al., 2015). Selection for reduced aggression in pigs is feasible and desirable, but as shown by d'Eath et al. (2009b), other behaviours such as general activity and ease of handling may have a positively correlated response to some degree, with possible implications for animal production and welfare. Although Løvendahl et al. (2005) found no genetic relationship between sow aggressiveness and maternal behaviour, research in this area is lacking. Therefore, the correlated responses on other traits from the genetic selection against aggression needs to be fully understood, and the desirable behaviours possessed by sows of low aggressiveness need to be defined and the heritability estimated (Verdon et al., 2015). One of the main barriers in implementing such genetic selection is the ethical justification to breed against a behaviour that is natural and inherent to a species (Turner et al., 2018).

5.1.2 Genetic selection against tail biting

The propensity for tail biting seems to be lowly heritable and as such is observed more commonly in some breeds (e.g. Landrace pigs) (Breuer et al., 2005). Estimating heritability of sporadically occurring traits, such as tail biting is limited, as biters form only a fraction of the population and would require a large sample sizes to get substantial data. It means that, if a large sample size was obtained, the heritability of tail biting may in fact be higher than what is reported in the literature and that its potential of a genetic selection is underestimated (Turner et al., 2018). Another avenue of isolating genetic differences in tail biting population of pigs (including victims of tail biting) is using molecular genetic markers. Literature reports differences in single nucleotide polymorphism (SNP) of tail biters and their victims to the non-biting controls housed in the same pen (Wilson et al., 2012). Further research is needed to validate differences in these genetic markers on a larger population across different commercial farms. This may help select for pigs that have the genetic ability to avoid the delivery or receipt of tail biting (Turner et al., 2018).

5.1.3 Genetic selection to reduce neonatal mortality

Even after decades of intensifying pig production, the rates of piglet mortality, including still-births remain as high as 20% (Turner et al., 2018). To date, breeding programmes have focussed on increasing the litter size, which has simultaneously increased neonatal mortality (Rutherford et al., 2013). To address this issue, recent breeding programmes have expanded their selection criteria to include neonatal survival in addition to number of piglets born. So far, this inclusion hasn't reduced the piglet mortality rate, but it has increased the number of pigs weaned/litter (Roehe et al., 2009; 2010; Su et al., 2007). Another breeding benchmark that can be used to reduce piglet mortality is reducing intralitter variations in birth weights (Damgaard et al., 2003; Rydhmer, 2000). Finally, one key determinant of piglet survival is maternal behaviour, especially with the shift towards farrowing pens in which piglet crushing by sows remain as one of the main cause of piglet mortality (Morrison et al., 2011, Turner et al., 2018). Therefore, breeding programmes to improve piglet survival should be in conjunction with selecting for sows with improved maternal behaviour (Baxter et al, 2011; Grandinson et al, 2005).

5.1.4 Genetic selection for better maternal behaviour

The current genetic selection to achieve higher productivity, as discussed earlier has increased the demands on sows during preweaning period (Grandinson, 2005). With the current shift towards farrowing pens, piglet crushing by sows remain one of the main cause of piglet mortality during preweaning period (Baxter and Edwards, 2018). Therefor breeding programmes to improve piglet mortality should be in conjunction with selecting for sows with improved maternal behaviour (Baxter et al., 2011; Grandinson et al., 2005). The main features of good maternal behaviour considered during genetic selection are: bonding behaviour between sow and offspring, nursing behaviour, responsiveness to piglets' distress call and attentiveness towards offspring (Grandinson, 2005).

A large-scale study of a Swedish Yorkshire breeding herd investigating genetic variations in sows' response to screaming piglets found very low heritability of this maternal behaviour (Grandinson et al., 2003). However, there was a high genetic correlation between piglet screams and high piglet survival rate. This indicates that selecting sows with a strong maternal response during a piglet scream test could improve early piglet survival rate (Grandinson et al., 2003). A study by Valros et al. (2002)

found nursing pattern was unique to each sow, indicating a genetic aspect to nursing behaviour. The study found that the frequency of successful nursing had positive correlation to piglet growth and survival rate (Valros et al., 2002). Improving maternal behaviour by genetic selection may be one of the key determinants of successful farrowing in large group pens as well as in outdoor housing. Further emphasis needs to be given to good record keeping of certain positive maternal behaviour as it may aid in selecting the right sows for specific needs or productive systems (Grandinson, 2005).

Conclusions, recommendations and future research on breeding for better welfare

Current focus of pig breeding programmes is mainly driven by market needs and economic benefit; however, future research needs to include welfare-relevant traits to help complement, and in some instances, resolve the effects of productivity based genetic selection. Future research should also focus on selecting sows with a better ability to regain body condition after lactation and reproductive function after weaning as this may have a flow on effect on piglet growth or survival.

5.2 On farm euthanasia of pigs

Pig farmers are required to have an efficient method of on-farm euthanasia for sick or injured pigs at all stages of production cycles (Turner and Doonan, 2010). The current Australian Model Code of Practice for the Welfare of Animals – Pigs states that the method of euthanasia must cause a sudden unconsciousness with death occurring when unconscious and it must be performed by a competent person who is suitably trained to perform the euthanasia practice. Acceptable methods are carbon dioxide gas inhalation, anaesthetic overdose, gunshot, penetrating captive bolt and blunt force trauma to the head (for piglets up to 3 weeks old). The New Zealand Pigs - Animal Welfare Code of Welfare 2010requires pigs to be killed by a person competent in the handling and killing of pigs and death must be confirmed by inspection of the animal. When a pig needs to be killed it must be handled, restrained and killed in such a manner as to minimise unnecessary pain and distress prior to death. The Canadian Code of Practice for the Care and Handling of Pigs requires consultation with a licensed veterinarian, and an on-farm written euthanasia plan to facilitate timely on-farm euthanasia to be developed and followed. Individuals who euthanize pigs must be trained in the appropriate euthanasia methods. The UK's Codes of Recommendations for the Welfare of Livestock: Pigs require stunning using a captive bolt pistol, concussion stunner or electrical stunner after which it must be followed by bleeding - or pithed - without delay (regulation 14 and Schedules 5 (Part II) and 6). If the animal is stunned and bled, the operation must be carried out by a slaughterman licensed for these operations (Schedule 1), unless the owner is slaughtering an animal for his own consumption; or killed by a free bullet (regulation 15 and Schedule 5 Part III); the animal should be killed with a single shot to the head.

This section of the review utilises and adds to the review by Gonyou et al. (2012b) on euthanasia. Euthanasia refers to a humane and painless death; rapid loss of consciousness should be followed by brain death, loss of breathing and cardiac arrest (AVMA, 2007). The assessment of animal welfare during euthanasia is focused primarily on the degree and duration of negative emotional states such as pain and distress, because aspects of the nature of the animal and its normal biological function are irrelevant at this time (Gonyou et al., 2012b). The effectiveness of methods for on-farm euthanasia of pigs is assessed with regard to the duration of time until loss of consciousness and subsequent death, the size of the animal, stockperson safety, ease of application and cost.

According to the AVMA (2007) death can be induced by either hypoxia, chemical depression of the central nervous system, or physical destruction of brain tissue. Euthanasia by hypoxia is a gradual decrease of oxygen levels in the blood and brain, leading to a state of unconsiousness which is followed by respiratory and cardiac failure (Velarde et al., 2007a, Velarde and Dalmau, 2017). An overdose of

anaesthetic results in a depression of the central nervous system resulting in unconsciousness followed by death due to cardiac arrest and/or depression of the respiratory system. The physical destruction of brain tissue (or depolarization of neurons by electrocution) results in a rapid loss of consciousness and subsequent death when brain structures that control consciousness, as well as those controlling cardiac and respiratory function, are affected (Blackmore and Delany, 1988). Depending on the size of the animal, some euthanasia methods (e.g. the non-penetrating captive bolt gun) require a secondary step (such as exsanguination) to kill the animal after it is rendered unconscious (Gonyou et al., 2012b).

Euthanasia also involves two important considerations; determining when to euthanise an animal and assessing sensitivity (unconsciousness or insensibility). The decision to euthanize a pig is most commonly reliant on the degree of suffering a compromised pig is experiencing and the chances of recovery. This decision is important to consider in low-birth weight piglets (lkg) that have a considerably higher chance of mortality before weaning than heavier piglets (Quiniou et al., 2002, Gondret et al., 2005). Low birth weight has been found to be associated with increased incidence of health problems and poor body condition, as well as decreased survival to weaning in piglets (Fix et al., 2010). Furthermore, weight at weaning and post-weaning has been shown to increase with increasing birth weight (Smith et al., 2007). Morrow et al. (2006) reported that high rates of mortality (if not euthanased) were found in piglets who experienced difficulty getting to feed and water, and those with swollen joints, lameness and hernias. These studies concluded that euthanasia of low birth weight piglets and of compromised piglets at weaning presenting the above condition is beneficial in terms of decreased suffering of the compromised piglets, improved overall herd welfare and increased economic viability (Smith et al., 2007, Morrow et al., 2006).

Insensibility is a temporary or permanent loss of brain function such that an animal is unable to perceive and respond to sensations, including pain, that is, a complete absence of awareness (Gonyou et al., 2012b). Following the application of a physical method of euthanasia, pigs will lose posture and may go into a tonic (rigid muscle extension) and/or a clonic (involuntary muscle contractions and spasms) phase of neuromuscular spasms. Whilst following euthanasia by gas inhalation, pigs will remain limp after losing posture (Grandin, 2010). Immediately after euthanasia, it is important to assess signs of sensibility to ensure that the animal is unconscious and dies without regaining sensibility (Gonyou et al., 2012b). For death to occur without pain or a return to consciousness, irreversible damage needs to be caused to the neural tissue in the brain stem, cerebral cortex and thalamus. The brain stem, cerebral cortex and thalamus are the regions of the brain involved with arousal and consciousness in mammals (Seth et al., 2005), and the brain stem is also involved in autonomic function such as control of respiration and heart rate.

Brain stem function can be verified by assessing the corneal reflex (eye blinking when the cornea is touched), the palpebral reflex (eye blinking when the edge of the eyelid is touched) and the pupillary light reflex (pupil constriction in response to shining light in the eye) (Erasmus et al., 2010, Grandin, 2010). The absence of these reflexes is indicative of loss of consciousness (Hall et al., 2001, Smith et al., 2008). Their presence does not however necessarily indicate that the pig is sensible, as is the case with head-only stunning when only the cerebral cortex is affected (Vogel et al., 2011, Smith et al., 2008). Therefore, other indicators such as the absence of spinal reflexes (e.g. response to nose-pricks, anal reflex, toe and claw reflex) and measures such as rhythmic breathing and regular heart rate are useful ways to determine whether euthanasia has been effective (Erasmus et al., 2010, Kaiser et al., 2006).

5.2.1 Piglets

Anaesthetic overdose is deemed a humane method of euthanasia for all pigs, because it depresses the central nervous system resulting in unconsciousness and subsequent death due to respiratory and cardiac arrest (AVMA, 2007). However, the type of anaesthetic and method of administration can influence the effectiveness (Gonyou et al., 2012b). For example, Whiting et al. (2011b) found that in an emergency mass killing of early weaning piglets, 5 of 240 piglets regained consciousness and 11 of 240 failed to die following an intraperitoneal injection of pentobarbital (Euthanyl), and therefore the authors did not recommend the use of anaesthetic overdose in this type of application. In addition, because it requires the use of a controlled substance, anaesthetic overdose must be performed by a veterinarian and is expensive, potentially delaying euthanasia when compared to other methods. There may also be problems with carcass disposal because of anaesthetic residue (Gonyou et al., 2012b).

Pre-weaning mortality is largely attributed to the first few days of a piglet's life (Johnson and Marchant-Forde 2009; Cronin et al. 2014). Euthanasia of neonatal piglets is most commonly performed by blunt force trauma delivered to the head; a manual blow to the head, using either a heavy instrument or a hard-flat surface, that causes severe concussion and brain damage leading to immediate unconsciousness and death within minutes in young piglets (Chevillon et al., 2004a, Widowski et al., 2008b, Kells et al., 2018). Blunt force trauma is considered a very effective means of euthanasia for neonates (if performed correctly), economically viable, convenient and safe for stock people given that the blow is applied accurately to the top of the head, with sufficient force and determination (Widowski et al., 2008). However, this method is aesthetically unappealing, emotionally difficult for the stockperson, and may not be well received by the public and consumers (Daniels, 2010)Morrow et al., 2010). The AVMA (2007) recommends only using blunt force trauma for young piglets, less than 3 weeks of age.

Chevillon et al. (2004a) evaluated blunt force trauma to the head as a euthanasia method for piglets under 8kg (using a 0.5kg hammer) and piglets between 8-25kg (using a 1.5kg hammer). The authors reported that after the blow to the head, all piglets immediately lost consciousness; they collapsed instantly, did not vocalise and their pupils were dilated. While the piglets showed convulsions and spasms, they all became motionless within 1.5 minutes (<8kg piglets) and 4 minutes (8-25kg piglets), and cardiac arrest occurred within 10 minutes in all piglets with no return to sensibility (Chevillion et al., 2004a). Similar results were found in a study by Widowski et al. (2008b) in low viability newborn piglets (<24 hours of age). Manual blunt force trauma was delivered by holding the piglets' hind legs and firmly striking the top of their heads against a flat hard surface. All piglets were immediately unconscious, and no piglets showed a return to sensibility; they showed leg movements for 1.14±0.12 minutes and cardiac arrest occurred after 2.85±0.31 minutes (Widowski et al., 2008b). In the study by Widowski et al. (2008b), five stock people performed piglet euthanasia and it was reported that the piglets euthanised by one of the stock people had lower skull fracture scores than all other stock people. This result suggests that blunt force trauma may not be consistent and depends on the force the stock person applies to the piglet's skull. In addition, the authors suggested that given that this method is likely to be unpleasant for some stock people to perform, it may result in a delay in the euthanasia of compromised piglets (Widowski et al., 2008b). However, if performed with sufficient force and determination, blunt force trauma to the head is very effective in causing immediate unconsciousness followed by death without a return to sensibility in neonatal piglets (Gonyou et al., 2004).

Euthanasia with a captive bolt gun inflicts a concussion that causes irreversible damage to the brain stem leading to death (Blackmore & Delany, 1988). There are two types of captive bolt guns, penetrating and non-penetrating. There is considerable variation in the design of captive bolt guns that may affect the amount of force and damage they deliver (Woods et al., 2010a, Woods et al., 2010b). For penetrating captive bolt guns this includes the length of the penetrating bolt, the muzzle design and the size of cartridge or pressure settings. For non-penetrating captive bolt guns this involves the muzzle size, shape and stroke length of the bolt head and size of cartridge or pressure settings (Gonyou et al., 2012b). For both types of captive bolt gun, the pig is restrained as the shot is directed at the midline of the forehead, 4-5 cm above eye level with the gun directed perpendicular to the forehead (Chevillon, 2005, Gonyou et al., 2012b); however, Woods et al. (2010b) suggests that different gun designs may need adjustments to the placement on the skull.

Finnie et al. (2003) found that the impact to the brain of a non-penetrating captive bolt gun on the left temporal region in anesthetised 15-18kg piglets was not able to cause sufficient brain damage to kill the pigs; indicating the importance of correct placement of the gun to the front of the piglets' head. For non-penetrating captive bolt guns to be effective without a secondary step, the impact must provide enough force to result in sufficient damage to the brainstem to cause depression of the cardiac and respiratory systems (Gonyou et al., 2012b). A study by Widowski et al. (2008b) evaluated the use of a pneumatic non-penetrating captive bolt gun with a round-bolt head for euthanasia of neonatal piglets (<24 hours). The piglets received two shots, one on the frontal bone and the second one immediately afterwards on the back of the skull. All piglets were found to become immediately insensible, however some piglets showed signs of returning to consciousness (Widowski et al., 2008). In a similar study on neonatal piglets (<3 days) using the same gun modified to have a cone-shaped bolt head with a greater depth of depression, Casey-Trott et al. (2010) found that all piglets became insensible immediately and none showed signs of regaining consciousness. Thus, the shape of the bolt head, the depth of depression at the point of impact, and the force applied all appear to determine the effectiveness of the non-penetrating captive bolt gun euthanasia method (Gonyou et al., 2012b).

In another study where the age of piglets was not specified, a non-penetrating captive bolt gun was found to be the most effective method of euthanasia, when compared to manual blunt force trauma, a lethal dose of pentobarbital (intra-peritoneal injection) and shooting with a rifle (Whiting and Marion, 2011a). A number of large scale studies, both in experimental and commercial settings, by (Woods et al., 2010b, Woods et al., 2011b) also found non-penetrating captive bolt guns to be an effective one-step euthanasia method for pigs weighing 2-10kg. Clonic movements occurred for an average of 1.7 minutes and heart beats stopped 3.9 minutes after firing of the captive bolt gun.

A penetrating captive bolt gun was also found to be an effective method for euthanasia of piglets (8-25kg) in a study by Chevillon et al. (2004a). All piglets lost consciousness immediately and no piglets regained sensibility whether or not exsanguination was performed. Local haemorrhaging occurred in all piglets as well as spasms, convulsions and leg movements. Piglets became motionless within 1.5 minutes and cardiac arrest occurred within 6 minutes (Chevillon et al., 2004a).

Non-penetrating and penetrating captive bolt guns have been found to be effective in euthanising piglets (immediate loss of consciousness with irreversible brain damage and death), commercially available, are safe for stock people and cost per pig is fairly inexpensive; however, training is necessary (Chevillon et al., 2004b). However, these methods can only be performed one animal at a time and often requires the human operator to hold or restrain the animal, which makes it highly dependent

on the training and skills of the operator. It is critical that placement on the skull be appropriate for the type of device and that there is a proper match of equipment to the size and age of the animal (Gonyou et al., 2012b).

Electrical stunning by placing electrodes on the head and chest of the pig and allowing sufficient current to flow through the brain is commonly used in slaughterhouses (Faucitano, 2010). However, loss of consciousness is reversible unless a second step to kill the pig is performed within 15 seconds (McKinstry and Anil, 2004). Electrical stunning is inefficient in piglets because the resistance around the skin can be less than that across the body, which causes the electrical current to flow on the skin's surface rather than through the body (Rault et al., 2013).

Gas inhalation is another method of euthanasia for piglets. Carbon dioxide (CO_2) is the most commonly used gas for gas inhalation in euthanasia and slaughter of pigs and piglets. Prolonged exposure to a concentration of 80-90% CO_2 is regarded by the AVMA as an acceptable form of euthanasia for pigs (2013), although animal reactions to gas euthanasia appear to be closely tied to procedural details that vary widely within the industry and in published guidelines (Fielder et al., 2014). Carbon dioxide causes unconsciousness by reducing the pH of cerebrospinal fluid and subsequently death results from hypoxia (Raj, 1999). There are two methods of carbon dioxide inhalation; introducing the pigs into a pre-filled CO_2 chamber, and gradually filling the chamber with gas (Woods et al., 2010b).

Pigs of all ages appear to find inhalation of CO₂ highly aversive, and less humane than alternative euthanasia methods such as blunt force trauma. Carbon dioxide does not provide loss of consciousness, and following exposure to CO₂ pigs have been reported to display behavioural and/or physiological signs of distress (Raj and Gregory, 1996, Sutherland et al., 2017); escape and retreat attempts, gasping, head shaking and vocalizations observed frequently prior to loss of consciousness (Rodríguez et al., 2008, Chevillon et al., 2004a, Raj and Gregory, 1996, Sadler et al., 2011a, Sadler et al., 2014, Velarde et al., 2007a). Carbon dioxide causes two different aversive states; CO₂ sensitive receptors in the respiratory tract and the brain cause dyspnea (the feeling of breathlessness), and the irritation of mucus membranes by reaction of CO₂ with water to form carbonic acid causing a burning sensation (Rodríguez et al., 2008, Troeger and Woltersdorf, 1991).

Neonatal pigs reportedly find CO₂ less aversive and they succumb to it faster than weaned pigs, however fast flow rates are recommended (Sadler et al., 2014). The concentration of CO₂ and whether the pig is exposed to a prefilled chamber or with a gradual fill of the gas influence its effectiveness (Gonyou et al., 2012b). Growing-finishing pigs exposed to different concentrations of CO₂ (40% - 90%) showed less aversive reactions, including high locomotor activity, escape attempts, respiratory distress and vocalisations, for a shorter time after immersion as the gas concentrations increased (Raj and Gregory, 1996, Terlouw et al., 2006, Troeger and Woltersdorf, 1991). Sadler et al. (2011a) exposed weaned piglets using 100% CO₂ in either a pre-filled chamber (20%) or with flow rates of 20%, 35% or 50% chamber volume per minute. Piglets euthanised in the pre-filled chamber or with the fastest flow rate (50%) showed less aversive reactions and died sooner (last movement and loss of posture occurred sooner and there was less gasping) than if the flow rate was medium or low. These findings are supported by Sutherland (2010) who found that cessation of brain activity (as measured by electroencephalography [EEG]) and heart beat were significantly faster using a pre-fill method with a concentration of 90% CO₂ compared to gradual fill at a rate of 20% per minute.

Chevillon et al. (2004a) showed that exposure to 80% CO₂ for 6 minutes resulted in death of piglets, but it took at least 90 seconds for them to become unconscious. Sutherland (2010) found that loss of posture (used as a measure of loss of consciousness) occurred within 45 seconds (range 36 to 108 seconds) for piglets ranging from 1 to 6 weeks of age exposed to 90% CO₂ with no effect of piglet age. Similar results were found in a study by Sadler et al. (2011b) on piglet euthanasia using 100% CO₂ with neonatal piglets (0-3 days) and weaned piglets (16-24 days), although neonates lost consciousness faster than older piglets (99 versus 142 seconds, respectively). In addition, pigs gradually exposed to 90% CO₂ in a dip-lift system showed brain activity for up to 60 seconds after exposure (Rodriguez et al., 2008).

Gas euthanasia methods are commonly chosen when large groups of animals need to be humanely and efficiently put to death, for example during disease outbreaks (Fiedler et al., 2014). While the capacity to euthanise animals in groups is an advantage of gas inhalation (Atkinson et al., 2012), group euthanasia requires some consideration of both direct and conspecific effects (Fielder et al., 2014). Carbon dioxide exposure elevates stress hormones in pigs (Gregory et al., 1987, Forslid and Augustinsson, 1988, Kohler et al., 1998a) and increases vocalisation, agitation, and escape attempts (Raj 1999; Velarde et al 2007; Rodríguez et al 2008). Visual, auditory, and olfactory alarms have been shown to transmit fear and stress to conspecifics in proximity to an animal undergoing a distressing procedure (Vieuille-Thomas and Signoret, 1992, Talling et al., 1996, Amory and Pearce, 2000). The onset of insensibility following exposure to CO₂ varies between pigs in unpredictable patterns that can only be associated with individual variation (Holst, 2001). As such, during group CO₂ euthanasia there is the potential for conscious pigs to be exposed to violent convulsions, distress vocalisations, and alarm pheromones of conspecifics, to the possible detriment of welfare (Raj, 2006). A study by Fiedler et al. (2014) investigated the effects of chamber stocking rate (group sizes of one, two, four, or six pigs) on animal welfare and efficacy during CO₂ gas euthanasia of neonatal and weaned pigs (gradual fill 80% CO₂). Higher stocking rates were associated with higher CO₂ concentrations after gradual fill for both neonatal and weaned pigs. While there was no evidence of an effect of stocking rate on latencies to loss of posture or last movement in neonatal pigs, there was evidence of an effect on all measured efficacy variables in weaned pigs, with grouped pigs faster to succumb than solitary pigs. This study provided no evidence that isolation during gas euthanasia would benefit animal welfare.

Gas inhalation using alternative gases including argon (Ar), nitrogen (N_2) and nitrous oxide (N_2O), either administered alone or in combination with various concentrations of CO_2 or oxygen (O_2) have been studied. Chemically inert gases such as N_2 , Ar, and N_2O possess anaesthetic properties without imparting any sense of breathlessness (Raj and Gregory, 1996). Oxygen deprivation rather than CO_2 inhalation has been proposed as a potentially more humane option for piglet euthanasia (Freed, 1983). A means of inducing oxygen deprivation is exposure to argon gas (Ar), as it known to displace oxygen causing hypoxia, loss of consciousness, and death of neurons (Leary et al., 2013). However, Ar is an inert gas that is only found in minute quantities in the atmosphere and hence more expensive than CO_2 gas (Raj and Gregory, 1995).

In Raj (1999) and Raj et al. (1997), growing pigs that were exposed to 90% Ar did not show any hyperventilation during inhalation, whereas pigs exposed to either 30% CO_2 :60% Ar or 80-90% CO_2 did show hyperventilation. Ninety percent AR caused less aversion than N_2 with CO_2 (with greater CO_2 being associated with increased breathlessness), itself favoured over 90% CO_2 (Dalmau et al., 2010, Raj and Gregory, 1995). These studies suggest that pigs may find inhalation of Ar less noxious than CO_2 , which is consistent to findings in rodents (Leach et al., 2002). Conversely, (Sadler et al.,

2014b, Sadler et al., 2014c) reported that 100% CO₂ gas, rather than a 50:50 CO₂:Ar gas mixture, and fast, rather than slow, flow rates were advantageous for pig welfare and efficacy when euthanising both weaned and neonate pigs. Pigs exposed to Ar gas (50:50 CO₂:Ar gas mixture) showed increased vocalisation, increased righting and escape attempts compared to pigs that were exposed to CO₂ inhalation (Sadler et al., 2014, Sadler et al., 2014c, Sadler et al., 2014b). These contrasting findings indicate that further research is required before Ar can be used as means of piglet euthanasia in commercial farms.

Nitrous oxide (N_2O) has been shown to induce narcosis in piglets. Rault et al. (2013) concluded, based on behavioural observations, that a 2-step procedure in which pigs are anesthetized with a mixture of N_2O and O_2 before being euthanized by immersion in CO_2 was more humane than CO_2 alone. Whilst all studied gas mixtures were aversive compared with air (to various degrees), N_2O in O_2 appeared to be less aversive than N_2O , N_2 , or Ar all combined with low (30%) concentrations of CO_2 or 90% CO_2 by itself (Rault et al., 2013). Rault et al. (2015) reported that N_2O is considerably less aversive than CO_2 , and 90% N_2O can euthanize piglets. Latency to loss of awareness, based on isoelectric EEG, under 90% N_2O exposure was slightly longer than that when using 90% CO_2 , but because piglets did not show an aversive response to N_2O gas, the authors concluded it to likely be more humane (Rault et al., 2015). More recently, Smith et al. (2018) investigated the on-farm use of a two-step euthanasia method, using nitrous oxide (N_2O) for six minutes and then carbon dioxide (CO_2) on compromised 0-7 day-old piglets. When compared to CO_2 alone, piglets in the N_2O treatment displayed more behavioural signs of stress and aversion; squeals, escape attempts, and righting responses in a group setting. The authors concluded that, based on the study's findings, euthanising piglets for 6 minutes with N_2O and then CO_2 was not more humane than euthanizing with CO_2 alone (Smith et al., 2018).

Gas inhalant euthanasia provides the advantage of euthanising multiple animals at once using a chamber, hence minimizing social distress, and is more aesthetic than other procedures. However, a lack of conclusive outcome-based evidence means that further research is required to determine the most effective and humane gas or gas mixture for gas inhalation euthanasia of piglets.

5.2.2 Growing-finishing and Adult pigs

Most Codes of Practice discussed in this review recommend the use of either a penetrating captive bolt gun or gunshot to head for on-farm euthanasia of adult pigs. The literature is limited regarding on-farm euthanasia of adult pigs, with most focussed on appropriate methods for euthanasia in piglets or young pigs.

Anaesthetic overdose is considered to be a humane method of euthanasia for all pigs, due to its depression of the central nervous system that results in unconsciousness and subsequent death due to respiratory and cardiac arrest (AVMA, 2007). However, the type of anaesthetic and method of administration can influence the effectiveness. Furthermore, it requires the use of controlled substance, and therefore anaesthetic overdose must be performed by a veterinarian and is expensive, potentially delaying euthanasia when compared to other euthanasia methods. Anaesthetic residue may also result in problems with carcass disposal (Gonyou et al., 2012).

As noted previously, euthanasia with a captive bolt gun inflicts a concussion that causes irreversible damage to the brain stem leading to death (Blackmore and Delany, 1988). In the study by Chevillon et al. (2004a) the use of a penetrating captive bolt gun for euthanasia was investigated in growing pigs (>25kg) and sows with or without subsequent exsanguination. The study found that all pigs lost consciousness immediately and no pigs regained sensibility, despite whether exsanguination was performed or not. All pigs showed signs of local haemorrhaging, as well as spasms, convulsions and leg movements. Growing pigs became motionless within 2.5 minutes and cardiac arrest occurred within 7 minutes without exsanguination and within 2 minutes with exsanguination. In sows, exsanguination reduced the spasms and convulsions, and cardiac arrest occurred after 2-8 minutes and within 5-7 minutes without exsanguination (Chevillon et al., 2004a).

Woods and colleagues evaluated the use of a penetrating captive bolt gun as one-step euthanasia procedure for pigs 15-300kg in a large-scale study both in experimental and commercial settings Woods et al. (2010), Woods et al. (2011b). These studies found that colonic movements occurred for an average of 1.7 minutes and heart beats stopped 3.9 minutes after firing of the captive bolt gun regardless of body weight. A single shot of the penetrating captive bolt gun was found to be effective in euthanising pigs under 120kg; above this weight a secondary step was necessary. This was shown both through assessment of traumatic brain injury of the thalamus (which was not observed in pigs over 120kg) and assessments of physiological responses to euthanasia. It was also reported that the placement of the captive bolt gun required a different angle than that commonly recommended for gunshot euthanasia. Furthermore, the authors suggested that inadequate restraint of the animal or bolt gun placement may result in ineffective euthanasia.

The penetrating captive bolt gun appears to be fairly inexpensive and effective method of causing immediate loss of consciousness with irreversible brain damage and death of pigs less than 120kg, when performed by an operator with appropriate training. For mature sows and boars (>120kgs), a penetrating captive bolt gun can be used for stunning but a secondary step (exsanguination) is required to ensure death (Woods et al., 2010, NationalPorkBoard, 2008).

Electrical stunning, performed by placing electrodes on the head and chest of the pig and allowing sufficient current to flow through the brain, is commonly used in slaughterhouses (Faucitano, 2010). However, whilst electrical stunning results in a loss of consciousness, it is reversible unless a second step to kill the pig is performed within 15 seconds (McKinstry and Anil, 2004). When using an electrical stun of 150-200V for 3 seconds on pigs weighing 60-80kg, the return to corneal reflex was reportedly on average 37 seconds with a minimum of 18 seconds (Anil and McKinstry, 1998, McKinstry and Anil, 2004). For on-farm euthanasia, the second step is generally another electrocution to the heart which causes cardiac arrest and death of the pigs, rather than bleeding which is commonly performed in slaughterhouses (Gonyou et al., 2012).

There are two methods to euthanise pigs with electrocution: the two-step system in which the pig is stunned then killed with electrocution through the heart; and the one-step system which requires greater current and simultaneously electrocutes the brain and heart (Gonyou et al., 2012). The two-step system, requires two electrodes to be placed on either side of the head (in the area between the corner of the eye and the base of the ear) to ensure proper electric current flow through the brain (Anil and McKinstry, 1998, Eike et al., 2005, Faucitano, 2010). If the placement of the electrodes is incorrect and do not span the brain (e.g. if placed on either side of the jaw or the neck) an effective

stun may not occur (Anil and McKinstry, 1998). Once the first stun has been delivered, the electrodes are immediately moved from the pigs and placed on the chest (close to and spanning the heart) which will kill the pig through cardiac ventricular fibrillation (Woods et al., 2010).

The study by Chevillon et al. (2004b) investigated the use of a two-step electric euthanasia system on growing pigs (>25kg) and sows, which involved electrical stunning to the head (5 seconds) followed by electrocution to the heart (15 seconds). The first stun to the head resulted in immediate collapse and pupil dilation, and the second stun to the heart resulted in cardiac arrest within 1.5 minutes with the animals becoming immobile within 30 seconds. Vogel et al. (2011) studied the electrical stunning of market weight pigs using a commercially available stunning system (scissor-like clamp) with an application time of 3 seconds per electrocution at 313V and 2.3A. Approximately 30 seconds post-stun pigs were bled, at which time sensibility was assessed; no pigs showed rhythmic breathing, heartbeats, natural blinking, eye tracking to moving object or righting reflex. For two-step electrical stunning, the World Organization for Animal Health (OIE) recommends an electrode application of at least 3 seconds with a minimum of 125V for piglets younger than 6 weeks of age and 220V for pigs older than 6 weeks of age (OIE, 2010).

For one-step electrical stunning, simultaneous current flow through the head and the heart which results in immediate unconsciousness and death (Wotton et al., 1992), the OIE recommends using a minimum of 250V and applying the front electrode in front of the eyes and the rear electrode to the back, above or behind the heart for at least 3 seconds. Using a one-step head to back electrocution system with different placements of the rear electrodes, Wooton et al., (1992) euthanised finishing pigs with 300V at 50Hz for 3.5 seconds. The front most placement of the rear electrodes on the cervical vertebrae was the only placement that did not result in a 100% cardiac arrest; the other placements were further back on the thoracic vertebrae. Wotton et al. (1992) assessed cardiac fibrillation but did not measure signs of unconsciousness, because pigs were bled soon after euthanasia for carcass assessments. A study by Denicourt et al., (2009) examined the effectiveness of two methods of one-step electrocution in pigs ranging from 5-125kg using 110V for 5 seconds with electrodes placed at different contact points. The two methods tested both supplied current through the brain with a steel lasso attached to the upper jaw in conjunction with either an anal probe or a metal belt around the abdomen. Immediately after electrocution, all pigs showed dilated pupils, no corneal, nociceptive or respiratory reflexes and the electrocution induced cardiac fibrillation. However, it has been noted that this method of electrical stunning required considerable manipulation of the animal before euthanasia, and as such may not be humane (Denicourt et al., 2009).

Both one and two-step electrocution methods are efficient for an effective euthanasia of pigs without return to sensibility, with the one-step method requiring higher voltage (Gonyou and Brown, 2012a). However, the electrodes need to be kept clean, well designed and firmly applied to the skin before the current is started (Grandin, 2010, Sparrey and Wotton, 1997). This method of euthanasia is expensive and as such may not be practical for an on-farm use.

Gas inhalation using carbon dioxide is the method most commonly used to stun adult pigs before slaughter. For on-farm euthanasia of adult pigs, there has been some limited investigation into argon gas (Ar) as an alternative method for euthanasia as it is a non-irritant, odourless gas that is believed to cause loss of consciousness and death with little to no distress or aversion (Kells et al., 2018). A study by Raj and Gregory (1995) found that the pigs readily entered a chamber containing 90% Argon for food reward, but avoided the chamber that contained 90% CO₂. Even though, Ar is not aversive to

pigs and a better option in terms of welfare compared to 100% CO₂, pigs when exposed to Ar take twice as long to lose consciousness and as such, Ar might not be the best choice for on-farm euthanasia (Raj and Gregory, 1995, Kells et al., 2018). At present, gas inhalation does not appear to be an effective or practical on-farm method of euthanasia in adult pigs. A gunshot to the head has a similar mode of action as a penetrating captive bolt gun in that it causes a concussion and destroys vital parts of the brain, however it uses a free projectile (Blackmore and Delany, 1988). The animal needs to be restrained to ensure the appropriate positioning of the gun with the muzzle placed close to the animal's head and aimed towards the brain (AVMA, 2007; Longair et al. (1991). It is recommended to aim the gun at the front of the head (as with the captive bolt gun) or behind the ear but without the gun touching the head (Gonyou et al., 2012). These positions have been reported to be effective for euthanasia of large pigs by (Blackmore et al., 1995). A gunshot to the heart is not an accepted method of euthanasia without prior stunning because the animal will not lose consciousness immediately (Woods et al., 2010). While some scientific studies have been performed on the use of a shotgun to euthanise adult pigs, it is likely that if the animal is restrained, the shot is powerful enough and wellaimed, it will cause immediate insensibility and death in adult pigs (Gonyou and Brown, 2012a). There are however concerns for human safety (risk of ricochet), the person performing the euthanasia must be well trained, have a gun license and perform the euthanasia outdoors (AVMA, 2007). In the case of a compromised animal, it may be difficult to move it outdoors, and thus this method may not be the most appropriate for adult pig euthanasia.

Conclusions, recommendations and future research on on-farm euthanasia

Anaesthetic overdose is effective for a painless death in all classes of pigs, but euthanasia may be delayed because veterinary supervision and administration is required, and it is expensive. When applied with sufficient force, blunt trauma and non-penetrating captive bolt are effective methods of euthanasia for piglets and result in immediate unconsciousness and death. Penetrating captive bolt is effective as a single step method for euthanasia of pigs under 120kg. For mature sows and boars, penetrating captive bolt causes loss of consciousness, but a secondary step (e.g. exsanguination) is necessary to ensure death. All three methods of euthanasia are safe for the stockperson and cost effective, however highly dependent on the training and skills of the operator. Furthermore, blunt force trauma is likely to be unpleasant for some stock people to perform, and as such it may result in a delay in the euthanasia of compromised piglets.

Electrocution for pigs less than 2.3kg causes immediate death; an electric current flows through the brain resulting in unconsciousness and through the heart leading to cardiac arrest. This can be performed with a simultaneous electrocution of brain and heart, or in two-steps by electrocuting first the brain then the heart. Cost and maintenance of equipment may limit this euthanasia method.

Carbon dioxide (CO₂) is the most commonly used gas for gas inhalation euthanasia in piglets. Exposure to carbon dioxide (>80% CO₂), to a mixture of CO₂:argon, argon gas (90%) or nitrous oxide in either pre-filled chamber or with a high flow rate have all been found to be effective methods to kill pigs. However, CO₂ inhalation is highly noxious and causes signs of distress until loss of consciousness which may occur as long as 2 minutes following exposure to the gas. Piglets exposed to alternative gases or gas mixtures also show some signs of distress. A lack of conclusive outcome-based evidence means that further research is required to determine the most effective and humane gas or gas mixture for gas inhalation euthanasia of piglets. At present, gas inhalation does not appear to be an effective or practical on-farm method of euthanasia in adult pigs. When properly executed, gunshot to the head is effective for euthanasia in adult pigs, however human safety may be a concern.

6. Human resource management

The principle that management, including supervising and managing animals, affects farm animal welfare is widely recognised within the livestock industries. However, the manner in which management affects farm animal welfare, both directly and indirectly, and the impact of this influence are probably not fully appreciated. At the level of farm management, human resource management practices, including employee selection and training, and animal management practices, such as best practice in housing and husbandry, and implementation of welfare protocols and audits, all impact on farm animal welfare. At the stockperson level, together with the opportunity to perform their tasks well, stockpeople require a range of well-developed husbandry skills and knowledge to effectively care for and manage farm animals.

Technical skills and knowledge are important attributes of the work performance of stockpeople. Knowing and being skilled at the techniques that must be used to accomplish a task are clearly prerequisites to being able to perform that task and thus these job-related characteristics will be limiting factors on job performance in situations where specific technical skills and knowledge are required to perform the tasks. Furthermore, there is a considerable body of evidence of the effects of human interactions on farm animal fear and stress responses. There has been a number of recent reviews on the impact of stockperson attitudes and behaviour on animal fear, stress, productivity and welfare (Hemsworth and Boivin 2011; Hemsworth and Coleman 2011; Coleman and Hemsworth 2014; Hemsworth et al., 2018), and this section of the present review briefly reviews the research on the welfare implications of an improved human-animal relationship on pig welfare and the opportunities to improve this relationship and thus pig welfare.

6.1 Relationships between stockperson characteristics and pig welfare and pig productivity

There are three main lines of evidence that demonstrate that negative or aversive handling by affecting fear responses to humans can affect the welfare of farm animals: handling studies under controlled conditions; observed relationships in the field; and intervention studies in the field targeting stockperson behaviour. The concerns for the welfare of fearful farm animals arise since fear is a negative emotional experience (Mellor, 2012) and is widely considered an undesirable state of suffering (Jones and Waddington, 1992). These effects of stockperson behaviour on the welfare and productivity of farm animals, particularly pigs, will be briefly reviewed here.

6.1.1 Evidence from handling studies

Handling studies, predominantly on dairy cattle, pigs and poultry, show that negative or aversive handling, imposed briefly but regularly, will increase fear of humans and reduce the growth, feed conversion efficiency, reproduction and health of farm animals (see reviews by Hemsworth and Coleman 2011; Hemsworth et al. 2009; Waiblinger et al. 2006). Studies with pigs clearly demonstrate that a chronic stress response is implicated in these adverse effects on productivity since handling treatments which resulted in high fear levels, often produced either a sustained elevation in the basal free cortisol concentrations or an enlargement of the adrenal glands in pigs (see Hemsworth and Coleman 2011; Hemsworth et al., 2018).

6.1.2 Evidence from field observations

Field studies examining inter-farm correlations indicate sequential relationships between stockperson attitudes, stockperson behaviour, animal fear of humans and animal productivity. These studies have been reviewed in detail by Hemsworth and Coleman (2011) and Hemsworth et al. (2018) and the main findings are briefly described below.

First, negative inter-farm correlations have been consistently found between fear of humans, as assessed on the basis of the animal's behavioural response to an unfamiliar human in a standardized test, and the productivity of dairy cattle, pigs and poultry. In pigs, high fear responses were associated with reduced productivity in terms of reproductive performance of commercial sows.

Second, inter-farm correlations have been found between the behaviour of stockpeople and the fear of humans in farm animals. The frequent use of handling behaviours, which can be considered as negative in nature, was associated with high fear levels in farm animals. In the pig industry, these negative stockperson behaviours included slapping, hitting and pushing pigs. Conversely, the frequent use of handling behaviours, which can be considered as positive in nature, was associated with reduced fear levels in farm animals. In the pork industry, these positive stockperson behaviours included patting and stroking pigs as well as resting the hand on the pig's back when the opportunity arises.

Third, correlations have been found between stockperson attitudes and behaviour in the field. Questionnaires were used to assess the attitudes of the stockpeople on the basis of their beliefs about their behaviour and the behaviour of their animals. In general, positive attitudes to the use of petting, such as talking and stroking, and the use of verbal and physical effort to handle pigs were associated with reduced use of negative stockperson behaviour to pigs.

In addition to these human-animal relationships on farm, similar relationships have been observed at pig abattoirs as well as cattle and sheep abattoirs (Coleman et al. 2003, 2012; Hemsworth et al. 2011, 2016).

6.1.3 Evidence from intervention studies in the field

Studies in the dairy and pork industries have demonstrated that cognitive-behavioural training of stockpeople, in which the key attitudes and behaviour of stockpeople are targeted, can be successfully used to improve animal welfare and productivity. These intervention studies resulted in improvements in the attitudes and behaviour of stockpeople and, in turn, reductions in fear of humans and improvements in the milk yield of commercial dairy cows and the reproductive performance of commercial sows (Coleman et al. 2000; Hemsworth et al. 1994, 2002).

Cognitive-behavioural techniques basically involve retraining people in terms of their behaviour by firstly targeting both the beliefs that underlie the behaviour (attitude) and the behaviour in question and secondly, maintaining these changed beliefs and behaviours (Hemsworth and Coleman 2011). This process of inducing behavioural change is a comprehensive procedure in which all of the personal and external factors that are relevant to the behavioural situation are explicitly targeted.

6.2 A model of human-animal interactions in the livestock industries

As indicated above, there is a substantial body of evidence that the interactions between stockpeople and their animals can have a substantial effect on the behaviour, welfare and productivity of farm animals. Essentially, stockperson attitudes towards their animals and working with them, their beliefs about other people's expectations of them, and their beliefs about the extent to which they have control over their ability to appropriately interact with the animals determine the nature and extent of their interactions with these animals (Hemsworth and Coleman 2011; Coleman and Hemsworth 2014; Hemsworth et al. 2018). Furthermore, it is this history of stockperson interactions with the animal that leads to the development of a stimulus-specific response of farm animals to humans: through conditioning, farm animals may learn to associate humans with rewarding and punishing events that occur at the time of human-animal interactions and thus conditioned responses to humans develop. In situations in which stockperson interactions are poor, through animal fear and stress, both animal welfare and productivity are at risk.

Since attitudes are learned and because they are the main dispositional factor affecting volitional human behaviour, there are likely to be opportunities to manipulate human-animal interactions in the livestock industries in order to influence farm animal welfare and productivity, by improving the attitudes and behaviour of stockpeople towards farm animals.

6.3 Interactions between stockperson attitudes and behaviour and other job-related characteristics

Stockpeople clearly require a basic knowledge of both the requirements and behaviour of farm animals, and also must possess a range of well-developed husbandry and management skills to care for and manage their animals effectively. Therefore, while cognitive-behavioural training addressing the key attitudes and behaviour of stockpeople that affect animal fear is important in improving animal welfare, it is obvious that knowledge and skills training are also fundamental to improving the welfare of commercial livestock.

In addition to the direct effects of the stockperson's behaviour on animal welfare and productivity, stockperson attitudes and behaviour may also have indirect effects on animal welfare and productivity by affecting other important job-related characteristics, such as job satisfaction, work motivation and motivation to learn. In many industries outside agriculture, the effects of motivating factors on job satisfaction and, thus in turn, work motivation are well recognized. Hemsworth and Coleman (2011) have proposed that the attitude of the stockperson towards the animal may affect job-related characteristics, such as job satisfaction, work motivation, motivation to learn new skills and knowledge about the animal, which in turn may affect work performance of the stockperson. In fact, Coleman et al. (1998) in a study of pig stockpeople found that the willingness of stockpeople to attend training sessions in their own time was correlated with attitudes towards characteristics of pigs and towards most aspects of working with pigs. Job enjoyment and opinions about working conditions showed similar relationships with attitudes. Thus, the stockperson's attitudes may indeed be related to aspects of work apart from handling of animals and consequently improvements in stockperson attitudes towards animals may influence other important job-related characteristics such as job satisfaction, work motivation and motivation to learn.

6.4 Opportunities to improve human-animal relationships and farm animal welfare

The results of the intervention studies in the field, taken in conjunction with handling studies and field observations on the relationships between stockperson attitudes, stockperson behaviour, animal fear and animal productivity (see earlier), not only provide evidence of causal relationships between these stockperson and animal variables, but also provide a strong case for introducing stockperson training courses in the livestock industries that target the attitudes and behaviour of the stockperson.

Therefore, this research on human-animal relationships in animal production demonstrates the important role and responsibility of the stockperson in the development of human-animal relationships in the animal industries and thus underlines the need to understand not only these relationships but also the opportunities to improve them in order to safeguard animal welfare. The attitudes of stockpeople are amenable to change, so stockperson training can improve human-animal relationships in the livestock industries. Technical skills and knowledge are important attributes of the work performance of stockpeople and clearly training targeting these attributes is important in improving animal welfare and performance via the technical skills and knowledge competencies of stockpeople. Indeed, the results presented here suggest that both technical and cognitive-behaviour training are necessary to not only reduce the stress associated with handling and husbandry procedures involving humans, but also to improve the motivation in stockpeople to learn new technical skills and knowledge and to apply these competencies to the management of the animals under their care. The relationships between stockperson attitudes and behaviour on work performance, both direct via handling of animals and indirectly via important job-related characteristics such as job satisfaction, work motivation and motivation to learn, together with the obvious importance of technical skills and knowledge, highlight the need to include training targeting the attitudes and behaviours of stockpeople towards farm animals in conjunction with the technical skills and knowledge of stockpeople.

Conclusions, recommendations and future research on contentious behavioural and physiological conditions for human resource management

Irrespective of the housing system, the skills, knowledge and motivation of stock people to effectively care for and manage their animals are integral to the standard of welfare experienced by their animals. Attitudes influence not only the manner in which stock people handle pigs, but also their motivation to care for animals. Thus, training targeting technical skills and knowledge as well as the attitudes and behaviours of stock people should be a primary component of the human resource management practices at a farm.

7. Mitigation of risk in emergency situations

The Model Code of Practice should have provisions to minimize risk to pigs during emergency situations such as fire, extreme weather conditions, flooding and power or supply failure. In case of natural emergencies, the Australian Code of Practice states that:

- i) Action must be taken to detect, and cool heat distressed pigs
- ii) All buildings must have fire prevention measure in place in accordance with requirements of controlling authorities.
- iii) Approved firefighting equipment must be available for use in all pig accommodation. Large shelters that are difficult to service with fire equipment, pigs must have access to gates that can allow them to escape.

With regards to natural emergencies, the Code of Practice recommends that:

- i) During very hot weather (35 °C or more) and steps should be taken to alleviate distress and avoid deaths.
- ii) At temperatures above 38 °C, lactating and gestating sows should be checked regularly for signs of heat stroke and cool any animals that are affected.
- iii) Firebreak should be established around pasture for open-range systems and pig sheds when the risk of fire is high.
- iv) In regions with high summer temperatures risk mitigation measures should be put in place to reduce the risk of heat stress. This may include provision of shade, ventilation, wallows and water sprinkler.

With regards to delivery failure, the Model Code of Practice recommends that there should be contingencies to provide an alternate means of feed, in case of supply failure or delays in delivery. The Canadian and New Zealand Code of Practice requires farmers to have an emergency plans for alternate source of water and feeding available in case of equipment or power supply failure. Both the countries also require for the farmers to have emergency plan ready in case of natural emergencies such as fire (New Zealand) or freezing conditions (Canada).

The Australian Model Code of Practice for the Welfare of Animals – Pigs does not have any provision for emergency situations such as a disease outbreak or extreme natural disasters (e.g. bush fire, flooding) that requires large-scale evaluation or depopulation of the farm animals. Historical data on outbreaks shows that the best strategy to prevent them from becoming epidemic is rapid diagnosis, isolation and depopulation of infected herds and finally pre-emptive slaughter of herds that have been in contact with or located near infected herds (Stegeman et al., 2000). For example, until the 1980s, pigs in the Netherlands were frequently infected with classical swine flu. At first, they tried to control the outbreak by vaccinating pigs against swine flu, however it was found to be an ineffective strategy, which led them to employ tools for rapid diagnosis and eradication of infected herds. However, these strategies were proven to be ineffective yet again and the country was hit by swine flu epidemic in 1997, which ultimately led to a large-scale depopulation of millions of pigs. The only means by which they were able to control the epidemic was pre-emptive slaughter of herds that were either nearby or directly in contact with the infected herds.

Conclusions, recommendations and future research on contentious behavioural and physiological conditions for mitigation of risk

It is important to have contingency plans incorporated in the code of practice for large-scale depopulation of herds in case of an outbreak. The Code should also have a standard that requires

farmers to prepare and practice an emergency plan in case of natural disasters such as bush fires or flooding, relevant to their geographical location. Farmers should also be required to have a contingency plan in case of a power failure as that would impact the ventilation, heating and cooling of the sheds as well as automated drink and feed dispensers.

8. References

.

- ABOU-ISMAIL, U. A., BURMAN, O. H., NICOL, C. J. & MENDL, M. 2010. The effects of enhancing cage complexity on the behaviour and welfare of laboratory rats. *Behavioural Processes*, 85, 172-180.
- ABOU-ISMAIL, U. A. & MENDL, M. T. 2016. The effects of enrichment novelty versus complexity in cages of group-housed rats (Rattus norvegicus). *Applied Animal Behaviour Science*, 180, 130-139.
- AGRIBIZ 1999. Welfare implications and recommendations for outdoor sows. Pig Research and Development Corporation.
- AHMADI, B. V., STOTT, A., BAXTER, E., LAWRENCE, A. & EDWARDS, S. 2011. Animal welfare and economic optimisation of farrowing systems. *Animal Welfare*, 20, 57-67.
- ALGERS, B. & UVNÄS-MOBERG, K. 2007. Maternal behavior in pigs. *Hormones and behavior*, 52, 78-85.
- AMORY, J. & PEARCE, G. 2000. Alarm pheromones in urine modify the behaviour of weaner pigs. *ANIMAL WELFARE-POTTERS BAR-*, **9,** 167-176.
- ANDERSEN, I. L., BERG, S. & BØE, K. E. 2005. Crushing of piglets by the mother sow (Sus scrofa)—purely accidental or a poor mother? *Applied Animal Behaviour Science*, 93, 229-243.
- ANDERSEN, I. L., BØE, K. E. & KRISTIANSEN, A. L. 1999. The influence of different feeding arrangements and food type on competition at feeding in pregnant sows. *Applied Animal Behaviour Science*, 65, 91-104.
- ANDERSSON, K., BRUNIUS, C., ZAMARATSKAIA, G. & LUNDSTRÖM, K. 2012. Early vaccination with Improvac®: effects on performance and behaviour of male pigs. *Animal*, 6, 87-95.
- ANIL, L., ANIL, S. S., DEEN, J., BAIDOO, S. K. & WALKER, R. D. 2006a. Effect of group size and structure on the welfare and performance of pregnant sows in pens with electronic sow feeders. *Canadian journal of veterinary research*, 70, 128.
- ANIL, L., ANIL, S. S., DEEN, J., BAIDOO, S. K. & WHEATON, J. E. 2005. Evaluation of well-being, productivity, and longevity of pregnant sows housed in groups in pens with an electronic sow feeder or separately in gestation stalls. *American journal of veterinary research*, 66, 1630-1638.
- ANIL, L., BHEND, K. M., BAIDOO, S. K., MORRISON, R. & DEEN, J. 2003. Comparison of injuries in sows housed in gestation stalls versus group pens with electronic sow feeders. *Journal of the American Veterinary Medical Association*, 223, 1334-1338.
- ANIL, M. & MCKINSTRY, J. 1998. Variations in electrical stunning tong placements andrelative consequences in slaughter pigs. *The Veterinary Journal*, 155, 85-90.
- ANIL, S., ANIL, L. & DEEN, J. 2006b. Factors associated with shoulder lesions in breeding sows.
- APPLEBY, M. & LAWRENCE, A. 1987. Food restriction as a cause of stereotypic behaviour in tethered gilts. *Animal Science*, 45, 103-110.
- AREY, D. & EDWARDS, S. 1998. Factors influencing aggression between sows after mixing and the consequences for welfare and production. *Livestock Production Science*, 56, 61-70.
- AREY, D. & FRANKLIN, M. 1995. Effects of straw and unfamiliarity on fighting between newly mixed growing pigs. *Applied Animal Behaviour Science*, 45, 23-30.
- ATKINSON, S., VELARDE, A., LLONCH, P. & ALGERS, B. 2012. Assessing pig welfare at stunning in Swedish commercial abattoirs using CO. *Animal Welfare*, 21, 487-495.
- AVMA 2007. AVMA Guidelines on euthanasia. https://www.avma.org/KB/Policies/Pages/Euthanasia-Guidelines.aspx (accessed 20/07/2018).

- BALABAN, E., ALPER, J. S. & KASAMON, Y. L. 1996. Review Mean Genes and the Biology of Aggression: A Critical Review of Recent Animal and Human Research. *Journal of Neurogenetics*, 11, 1-43.
- BARNETT, J. 2003. Studying stress to assess animal welfare. Manipulating Pig Production, 107-114.
- BARNETT, J., BOTTCHER, R. & HOFF, S. Modifying the design of group pens with individual feeding places affects the welfare of pigs. Fifth international livestock environment symposium'.(Eds RW Bottcher, SJ Hoff) pp, 1997. 965-971.
- BARNETT, J., CHAMBERLAIN, T., HEMSWORTH, P. & FARRAN, I. 1999. Variation in biological traits of outdoor sows. *Manipulating pig production VII*, (Australasian Pig Science Association: Werribee, Vic.)
- **,** p. 33.
- BARNETT, J. & HEMSWORTH, P. 1991. The effects of individual and group housing on sexual behaviour and pregnancy in pigs. *Animal Reproduction Science*, 25, 265-273.
- BARNETT, J., HEMSWORTH, P., CRONIN, G., JONGMAN, E. & HUTSON, G. 2001. A review of the welfare issues for sows and piglets in relation to housing. *Australian journal of agricultural research*, **52**, 1-28.
- BARNETT, J., HEMSWORTH, P., CRONIN, G., NEWMAN, E., MCCALLUM, T. & CHILTON, D. 1992. Effects of pen size, partial stalls and method of feeding on welfare-related behavioural and physiological responses of group-housed pigs. *Applied Animal Behaviour Science*, 34, 207-220.
- BARNETT, J. & TAYLOR, I. 1997. Sequential versus concurrent feeding on acute and chronic stress responses in pigs. Livestock environment V, 2, 607-612.
- BARNETT, J. L. & HEMSWORTH, P. H. 2009. Welfare monitoring schemes: using research to safeguard welfare of animals on the farm. *Journal of Applied Animal Welfare Science*, 12, 114-131.
- BATES, J. L., KARRIKER, L. A., STOCK, M. L., PERTZBORN, K. M., BALDWIN, L. G., WULF, L. W., LEE, C., WANG, C. & COETZEE, J. F. 2014. Impact of transmammary-delivered meloxicam on biomarkers of pain and distress in piglets after castration and tail docking. *PloS one*, 9, e113678.
- BATOREK, N., ČANDEK-POTOKAR, M., BONNEAU, M. & VAN MILGEN, J. 2012a. Meta-analysis of the effect of immunocastration on production performance, reproductive organs and boar taint compounds in pigs. *Animal*, 6, 1330-1338.
- BATOREK, N., ŠKRLEP, M., PRUNIER, A., LOUVEAU, I., NOBLET, J., BONNEAU, M. & ČANDEK-POTOKAR, M. 2012b. Effect of feed restriction on hormones, performance, carcass traits, and meat quality in immunocastrated pigs. *Journal of animal science*, 90, 4593-4603.
- BAXTER, E., LAWRENCE, A. & EDWARDS, S. 2011. Alternative farrowing systems: design criteria for farrowing systems based on the biological needs of sows and piglets. *Animal*, 5, 580-600.
- BAXTER, E., LAWRENCE, A. & EDWARDS, S. 2012. Alternative farrowing accommodation: welfare and economic aspects of existing farrowing and lactation systems for pigs. *Animal*, 6, 96-117.
- BAXTER, E. M., ANDERSEN, I. L. & EDWARDS, S. A. 2017. Sow welfare in the farrowing crate and alternatives. *Advances in Pig Welfare*. Elsevier.
- BAXTER, E. M. & EDWARDS, S. A. 2017. Piglet mortality and morbidity: Inevitable or unacceptable? *Advances in Pig Welfare*. Elsevier.
- BAXTER, E. M. & EDWARDS, S. A. 2018. Chapter 3 Piglet mortality and morbidity: Inevitable or unacceptable? A2 Špinka, Marek. *Advances in Pig Welfare*. Woodhead Publishing.
- BAXTER, S. 1984. Intensive pig production: environmental management and design, Granada Technical Books.

- BEATTIE, V., O'CONNELL, N., KILPATRICK, D. & MOSS, B. 2000a. Influence of environmental enrichment on welfare-related behavioural and physiological parameters in growing pigs. *Animal Science*, 70, 443-450.
- BEATTIE, V., O'CONNELL, N. & MOSS, B. 2000b. Influence of environmental enrichment on the behaviour, performance and meat quality of domestic pigs. *Livestock Science*, 65, 71-79.
- BEATTIE, V., SNEDDON, I., WALKER, N. & WEATHERUP, R. 2001. Environmental enrichment of intensive pig housing using spent mushroom compost. *Animal Science*, **72**, **35**-42.
- BENCH, C., RIOJA-LANG, F., HAYNE, S. & GONYOU, H. 2013. Group gestation housing with individual feeding—I: How feeding regime, resource allocation, and genetic factors affect sow welfare. *Livestock Science*, 152, 208-217.
- BERGERON, R., BADNELL-WATERS, A., LAMBTON, S. & MASON, G. 2006. Stereotypic animal behaviour: fundamentals and applications to welfare.
- BERGERON, R., BOLDUC, J., RAMONET, Y., MEUNIER-SALAÜN, M. & ROBERT, S. 2000. Feeding motivation and stereotypies in pregnant sows fed increasing levels of fibre and/or food. *Applied Animal Behaviour Science*, 70, 27-40.
- BERKEVELD, M., LANGENDIJK, P., SOEDE, N. M., KEMP, B., TAVERNE, M. A., VERHEIJDEN, J. H., KUIJKEN, N. & KOETS, A. P. 2009. Improving adaptation to weaning: effect of intermittent suckling regimens on piglet feed intake, growth, and gut characteristics. *Journal of animal science*, 87, 3156-3166.
- BERKEVELD, M., LANGENDIJK, P., VAN BEERS-SCHREURS, H. M., KOETS, A. P., TAVERNE, M. A. & VERHEIJDEN, J. H. 2007. Postweaning growth check in pigs is markedly reduced by intermittent suckling and extended lactation. *Journal of animal science*, 85, 258-266.
- BISHOP-HURLEY, G., SWAIN, D. L., ANDERSON, D., SIKKA, P., CROSSMAN, C. & CORKE, P. 2007. Virtual fencing applications: implementing and testing an automated cattle control system. *Computers and Electronics in Agriculture*, 56, 14-22.
- BLACKMORE, D., BOWLING, M., MADIE, P., NUTMAN, A., BARNES, G., DAVIES, A., DONOGHUE, M. & KIRK, E. 1995. The use of a shotgun for the emergency slaughter or euthanasia of large mature pigs. *New Zealand Veterinary Journal*, 43, 134-137.
- BLACKMORE, D. & DELANY, M. 1988. Slaughter of stock. A practical review and guide. Slaughter of stock. A practical review and guide.
- BLECHA, F. 2000. Immune system response to stress. The biology of animal stress. CABI, 111-122.
- BØE, K. 1991. The process of weaning in pigs: when the sow decides. *Applied Animal Behaviour Science*, 30, 47-59.
- BOHNENKAMP, A.-L., MEYER, C., MÜLLER, K. & KRIETER, J. 2013. Group housing with electronically controlled crates for lactating sows. Effect on farrowing, suckling and activity behavior of sows and piglets. *Applied Animal Behaviour Science*, 145, 37-43.
- BOISSY, A., MANTEUFFEL, G., JENSEN, M. B., MOE, R. O., SPRUIJT, B., KEELING, L. J., WINCKLER, C., FORKMAN, B., DIMITROV, I. & LANGBEIN, J. 2007. Assessment of positive emotions in animals to improve their welfare. *Physiology & Behavior*, 92, 375-397.
- BOLHUIS, J., VAN DEN BRAND, H., STAALS, S. & GERRITS, W. 2007. Effects of pregelatinized vs. native potato starch on intestinal weight and stomach lesions of pigs housed in barren pens or on straw bedding. *Livestock Science*, 109, 108-110.
- BONDE, M., ROUSING, T., BADSBERG, J. H. & SØRENSEN, J. T. 2004. Associations between lying-down behaviour problems and body condition, limb disorders and skin lesions of lactating sows housed in farrowing crates in commercial sow herds. *Livestock Production Science*, 87, 179-187.

- BOON, C. & WRAY, C. 1989. Building design in relation to the control of diseases of intensively housed livestock. *Journal of Agricultural Engineering Research*, 43, 149-161.
- BORNETT, H., EDGE, H. & EDWARDS, S. 2003. Alternatives to nose-ringing in outdoor sows: I. The provision of a sacrificial rooting area. *Applied Animal Behaviour Science*, 83, 267-276.
- BORRISSER-PAIRÓ, F., KALLAS, Z., PANELLA-RIERA, N., AVENA, M., IBÁÑEZ, M., OLIVARES, A., GIL, J. M. & OLIVER, M. A. 2016. Towards entire male pigs in Europe: A perspective from the Spanish supply chain. Research in Veterinary Science, 107, 20-29.
- BOTREAU, R., VEISSIER, I. & PERNY, P. 2009. Overall assessment of animal welfare: strategy adopted in Welfare Quality®. *Animal Welfare*, 18, 363-370.
- BRACKE, M., DE LAUWERE, C. C., WIND, S. M. & ZONERLAND, J. J. 2013. Attitudes of Dutch pig farmers towards tail biting and tail docking. *Journal of Agricultural and Environmental Ethics*, 26, 847-868.
- BRACKE, M. B. 2017. Chains as proper enrichment for intensively-farmed pigs? Advances in Pig Welfare. Elsevier.
- BRACKE, M. B., ZONDERLAND, J. J., LENSKENS, P., SCHOUTEN, W. G., VERMEER, H., SPOOLDER, H. A., HENDRIKS, H. J. & HOPSTER, H. 2006. Formalised review of environmental enrichment for pigs in relation to political decision making. *Applied Animal Behaviour Science*, 98, 165-182.
- BREUER, K., SUTCLIFFE, M., MERCER, J., RANCE, K., O'CONNELL, N., SNEDDON, I. & EDWARDS, S. 2005. Heritability of clinical tail-biting and its relation to performance traits. *Livestock Science*, **93**, 87-94.
- BROOM, D. M. 1986. Indicators of poor welfare. British veterinary journal, 142, 524-526.
- BROUNS, F. & EDWARDS, S. 1994. Social rank and feeding behaviour of group-housed sows fed competitively or ad libitum. *Applied Animal Behaviour Science*, 39, 225-235.
- BROWN, S. M., BUSH, S. J., SUMMERS, K. M., HUME, D. A. & LAWRENCE, A. B. 2018. Environmentally enriched pigs have transcriptional profiles consistent with neuroprotective effects and reduced microglial activity. *Behavioural brain research*, 350, 6-15.
- BRUNIUS, C., ZAMARATSKAIA, G., ANDERSSON, K., CHEN, G., NORRBY, M., MADEJ, A. & LUNDSTRÖM, K. 2011. Early immunocastration of male pigs with Improvac®–Effect on boar taint, hormones and reproductive organs. *Vaccine*, 29, 9514-9520.
- BURRI, M., WECHSLER, B., GYGAX, L. & WEBER, R. 2009. Influence of straw length, sow behaviour and room temperature on the incidence of dangerous situations for piglets in a loose farrowing system. *Applied animal behaviour science*, 117, 181-189.
- BUTLER, Z., CORKE, P., PETERSON, R. & RUS, D. Virtual fences for controlling cows. Robotics and Automation, 2004. Proceedings. ICRA'04. 2004 IEEE International Conference on, 2004. IEEE, 4429-4436.
- BUTTERWORTH, A., MENCH, J. & WIELEBNOWSKI, N. 2011. 12 Practical Strategies to Assess (and Improve) Welfare. *Animal welfare*, 200.
- CAMPBELL, D. L., LEA, J. M., HAYNES, S. J., FARRER, W. J., LEIGH-LANCASTER, C. J. & LEE, C. 2018. Virtual fencing of cattle using an automated collar in a feed attractant trial. *Applied Animal Behaviour Science*, 200, 71-77.
- ČANDEK-POTOKAR, M., ŠKRLEP, M. & ZAMARATSKAIA, G. 2017. Immunocastration as Alternative to Surgical Castration in Pigs. *In:* CARREIRA, R. P. (ed.) *Theriogenology.* Rijeka: InTech.
- CANIBE, N., HØJBERG, O., BADSBERG, J. H. & JENSEN, B. B. 2007. Effect of feeding fermented liquid feed and fermented grain on gastrointestinal ecology and growth performance in piglets. *Journal of Animal Science*, 85, 2959-2971.

- CARATY, A. & BONNEAU, M. 1986. THE EFFECT OF ACTIVE IMMUNIZATION AGAINST LHRH ON LH AND FSH-SECRETION AND ON FAT ANDROSTENONE LEVEL IN ENTIRE MALE PIGS. COMPTES RENDUS DE L ACADEMIE DES SCIENCES SERIE III-SCIENCES DE LA VIE-LIFE SCIENCES, 303, 673-676.
- CARROLL, J., BERG, E., STRAUCH, T., ROBERTS, M. & KATTESH, H. 2006. Hormonal profiles, behavioral responses, and short-term growth performance after castration of pigs at three, six, nine, or twelve days of age. *Journal of Animal Science*, 84, 1271-1278.
- CASEY-TROTT, T., MILLMAN, S., LAWLIS, P. & WIDOWSKI, T. 2010. A non-penetrating captive bolt (modified Zephyr) is effective for euthanasia of neonatal piglets. *Proc Cong Int Pig Vet Soc*, 1158.
- CHALOUPKOVÁ, H., ILLMANN, G., NEUHAUSEROVÁ, K., TOMÁNEK, M. & VALIS, L. 2007. Preweaning housing effects on behavior and physiological measures in pigs during the suckling and fattening periods. *Journal of animal science*, 85, 1741-1749.
- CHAMOVE, A. 1989. Cage design reduces emotionality in mice. Laboratory Animals, 23, 215-219.
- CHAPINAL, N., DE LA TORRE, J. R., CERISUELO, A., GASA, J., BAUCELLS, M., COMA, J., VIDAL, A. & MANTECA, X. 2010. Evaluation of welfare and productivity in pregnant sows kept in stalls or in 2 different group housing systems. *Journal of Veterinary Behavior: Clinical Applications and Research*, 5, 82-93.
- CHEVILLON, P. Préparation et départ de la ferme: les 24 dernières heures à la ferme. 26e Colloque sur la production porcine, 2005. 75-98.
- CHEVILLON, P., MIRCOVICH, C., DUBROCA, S. & FLEHO, J. 2004a. Comparison of different pig euthanasia methods available to farmers. *Proc Int Soc Anim Hyg*, 45-46.
- CHEVILLON, P., MIRCOVICH, C., DUBROCA, S. & FLEHO, J.-Y. 2004b. Euthanasie en élevage de porc. *Techni porc*, 27.
- CLARKE, I., HEMSWORTH, P., BARNETT, J. & TILBROOK, A. Stress and reproduction in farm animals. In 'Stress and Reproduction'. (Eds KE Sheppard, JH Boublik and JW Funder.) pp. 239–52. Serono Symposia Publications and Raven Press: New York, 1992.
- COCKRAM, M. S. & HUGHES, B. O. 2011. Health and disease. Animal welfare, 120-137.
- COETZEE, J. F. 2013. A review of analgesic compounds used in food animals in the United States. Veterinary Clinics: Food Animal Practice, 29, 11-28.
- COLDITZ, I. G., FERGUSON, D. M., COLLINS, T., MATTHEWS, L. & HEMSWORTH, P. H. 2014.

 A prototype tool to enable farmers to measure and improve the welfare performance of the farm animal enterprise: The unified field index. *Animals*, 4, 446-462.
- COLSON, V., ORGEUR, P., FOURY, A. & MORMÈDE, P. 2006. Consequences of weaning piglets at 21 and 28 days on growth, behaviour and hormonal responses. *Applied Animal Behaviour Science*, **98**, 70-88.
- CONDOUS, P., PLUSH, K., TILBROOK, A. & VAN WETTERE, W. 2016. Reducing sow confinement during farrowing and in early lactation increases piglet mortality. *Journal of animal science*, 94, 3022-3029.
- CORDOBA-DOMINGUEZ, J., DUNNE, J., CLIFF, A., MACPHERSON, O., MENAYA, C., VIDAL, J. & ENGLISH, P. 1991. Evaluation of the behaviour of mature boars housed in groups of four. Proceedings of the British Society of Animal Production (1972), 1991, 65-65.
- COURBOULAY, V., EUGENE, A. & DELARUE, E. 2009. Welfare assessment in 82 pig farms: effect of animal age and floor type on behaviour and injuries in fattening pigs. *Animal Welfare*, 18, 515-521.
- COX, L. & COOPER, J. 2001. Observations on the pre-and post-weaning behaviour of piglets reared in commercial indoor and outdoor environments. *Animal Science*, 72, 75-86.

- CRONIN, G., BARNETT, J., HODGE, F., SMITH, J. & MCCALLUM, T. 1991. The welfare of pigs in two farrowing/lactation environments: cortisol responses of sows. *Applied Animal Behaviour Science*, 32, 117-127.
- CRONIN, G., DUNSHEA, F., BUTLER, K., MCCAULEY, I., BARNETT, J. & HEMSWORTH, P. 2003. The effects of immuno-and surgical-castration on the behaviour and consequently growth of group-housed, male finisher pigs. *Applied Animal Behaviour Science*, 81, 111-126.
- CRONIN, G., RAULT, J. & GLATZ, P. 2014. Lessons learned from past experience with intensive livestock management systems. *Rev Sci Tech*, 33, 139-51.
- CRONIN, G., SCHIRMER, B., MCCALLUM, T., SMITH, J. & BUTLER, K. 1993. The effects of providing sawdust to pre-parturient sows in farrowing crates on sow behaviour, the duration of parturition and the occurrence of intra-partum stillborn piglets. *Applied Animal Behaviour Science*, 36, 301-315.
- CRONIN, G., SIMPSON, G. & HEMSWORTH, P. 1996. The effects of the gestation and farrowing environments on sow and piglet behaviour and piglet survival and growth in early lactation. *Applied Animal Behaviour Science*, 46, 175-192.
- CRONIN, G. & SMITH, J. 1992. Effects of accommodation type and straw bedding around parturition and during lactation on the behaviour of primiparous sows and survival and growth of piglets to weaning. *Applied Animal Behaviour Science*, 33, 191-208.
- D'EATH, R. B., TOLKAMP, B. J., KYRIAZAKIS, I. & LAWRENCE, A. B. 2009a. 'Freedom from hunger'and preventing obesity: the animal welfare implications of reducing food quantity or quality. *Animal Behaviour*, 77, 275-288.
- D'SOUZA, D., DUNSHEA, F., HEWITT, R., LUXFORD, B., MEANEY, D., SCHWENKE, F., SMITS, R. & VAN BARNEVELD, R. High boar taint risk in entire male carcases. Proceedings of 13th Biennial Conference of the Australasian Pig Science Association. Adelaide, 2011. 27-30.
- D'EATH, R., ARNOTT, G., TURNER, S., JENSEN, T., LAHRMANN, H., BUSCH, M., NIEMI, J. K., LAWRENCE, A. & SANDØE, P. 2014. Injurious tail biting in pigs: how can it be controlled in existing systems without tail docking? *Animal*, 8, 1479-1497.
- D'EATH, R., ROEHE, R., TURNER, S., ISON, S., FARISH, M., JACK, M. & LAWRENCE, A. 2009b. Genetics of animal temperament: aggressive behaviour at mixing is genetically associated with the response to handling in pigs. *Animal*, 3, 1544-1554.
- D'EATH, R. B., JACK, M., FUTRO, A., TALBOT, D., ZHU, Q., BARCLAY, D. & BAXTER, E. M. 2018. Automatic early warning of tail biting in pigs: 3D cameras can detect lowered tail posture before an outbreak. *PloS one*, 13, e0194524.
- D'EATH, R. B., JARVIS, S., BAXTER, E. M. & HOUDIJK, J. 2017. Mitigating hunger in pregnant sows. *Advances in Pig Welfare*. Elsevier.
- DALMAU, A., RODRIGUEZ, P., LLONCH, P. & VELARDE, A. 2010. Stunning pigs with different gas mixtures: aversion in pigs. *Anim Welf*, 19, 325-333.
- DAMM, B., BILDSØE, M., GILBERT, C., LADEWIG, J. & VESTERGAARD, K. 2002. The effects of confinement on periparturient behaviour and circulating prolactin, prostaglandin F2α and oxytocin in gilts with access to a variety of nest materials. *Applied Animal Behaviour Science*, 76, 135-156.
- DANIELS, C. 2010. Gas euthanasia methods in swine: Process and physiology. *Proc.* 41st AASV Annu. Meet., Omaha, NE, 447-450.
- DAVIS, E. P., SNIDMAN, N., WADHWA, P. D., GLYNN, L. M., SCHETTER, C. D. & SANDMAN, C. A. 2004. Prenatal maternal anxiety and depression predict negative behavioral reactivity in infancy. *Infancy*, 6, 319-331.

- DAWKINS, R. 1980. Good strategy or evolutionarily stable strategy. *Sociobiology: beyond nature/nurture*, 331-367.
- DAY, J. E., VAN DE WEERD, H. A. & EDWARDS, S. A. 2008. The effect of varying lengths of straw bedding on the behaviour of growing pigs. Applied Animal Behaviour Science, 109, 249-260.
- DE GROOT, J., DE JONG, I. C., PRELLE, I. T. & KOOLHAAS, J. M. 2000. Immunity in barren and enriched housed pigs differing in baseline cortisol concentration. *Physiology & behavior*, 71, 217-223.
- DE JONG, I., SGOIFO, A., LAMBOOIJ, E., KORTE, S. M., BLOKHUIS, H. J. & KOOLHAAS, J. M. 2000. Effects of social stress on heart rate and heart rate variability in growing pigs. *Canadian Journal of Animal Science*, 80, 273-280.
- DE JONG, I., VOORST, S. V., EHLHARDT, D. & BLOKHUIS, H. 2002. Effects of restricted feeding on physiological stress parameters in growing broiler breeders. *British poultry science*, 43, 157-168.
- DE JONG, I. C., EKKEL, E. D., VAN DE BURGWAL, J. A., LAMBOOIJ, E., KORTE, S. M., RUIS, M. A., KOOLHAAS, J. M. & BLOKHUIS, H. J. 1998. Effects of strawbedding on physiological responses to stressors and behavior in growing pigs. *Physiology & behavior*, 64, 303-310.
- DE LEEUW, J. & EKKEL, E. 2004. Effects of feeding level and the presence of a foraging substrate on the behaviour and stress physiological response of individually housed gilts. *Applied Animal Behaviour Science*, 86, 15-25.
- DE ROEST, K., MONTANARI, C., FOWLER, T. & BALTUSSEN, W. 2009. Resource efficiency and economic implications of alternatives to surgical castration without anaesthesia. *animal*, 3, 1522-1531.
- DE RUYTER, E. M., VAN WETTER, W. H., LINES, D. S. & PLUSH, K. J. 2017. Gradually reducing sow contact in lactation is beneficial for piglet welfare around weaning. *Applied Animal Behaviour Science*, 193, 43-50.
- DENICOURT, M., KLOPFENSTEIN, C., DUFOUR, V. & POULIOT, F. 2009. Developing a safe and acceptable method for on-farm euthanasia of pigs by electrocution.
- DESIRE, S., TURNER, S. P., D'EATH, R. B., DOESCHL-WILSON, A. B., LEWIS, C. R. & ROEHE, R. 2015. Analysis of the phenotypic link between behavioural traits at mixing and increased long-term social stability in group-housed pigs. *Applied Animal Behaviour Science*, 166, 52-62.
- DI GIMINIANI, P., EDWARDS, S. A., MALCOLM, E. M., LEACH, M. C., HERSKIN, M. S. & SANDERCOCK, D. A. 2017. Characterization of short-and long-term mechanical sensitisation following surgical tail amputation in pigs. *Scientific reports*, **7**, 4827.
- DI MARTINO, G., CAPELLO, K., SCOLLO, A., GOTTARDO, F., STEFANI, A. L., RAMPIN, F., SCHIAVON, E., MARANGON, S. & BONFANTI, L. 2013. Continuous straw provision reduces prevalence of oesophago-gastric ulcer in pigs slaughtered at 170kg (heavy pigs). Research in veterinary science, 95, 1271-1273.
- DONE, S., GUISE, J. & CHENNELLS, D. 2003. TAIL BITING AND TAIL DOCKING. Pig Journal, 51, 136-154.
- DORAN, E., WHITTINGTON, F., WOOD, J. & MCGIVAN, J. 2002. The relationship between adipose tissue skatole levels, rates of hepatic microsomal skatole metabolism and hepatic cytochrome P450IIEI expression in two breeds of pig. *Animal science*, 74, 461-468.
- DOUGLAS, S., SZYSZKA, O., STODDART, K., EDWARDS, S. & KYRIAZAKIS, I. 2015. Animal and management factors influencing grower and finisher pig performance and efficiency in European systems: a meta-analysis. *animal*, 9, 1210-1220.

- DUNSHEA, F., BIDEN, R., MOSS, B. & TRIGG, T. 1993. Immunisation against gonadotrophin releasing hormone inhibits testes growth in young boars. *Manipulating pig production IV*'.(Ed. ES Batterham) p, 182.
- DUNSHEA, F., COLANTONI, C., HOWARD, K., MCCAULEY, I., JACKSON, P., LONG, K., LOPATICKI, S., NUGENT, E., SIMONS, J. & WALKER, J. 2001. Vaccination of boars with a GnRH vaccine (Improvac) eliminates boar taint and increases growth performance. *Journal of animal science*, 79, 2524-2535.
- DURRELL, J., BEATTIE, V., SNEDDON, I. & KILPATRICK, D. 2003. Pre-mixing as a technique for facilitating subgroup formation and reducing sow aggression in large dynamic groups. *Applied Animal Behaviour Science*, 84, 89-99.
- DURRELL, J., SNEDDON, I., BEATTIE, V. & KILPATRICK, D. 2002. Sow behaviour and welfare in voluntary cubicle pens (small static groups) and split-yard systems (large dynamic groups). *Animal Science*, 75, 67-74.
- DYBKJAER, L. 1992. The identification of behavioural indicators of 'stress' in early weaned piglets. *Applied Animal Behaviour Science*, 35, 135-147.
- EDGE, H., BULMAN, C. & EDWARDS, S. 2005. Alternatives to nose-ringing in outdoor sows: the provision of root crops. *Applied Animal Behaviour Science*, **92**, 15-26.
- EDWARDS, S. 2002. Perinatal mortality in the pig: environmental or physiological solutions? *Livestock Production Science*, **78**, 3-12.
- EDWARDS, S., BRETT, M., ISON, S., JACK, M., SEDDON, Y. & BAXTER, E. Design principles and practical evaluation of the PigSAFE free farrowing pen. Proceedings of the 4th European Symposium on Porcine Health Management (ESPHM), 2012. 113.
- EDWARDS, S. & TURNER, S. 2000. Housing and management of pigs in large social groups. *PIG IOURNAL*, 45, 45-54.
- EFSA 2004. Welfare aspects of the castration of piglets (Scientific Report of the Scientific Panel for Animal Health and Welfare on a request from the Commission related to welfare aspects of the castration of piglets). EFSA Journal, 91, 1-100.
- EFSA 2007. The risks associated with tail biting in pigs and possible means to reduce the need for tail docking considering the different housing and husbandry systems: Scientific opinion of the panel on an imal health and welfare. EFSA Journal, 5, 1-13.
- EFSA 2014. Scientific opinion concerning a multifactorial approach on the use of animal and non-animal-based measures to assess the welfare of pigs. European Food Safety Authority.
- EIKE, H., KOCH, R., FELDHUSEN, F. & SEIFERT, H. 2005. Simulation of the distribution of current density in the brain of slaughter pigs with the finite element method. *Meat science*, 69, 603-607.
- EINARSSON, S. 2006. Vaccination against GnRH: pros and cons. *Acta Veterinaria Scandinavica*, 48, S10.
- ERASMUS, M., TURNER, P. & WIDOWSKI, T. 2010. Measures of insensibility used to determine effective stunning and killing of poultry. *Journal of Applied Poultry Research*, 19, 288-298.
- ERIKSEN, J., STUDNITZ, M., STRUDSHOLM, K., KONGSTED, A. G. & HERMANSEN, J. E. 2006. Effect of nose ringing and stocking rate of pregnant and lactating outdoor sows on exploratory behaviour, grass cover and nutrient loss potential. *Livestock science*, 104, 91-102.
- EWBANK, R. & BRYANT, M. 1972. Aggressive behaviour amongst groups of domesticated pigs kept at various stocking rates. *Animal Behaviour*, 20, 21-28.
- FAUCITANO, L. 2010. Invited review: Effects of lairage and slaughter conditions on animal welfare and pork quality. *Canadian journal of animal science*, 90, 461-469.

- FELS, M., HARTUNG, J. & HOY, S. 2014. Social hierarchy formation in piglets mixed in different group compositions after weaning. *Applied Animal Behaviour Science*, 152, 17-22.
- FINNIE, J., MANAVIS, J., SUMMERSIDES, G. & BLUMBERGS, P. 2003. Brain damage in pigs produced by impact with a nonpenetrating captive bolt pistol. *Australian veterinary journal*, 81, 153-155.
- FIX, J., CASSADY, J., HOLL, J., HERRING, W., CULBERTSON, M. & SEE, M. 2010. Effect of piglet birth weight on survival and quality of commercial market swine. *Livestock Science*, 132, 98-106.
- FORSLID, A. & AUGUSTINSSON, O. 1988. Acidosis, hypoxia and stress hormone release in response to one-minute inhalation of 80% CO2 in swine. *Acta Physiologica Scandinavica*, 132, 223-231.
- FRASER, D. 1975. The effect of straw on the behaviour of sows in tether stalls. *Animal Science*, 21, 59-68.
- FRASER, D. 1985. Selection of bedded and unbedded areas by pigs in relation to environmental temperature and behaviour. Applied animal behaviour Science, 14, 117-126.
- FRASER, D. 1987. Mineral-deficient diets and the pig's attraction to blood: implications for tail-biting. *Canadian Journal of Animal Science*, 67, 909-918.
- FRASER, D. 2008. Understanding animal welfare. Acta Veterinaria Scandinavica, 50, S1.
- FRASER, D., PHILLIPS, P., THOMPSON, B. & TENNESSEN, T. 1991. Effect of straw on the behaviour of growing pigs. Applied Animal Behaviour Science, 30, 307-318.
- FRASER, D. & THOMPSON, B. 1991. Armed sibling rivalry among suckling piglets. *Behavioral Ecology* and Sociobiology, 29, 9-15.
- FREED, D. L. 1983. CO2 euthanasia. Nature, 304, 482.
- GERRITZEN, M., KLUIVERS-POODT, M., REIMERT, H., HINDLE, V. & LAMBOOIJ, E. 2008. Castration of piglets under CO 2-gas anaesthesia. *animal*, 2, 1666-1673.
- GJEIN, H. & LARSSEN, R. 1995. The effect of claw lesions and claw infections on lameness in loose housing of pregnant sows. *Acta Veterinaria Scandinavica*, 36, 451-459.
- GONDRET, F., LEFAUCHEUR, L., LOUVEAU, I., LEBRET, B., PICHODO, X. & LE COZLER, Y. 2005. Influence of piglet birth weight on postnatal growth performance, tissue lipogenic capacity and muscle histological traits at market weight. *Livestock Production Science*, 93, 137-146.
- GONYOU, H. & BROWN, J. 2012a. Reducing stress and improving recovery from handling during loading and transport of market pigs. *Final report submitted to Alberta Livestock and Meat Agency*, 40.
- GONYOU, H., DEVILLERS, N., FAUCITANO, L., FRIENDSHIP, R., PASMA, T., WIDOWSKI, T. & RINGGENBERG, N. 2012b. Code of Practice For the Care and Handling of Pigs: Review of Scientific Research on Priority Issues. National Farm Animal Care Council.
- GONYOU, H. W. 2005. Experiences with alternative methods of sow housing. *J Am Vet Med Assoc*, 226, 1336-3340.
- GOOSSENS, X., SOBRY, L., ODBERG, F., TUYTTENS, F., MAES, D., DE SMET, S., NEVENS, F., OPSOMER, G., LOMMELEN, F. & GEERS, R. 2007. A population-based on-farm evaluation protocol for comparing the welfare of pigs between farms. *ANIMAL WELFARE-POTTERS BAR THEN WHEATHAMPSTEAD*-, 17, 35.
- GOTTARDO, F., SCOLLO, A., CONTIERO, B., RAVAGNANI, A., TAVELLA, G., BERNARDINI, D., DE BENEDICTIS, G. M. & EDWARDS, S. A. 2016. Pain alleviation during castration of piglets: a comparative study of different farm options I. *Journal of Animal Science*, 94, 5077-5088.

- GRANDIN, T. 2010. Discussion of research that shows that Kosher or Halal slaughter without stunning causes pain. Department of Animal Science, Colorado State University, Fort Collins, CO.
- GREEN, T. & MELLOR, D. 2011. Extending ideas about animal welfare assessment to include 'quality of life'and related concepts. New Zealand Veterinary Journal, 59, 263-271.
- GREENWOOD, B. N. & FLESHNER, M. 2008. Exercise, learned helplessness, and the stress-resistant brain. *Neuromolecular medicine*, 10, 81-98.
- GREENWOOD, E., PLUSH, K., VAN WETTERE, W. & HUGHES, P. 2016. Group and individual sow behavior is altered in early gestation by space allowance in the days immediately following grouping. *Journal of animal science*, 94, 385-393.
- GREGORY, N., MOSS, B. & LEESON, R. 1987. An assessment of carbon dioxide stunning in pigs. *The Veterinary Record*, 121, 517-518.
- GRIMBERG-HENRICI, C. G., BÜTTNER, K., MEYER, C. & KRIETER, J. 2016. Does housing influence maternal behaviour in sows? *Applied Animal Behaviour Science*, 180, 26-34.
- GUSTAFSSON, M., JENSEN, P., DE JONGE, F. H., ILLMANN, G. & SPINKA, M. 1999. Maternal behaviour of domestic sows and crosses between domestic sows and wild boar. *Applied Animal Behaviour Science*, 65, 29-42.
- GUY, J., ROWLINSON, P., CHADWICK, J. & ELLIS, M. 2002. Behaviour of two genotypes of growing–finishing pig in three different housing systems. *Applied Animal Behaviour Science*, **75**, 193-206.
- HALES, J., MOUSTSEN, V., DEVREESE, A. M., NIELSEN, M. & HANSEN, C. F. 2015. Comparable farrowing progress in confined and loose housed hyper-prolific sows. *Livestock Science*, 171, 64-72.
- HALL, L., CLARKE, K. & TRIM, C. 2001. Veterinary Anaesthesia, Philadelphia, US, Elsevier Limited.
- HANSSON, I., HAMILTON, C., EKMAN, T. & FORSLUND, K. 2000. Carcass quality in certified organic production compared with conventional livestock production. *Zoonoses and Public Health*, 47, 111-120.
- HANSSON, M., LUNDEHEIM, N., NYMAN, G. & JOHANSSON, G. 2011. Effect of local anaesthesia and/or analgesia on pain responses induced by piglet castration. *Acta Veterinaria Scandinavica*, 53, 34.
- HAVN, K. & POULSEN, H. Risk factors for shoulder ulcers in sows in a Danish breeding farm. Proceedings for the 18th IPVS Congress, Hamburg, Germany, 2004.
- HAY, M., RUE, J., SANSAC, C., BRUNEL, G. & PRUNIER, A. 2004. Long-term detrimental effects of tooth clipping or grinding in piglets: a histological approach. ANIMAL WELFARE-POTTERS BAR THEN WHEATHAMPSTEAD-, 13, 27-32.
- HAY, M., VULIN, A., GÉNIN, S., SALES, P. & PRUNIER, A. 2003. Assessment of pain induced by castration in piglets: behavioral and physiological responses over the subsequent 5 days. *Applied Animal Behaviour Science*, 82, 201-218.
- HEINONEN, M., PELTONIEMI, O. & VALROS, A. 2013. Impact of lameness and claw lesions in sows on welfare, health and production. *Livestock Science*, 156, 2-9.
- HEMSWORTH, P. 2018a. Key determinants of pig welfare: implications of animal management and housing design on livestock welfare. *Animal Production Science*.
- HEMSWORTH, P., BARNETT, J. & COLEMAN, G. 2009. The integration of human-animal relations into animal welfare monitoring schemes. *Animal Welfare*, 18, 335-345.
- HEMSWORTH, P., BARNETT, J. & HANSEN, C. 1986. The influence of handling by humans on the behaviour, reproduction and corticosteroids of male and female pigs. *Applied Animal Behaviour Science*, 15, 303-314.

- HEMSWORTH, P., BARNETT, J., HANSEN, C. & WINFIELD, C. 1986a. Effects of social environment on welfare status and sexual behaviour of female pigs. II. Effects of space allowance. *Applied Animal Behaviour Science*, 16, 259-267.
- HEMSWORTH, P., BEILHARZ, R. & GALLOWAY, D. 1977. Influence of social conditions during rearing on the sexual behaviour of the domestic boar. *Animal Science*, 24, 245-251.
- HEMSWORTH, P. & COLEMAN, G. 2011. Human–livestock interactions: the stockperson and the productivity and welfare of intensively-farmed animals, CABI. Oxford.
- HEMSWORTH, P., FINDLAY, J. & BEILHARZ, R. 1978. The importance of physical contact with other pigs during rearing on the sexual behaviour of the male domestic pig. *Animal Science*, 27, 201-207.
- HEMSWORTH, P., MELLOR, D., CRONIN, G. & TILBROOK, A. 2015. Scientific assessment of animal welfare. *New Zealand Veterinary Journal*, 63, 24-30.
- HEMSWORTH, P., MORRISON, R., TILBROOK, A., BUTLER, K., RICE, M. & MOELLER, S. 2016. Effects of varying floor space on aggressive behavior and cortisol concentrations in grouphoused sows. *Journal of animal science*, 94, 4809-4818.
- HEMSWORTH, P., RICE, M., NASH, J., GIRI, K., BUTLER, K., TILBROOK, A. & MORRISON, R. 2013. Effects of group size and floor space allowance on grouped sows: Aggression, stress, skin injuries, and reproductive performance. *Journal of Animal Science*, 91, 4953-4964.
- HEMSWORTH, P., WINFIELD, C. & CHAMLEY, W. 1981. The influence of the presence of the female on the sexual behaviour and plasma testosterone levels of the mature male pig. *Animal Science*, 32, 61-65.
- HEMSWORTH, P., WINFIELD, C., HANSEN, C. & MAKIN, A. 1983. The influence of isolation from females and mating frequency on the sexual behaviour and semen quality of young post-pubertal boars. *Animal Science*, 37, 49-52.
- HEMSWORTH, P. H. 2017. Defining and ensuring animal welfare in pig production: an overview. Achieving sustainable production of pig meat, 3.
- HEMSWORTH, P. H. 2018b. Defining and ensuring animal welfare in pig production: an overview. . Achieving Sustainable Production of Pig Meat.
- HENNESSY, D., SALVATORE, L. & SALI, L. Incidence and nature of boar taint in Australian pigs.

 Proceedings of the Meeting of the EAAP Working Group Production and Utilization of Meat from Entire Male Pigs. Session III, Milton Keynes, UK, 1995.
- HEO, J., OPAPEJU, F., PLUSKE, J., KIM, J., HAMPSON, D. & NYACHOTI, C. 2013. Gastrointestinal health and function in weaned pigs: a review of feeding strategies to control post-weaning diarrhoea without using in-feed antimicrobial compounds. *Journal of animal physiology and animal nutrition*, 97, 207-237.
- HERMESCH, S., SOKOLINSKI, R., JOHNSTON, R. & NEWMAN, S. 2015. Economic implications of environmental variation observed in a pig nucleus farm in Australia. *Animal Production Science*, 55, 1466-1466.
- HERSKIN, M., THODBERG, K. & JENSEN, H. E. 2015. Effects of tail docking and docking length on neuroanatomical changes in healed tail tips of pigs. *Animal*, 9, 677-681.
- HERSKIN, M. S., DI GIMINIANI, P. & THODBERG, K. 2016a. Effects of administration of a local anaesthetic and/or an NSAID and of docking length on the behaviour of piglets during 5 h after tail docking. Research in veterinary science, 108, 60-67.
- HERSKIN, M. S., JENSEN, H. E., JESPERSEN, A., FORKMAN, B., JENSEN, M. B., CANIBE, N. & PEDERSEN, L. J. 2016b. Impact of the amount of straw provided to pigs kept in intensive production conditions on the occurrence and severity of gastric ulceration at slaughter. *Research in veterinary science*, 104, 200-206.

- HOLST, S. CO~ 2 stunning of pigs for slaughter-practical guidelines for good animal welfare. INTERNATIONAL CONGRESS OF MEAT SCIENCE AND TECHNOLOGY, 2001. Japan Society for Meat Science and Technology, 48-55.
- HOLT, J., JOHNSTON, L., BAIDOO, S. & SHURSON, G. 2006. Effects of a high-fiber diet and frequent feeding on behavior, reproductive performance, and nutrient digestibility in gestating sows. *Journal of animal science*, 84, 946-955.
- HORN, T., MARX, G. & VON BORELL, E. 1999. Verhalten von Ferkeln während der Kastration mit und ohne Lokalanästhesie. *Dtsch. Tierärztl. Wschr*, 106, 271-274.
- HORRELL, R., A'NESS, P., EDWARDS, S. & EDDISON, J. 2001. The use of nose-rings in pigs: consequences for rooting, other functional activities, and welfare. *Animal Welfare*, 10, 3-22.
- HORTOS, M. Variation of boar taint compounds in backfat from divergent genetic lines.

 INTERNATIONAL CONGRESS OF MEAT SCIENCE AND TECHNOLOGY, 2000. Japan Society for Meat Science and Technology, 98-99.
- HUNTER, E., BROOM, D., EDWARDS, S. & SIBLY, R. 1988. Social hierarchy and feeder access in a group of 20 sows using a computer-controlled feeder. *Animal Science*, 47, 139-148.
- HUNTER, E., JONES, T., GUISE, H., PENNY, R. & HOSTE, S. 1999. Tail biting in pigs 1: the prevalence at six UK abattoirs and the relationship of tail biting with docking, sex and other carcass damage. *Pig Journal (United Kingdom)*.
- HUNTER, E. J., JONES, T., GUISE, H., PENNY, R. & HOSTE, S. 2001. The relationship between tail biting in pigs, docking procedure and other management practices. *The Veterinary Journal*, 161, 72-79.
- HUTSON, G. 1991. A note on hunger in the pig: sows on restricted rations will sustain an energy deficit to gain additional food. *Animal Science*, 52, 233-235.
- JÄGGIN, N., GERBER, S. & SCHATZMANN, U. 2006. General anaesthesia, analgesia and pain associated with the castration of newborn piglets. *Acta Veterinaria Scandinavica*, 48, S12.
- JAROS, P., BÜRGI, E., STÄRK, K., CLAUS, R., HENNESSY, D. & THUN, R. 2005. Effect of active immunization against GnRH on androstenone concentration, growth performance and carcass quality in intact male pigs. *Livestock Production Science*, 92, 31-38.
- JARVIS, S., CALVERT, S., STEVENSON, J., VANLEEUWEN, N. & LAWRENCE, A. 2002. Pituitary-adrenal activation in pre-parturient pigs (Sus scrofa) is associated with behavioural restriction due to lack of space rather than nesting substrate. *Animal Welfare*, 11, 371-384.
- JARVIS, S., LAWRENCE, A., MCLEAN, K., CHIRNSIDE, J., DEANS, L. & CALVERT, S. 1998. The effect of environment on plasma cortisol and β-endorphin in the parturient pig and the involvement of endogenous opioids. *Animal reproduction science*, **52**, 139-151.
- JARVIS, S., MOINARD, C., ROBSON, S. K., SUMNER, B. E., DOUGLAS, A. J., SECKL, J. R., RUSSELL, J. A. & LAWRENCE, A. B. 2008. Effects of weaning age on the behavioural and neuroendocrine development of piglets. *Applied Animal Behaviour Science*, 110, 166-181.
- JARVIS, S., VAN DER VEGT, B. J., LAWRENCE, A. B., MCLEAN, K. A., DEANS, L. A., CHIRNSIDE, J. & CALVERT, S. K. 2001. The effect of parity and environmental restriction on behavioural and physiological responses of pre-parturient pigs. Applied Animal Behaviour Science, 71, 203-216.
- JENSEN, H. 2009. Investigation into the pathology of shoulder ulcerations in sows. *Veterinary Record*, 165, 171-174.
- JENSEN, T. B., KRISTENSEN, H. H. & TOFT, N. 2012. Quantifying the impact of lameness on welfare and profitability of finisher pigs using expert opinions. *Livestock Science*, 149, 209-214.
- JOHNSON, A. K. & MARCHANT-FORDE, J. N. 2009. Welfare of pigs in the farrowing environment. The welfare of pigs. Springer.

- JOHNSON, C. New approaches to identifying and measuring pain. Proceedings of, 2007.
- KAISER, G. M., HEUER, M. M., FRÜHAUF, N. R., KÜHNE, C. A. & BROELSCH, C. E. 2006. General handling and anesthesia for experimental surgery in pigs. *Journal of Surgical Research*, 130, 73-79
- KALTSAS, G. A. & CHROUSOS, G. P. 2007. The neuroendocrinology of stress. *Handbook of psychophysiology*, **3**, 303-318.
- KEITA, A., PAGOT, E., PRUNIER, A. & GUIDARINI, C. 2010. Pre-emptive meloxicam for postoperative analgesia in piglets undergoing surgical castration. *Veterinary Anaesthesia and Analgesia*, 37, 367-374.
- KELLS, N., BEAUSOLEIL, N., JOHNSON, C. & SUTHERLAND, M. 2018. Evaluation of Different Gases and Gas Combinations for On-Farm Euthanasia of Pre-Weaned Pigs. *Animals*, 8, 40.
- KELLS, N. J., BEAUSOLEIL, N. J., CHAMBERS, J. P., SUTHERLAND, M. A., MORRISON, R. S. & JOHNSON, C. B. 2017. Electroencephalographic responses of anaesthetized pigs (Sus scrofa) to tail docking using clippers or cautery iron performed at 2 or 20 days of age. *Veterinary anaesthesia and analgesia*, 44, 1156-1165.
- KELLY, H., BRUCE, J., ENGLISH, P., FOWLER, V. & EDWARDS, S. 2000. Behaviour of 3-week weaned pigs in Straw-Flow®, deep straw and flatdeck housing systems. *Applied Animal Behaviour Science*, 68, 269-280.
- KIELLY, J., DEWEY, C. E. & COCHRAN, M. 1999. Castration at 3 days of age temporarily slows growth of pigs. *Journal of Swine Health and Production*, 7, 151-153.
- KILBRIDE, A., MENDL, M., STATHAM, P., HELD, S., HARRIS, M., COOPER, S. & GREEN, L. 2012. A cohort study of preweaning piglet mortality and farrowing accommodation on 112 commercial pig farms in England. *Preventive veterinary medicine*, 104, 281-291.
- KING, R., BAXTER, E., MATHESON, S. & EDWARDS, S. 2018. Consistency is key: interactions of current and previous farrowing system on litter size and piglet mortality. *animal*, 1-9.
- KIRKDEN, R. & PAJOR, E. 2006a. Motivation for group housing in gestating sows. *Animal welfare,* 15, 119-130.
- KIRKDEN, R. D. & PAJOR, E. A. 2006b. Using preference, motivation and aversion tests to ask scientific questions about animals' feelings. *Applied Animal Behaviour Science*, 100, 29-47.
- KLEINBECK, S. N. 1995. Genotype effects on pig immunity. Texas Tech University.
- KLUIVERS-POODT, M., ZONDERLAND, J., VERBRAAK, J., LAMBOOIJ, E. & HELLEBREKERS, L. 2013. Pain behaviour after castration of piglets; effect of pain relief with lidocaine and/or meloxicam. *Animal*, 7, 1158-1162.
- KNOX, R., SALAK-JOHNSON, J., HOPGOOD, M., GREINER, L. & CONNOR, J. 2014. Effect of day of mixing gestating sows on measures of reproductive performance and animal welfare. *Journal of animal science*, 92, 1698-1707.
- KOHLER, I., MOENS, Y., BUSATO, A., BLUM, J. & SCHATZMANN, U. 1998a. Inhalation anaesthesia for the castration of piglets: CO2 compared to halothane. *Journal of Veterinary Medicine Series A*, 45, 625-633.
- KOHLER, I., MOENS, Y., BUSATO, A., BLUM, J. & SCHATZMANN, U. 1998b. Inhalation anaesthesia for the castration of piglets: CO2 compared to halothane. *Transboundary and Emerging Diseases*, **45**, 625-633.
- KOKATE, J. Y., LELAND, K. J., HELD, A. M., HANSEN, G. L., KVEEN, G. L., JOHNSON, B. A., WILKE, M. S., SPARROW, E. M. & IAIZZO, P. A. 1995. Temperature-modulated pressure ulcers: a porcine model. *Archives of physical medicine and rehabilitation*, 76, 666-673.

- KOOLHAAS, J., KORTE, S., DE BOER, S., VAN DER VEGT, B., VAN REENEN, C., HOPSTER, H., DE JONG, I., RUIS, M. & BLOKHUIS, H. 1999. Coping styles in animals: current status in behavior and stress-physiology. *Neuroscience & Biobehavioral Reviews*, 23, 925-935.
- KRIDER, J., ALBRIGHT, J., PLUMLEE, M., CONRAD, J., SINCLAIR, C., UNDERWOOD, L., JONES, R. & HARRINGTON, R. 1975. Magnesium supplementation, space and docking effects on swine performance and behavior. *Journal of Animal Science*, 40, 1027-1033.
- KULLER, W., SOEDE, N., VAN BEERS-SCHREURS, H., LANGENDIJK, P., TAVERNE, M., VERHEIJDEN, J. & KEMP, B. 2004. Intermittent suckling: Effects on piglet and sow performance before and after weaning 1. *Journal of Animal Science*, 82, 405-413.
- KULLER, W., TOBIAS, T. & VAN NES, A. 2010. Creep feed intake in unweaned piglets is increased by exploration stimulating feeder. *Livestock Science*, 129, 228-231.
- LAHMANN, N. A. & KOTTNER, J. 2011. Relation between pressure, friction and pressure ulcer categories: a secondary data analysis of hospital patients using CHAID methods. *International journal of nursing studies*, 48, 1487-1494.
- LAHRMANN, H., BREMERMANN, N., KAUFMANN, O. & DAHMS, S. 2004. Health, growing performance and meat quality of pigs in indoor and outdoor housing--a controlled field trial. DTW. Deutsche tierarztliche Wochenschrift, 111, 205-208.
- LANGENDIJK, P., SOEDE, N. & KEMP, B. 2000. Effects of boar contact and housing conditions on estrus expression in weaned sows. *Journal of animal science*, 78, 871-878.
- LANGHOFF, R., ZOELS, S., BARZ, A., PALZER, A., RITZMANN, M. & HEINRITZI, K. 2009. Investigation about the use of analgesics for the reduction of castration-induced pain in suckling piglets. *Berliner und Munchener Tierarztliche Wochenschrift*, 122, 325-332.
- LARSEN, M. L. V., ANDERSEN, H. M.-L. & PEDERSEN, L. J. Both tail docking and straw provision reduce the risk of tail damage outbreaks. ISAE 2016 congress, 2016a.
- LARSEN, M. L. V., ANDERSEN, H. M.-L. & PEDERSEN, L. J. 2016b. Can tail damage outbreaks in the pig be predicted by behavioural change? *The Veterinary Journal*, 209, 50-56.
- LAWRENCE, A. B., NEWBERRY, R. C. & ŠPINKA, M. 2017. Positive welfare: What does it add to the debate over pig welfare? *Advances in Pig Welfare*. Elsevier.
- LAWRENCE, A. B., PETHERICK, J., MCLEAN, K., DEANS, L., CHIRNSIDE, J., GAUGHAN, A., CLUTTON, E. & TERLOUW, E. 1994. The effect of environment on behaviour, plasma cortisol and prolactin in parturient sows. *Applied Animal Behaviour Science*, 39, 313-330.
- LAWRENCE, A. B. & TERLOUW, E. 1993. A review of behavioral factors involved in the development and continued performance of stereotypic behaviors in pigs. *Journal of animal science*, 71, 2815-2825.
- LEACH, M. C., BOWELL, V. A., ALLAN, T. F. & MORTON, D. B. 2002. Aversion to gaseous euthanasia agents in rats and mice. *Comparative medicine*, 52, 249-257.
- LEARY, S. L., UNDERWOOD, W., ANTHONY, R., GWALTNEY-BRANT, S., POISON, A. & MEYER, R. AVMA guidelines for the euthanasia of animals: 2013 edition. 2013. American Veterinary Medical Association Schaumburg, IL.
- LEEB, B., LEEB, C., TROXLER, J. & SCHUH, M. 2001. Skin lesions and callosities in group-housed pregnant sows: animal-related welfare indicators. *Acta Agriculturae Scandinavica, Section A-Animal Science*, 51, 82-87.
- LEHMANN, M. L. & HERKENHAM, M. 2011. Environmental enrichment confers stress resiliency to social defeat through an infralimbic cortex-dependent neuroanatomical pathway. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 31, 6159-6173.
- LEVIS, D., BARNETT, J., HEMSWORTH, P. & JONGMAN, E. 1995. The effect of breeding facility and sexual stimulation on plasma cortisol in boars. *Journal of animal science*, 73, 3705-3711.

- LEVY, N. 2004. What makes us moral?: Crossing the boundaries of biology, Oneworld Publications Limited.
- LEWIS, E., BOYLE, L., BROPHY, P., O'DOHERTY, J. & LYNCH, P. 2005. The effect of two piglet teeth resection procedures on the welfare of sows in farrowing crates. Part 2. Applied Animal Behaviour Science, 90, 251-264.
- LI, Y. & GONYOU, H. 2013. Comparison of management options for sows kept in pens with electronic feeding stations. *Canadian Journal of Animal Science*, 93, 445-452.
- LI, Y. & WANG, L. 2011. Effects of previous housing system on agonistic behaviors of growing pigs at mixing. *Applied Animal Behaviour Science*, 132, 20-26.
- LIU, D., DIORIO, J., DAY, J. C., FRANCIS, D. D. & MEANEY, M. J. 2000. Maternal care, hippocampal synaptogenesis and cognitive development in rats. *Nature neuroscience*, 3, 799.
- LONGAIR, J. A., FINLEY, G. G., LANIEL, M.-A., MACKAY, C., MOULD, K., OLFERT, E. D., ROWSELL, H. & PRESTON, A. 1991. Guidelines for euthanasia of domestic animals by firearms. *The Canadian Veterinary Journal*, 32, 724.
- LØVENDAHL, P., DAMGAARD, L. H., NIELSEN, B. L., THODBERG, K., SU, G. & RYDHMER, L. 2005. Aggressive behaviour of sows at mixing and maternal behaviour are heritable and genetically correlated traits. *Livestock Production Science*, 93, 73-85.
- LUNDGREN, H., ZUMBACH, B., LUNDEHEIM, N., GRANDINSON, K., VANGEN, O., OLSEN, D. & RYDHMER, L. 2012. Heritability of shoulder ulcers and genetic correlations with mean piglet weight and sow body condition. *Animal*, 6, 1-8.
- LUNDSTRÖM, K., MATTHEWS, K. & HAUGEN, J.-E. 2009. Pig meat quality from entire males. *Animal*, 3, 1497-1507.
- LYONS, C., BRUCE, J., FOWLER, V. & ENGLISH, P. 1995. A comparison of productivity and welfare of growing pigs in four intensive systems. *Livestock production science*, 43, 265-274.
- MAESTRIPIERI, D., LINDELL, S. G. & HIGLEY, J. D. 2007. Intergenerational transmission of maternal behavior in rhesus macaques and its underlying mechanisms. *Developmental psychobiology*, 49, 165-171.
- MAIN, D., CLEGG, J., SPATZ, A. & GREEN, L. 2000. Repeatability of a lameness scoring system for finishing pigs. *The Veterinary Record*, 147, 574-576.
- MAIN, D., MULLAN, S., ATKINSON, C., COOPER, M., WRATHALL, J. & BLOKHUIS, H. 2014. Best practice framework for animal welfare certification schemes. *Trends in Food Science & Technology*, 37, 127-136.
- MARCHANT-FORDE, J., LAY JR, D., MCMUNN, K., CHENG, H. W., PAJOR, E. & MARCHANT-FORDE, R. 2009. Postnatal piglet husbandry practices and well-being: the effects of alternative techniques delivered separately. *Journal of animal science*, 87, 1479-1492.
- MARCHANT-FORDE, J. N. 2009. Welfare of dry sows. The welfare of pigs. Springer.
- MARKOWITZ, H., ADAY, C. & GAVAZZI, A. 1995. Effectiveness of acoustic "prey": Environmental enrichment for a captive African leopard (Panthera pardus). Zoo Biology, 14, 371-379.
- MARTIN, J. & EDWARDS, S. 1994. Feeding behaviour of outdoor sows: the effects of diet quantity and type. Applied Animal Behaviour Science, 41, 63-74.
- MARTIN, J. E., ISON, S. H. & BAXTER, E. M. 2015. The influence of neonatal environment on piglet play behaviour and post-weaning social and cognitive development. *Applied Animal Behaviour Science*, 163, 69-79.
- MASON, G. 2006. Stereotypic behaviour: fundamentals and applications to animal welfare and beyond. Stereotypic Behaviour in Captive Animals: Fundamentals and Applications to Welfare.
- MASON, G. J. 1991. Stereotypies: a critical review. Animal behaviour, 41, 1015-1037.

- MASON, G. J. & LATHAM, N. 2004. Can't stop, won't stop: is stereotypy a reliable animal welfare indicator?
- MAUGET, R. 1981. Behavioural and reproductive strategies in wild forms of Sus scrofa (European wild boar and feral pigs). The welfare of pigs. Springer.
- MCEWEN, B. S. 2007. Physiology and neurobiology of stress and adaptation: central role of the brain. *Physiological reviews*, 87, 873-904.
- MCGLONE, J., NICHOLSON, R., HELLMAN, J. & HERZOG, D. 1993. The development of pain in young pigs associated with castration and attempts to prevent castration-induced behavioral changes. *Journal of Animal Science*, 71, 1441-1446.
- MCGLONE, J. J. 1986. Agonistic Behavior in Food Animals: Review of Research and Techniques 1, 2. *Journal of Animal Science*, 62, 1130-1139.
- MCGLONE, J. J., CURTIS, S. E. & BANKS, E. M. 1987. Evidence for aggression-modulating pheromones in prepuberal pigs. *Behavioral and neural biology*, 47, 27-39.
- MCGLONE, J. J. & HELLMAN, J. 1988. Local and general anesthetic effects on behavior and performance of two-and seven-week-old castrated and uncastrated piglets. *Journal of animal science*, 66, 3049-3058.
- MCGLONE, J. J. & NEWBY, B. E. 1994. Space requirements for finishing pigs in confinement: behavior and performance while group size and space vary. *Applied animal behaviour science*, 39, 331-338.
- MCKINNON, A., EDWARDS, S., STEPHENS, D. & WALTERS, D. 1989. Behaviour of groups of weaner pigs in three different housing systems. *British Veterinary Journal*, 145, 367-372.
- MCKINSTRY, J. & ANIL, M. 2004. The effect of repeat application of electrical stunning on the welfare of pigs. *Meat science*, **67**, 121-128.
- MEANEY, M. J., AITKEN, D. H., VAN BERKEL, C., BHATNAGAR, S. & SAPOLSKY, R. M. 1988. Effect of neonatal handling on age-related impairments associated with the hippocampus. *Science*, 239, 766-768.
- MELLOR, D. 2012. Animal emotions, behaviour and the promotion of positive welfare states. Taylor & Francis.
- MELLOR, D., PATTERSON-KANE, E. & STAFFORD, K. J. 2009. The sciences of animal welfare, John Wiley & Sons.
- MELLOR, D. J. 2015a. Enhancing animal welfare by creating opportunities for positive affective engagement. New Zealand Veterinary Journal, 63, 3-8.
- MELLOR, D. J. 2015b. Positive animal welfare states and encouraging environment-focused and animal-to-animal interactive behaviours. *New Zealand Veterinary Journal*, 63, 9-16.
- MELLOR, D. J. & DIESCH, T. J. 2006. Onset of sentience: the potential for suffering in fetal and newborn farm animals. *Applied Animal Behaviour Science*, 100, 48-57.
- MELOTTI, L., OOSTINDJER, M., BOLHUIS, J. E., HELD, S. & MENDL, M. 2011. Coping personality type and environmental enrichment affect aggression at weaning in pigs. *Applied animal behaviour science*, 133, 144-153.
- MENCH, J. A. 1994. Environmental enrichment and exploration. Lab. Anim.(NY), 23, 38-41.
- MENDL, M., BURMAN, O. H., PARKER, R. M. & PAUL, E. S. 2009. Cognitive bias as an indicator of animal emotion and welfare: emerging evidence and underlying mechanisms. *Applied Animal Behaviour Science*, 118, 161-181.
- MENDL, M., ZANELLA, A. J. & BROOM, D. M. 1992. Physiological and reproductive correlates of behavioural strategies in female domestic pigs. *Animal Behaviour*, 44, 1107-1121.
- MEUNIER-SALAÜN, M., EDWARDS, S. & ROBERT, S. 2001. Effect of dietary fibre on the behaviour and health of the restricted fed sow. *Animal Feed Science and Technology*, **90**, 53-69.

- MEUNIER-SALAUN, M., VANTRIMPONTE, M., RAAB, A. & DANTZER, R. 1987. Effect of Floor Area Restriction upon Performance, Behavior and Physiology of Growing-Finishing Pigs I. *Journal of Animal Science*, 64, 1371-1377.
- MILLET, S., MOONS, C. P., VAN OECKEL, M. J. & JANSSENS, G. P. 2005. Welfare, performance and meat quality of fattening pigs in alternative housing and management systems: a review. *Journal of the Science of Food and Agriculture*, 85, 709-719.
- MILLS, D. S. & MARCHANT-FORDE, J. N. 2010. The encyclopedia of applied animal behaviour and welfare, CABI.
- MOBERG, G. P. 2000. Biological response to stress: implications for animal welfare. The biology of animal stress: basic principles and implications for animal welfare, 1-21.
- MOINARD, C., MENDL, M., NICOL, C. & GREEN, L. 2003. A case control study of on-farm risk factors for tail biting in pigs. *Applied Animal Behaviour Science*, 81, 333-355.
- MORGAN, C., DEANS, L., LAWRENCE, A. & NIELSEN, B. L. 1998. The effects of straw bedding on the feeding and social behaviour of growing pigs fed by means of single-space feeders. *Applied Animal Behaviour Science*, 58, 23-33.
- MORRISON, R., CRONIN, G. & HEMSWORTH, P. Sow housing in Australia—current Australian welfare research and future directions. Proceedings of the Twelveth Biennial Conference of the Australasian Pig Science Association (APSA). Manipulating Pig Production XII, 2011. 219-233.
- MORRISON, R., JOHNSON, C., KELLS, N. & HEMSWORTH, P. 2016. Commercially-viable strategies to reduce the acute pain of tail docking in piglets. . Australian Pork Limited Final Report.
- MORRISON, R., KELLS, N., JOHNSON, C. & HEMSWORTH, P. 2013. Assessment of pain induced by tail docking in piglets and strategies to reduce this pain.
- MORROW, W. M., MEYER, R. E., ROBERTS, J. & LASCELLES, D. 2006. Financial and welfare implications of immediately euthanizing compromised nursery pigs. *Journal of Swine Health and Production*, 14, 25-34.
- MÖSSELE, A., WINTERMANN, M., SANDER, S. & KAMPHUES, J. 2012. Effect of diet grinding and pelleting fed either dry or liquid feed on dry matter and pH in the stomach of pigs and the development of gastric ulcers. *Journal of animal science*, 90, 343-345.
- MOUSTSEN, V., HALES, J., LAHRMANN, H., WEBER, P. M. & HANSEN, C. F. 2013. Confinement of lactating sows in crates for 4 days after farrowing reduces piglet mortality. *Animal*, **7**, 648-654.
- MOUSTSEN, V., LAHRMANN, H. & D'EATH, R. 2011. Relationship between size and age of modern hyper-prolific crossbred sows. *Livestock Science*, 141, 272-275.
- MUNSTERHJELM, C., BRUNBERG, E., HEINONEN, M., KEELING, L. & VALROS, A. 2013. Stress measures in tail biters and bitten pigs in a matched case-control study. *Animal Welfare*, 22, 331-338.
- MUNSTERHJELM, C., HEINONEN, M. & VALROS, A. 2015a. Application of the Welfare Quality® animal welfare assessment system in Finnish pig production, part I: Identification of principal components. *Animal Welfare*, 24, 151-160.
- MUNSTERHJELM, C., HEINONEN, M. & VALROS, A. 2015b. Effects of clinical lameness and tail biting lesions on voluntary feed intake in growing pigs. *Livestock science*, 181, 210-219.
- MUNSTERHJELM, C., HEINONEN, M. & VALROS, A. 2016. Can tail-in-mouth behaviour in weaned piglets be predicted by behaviour and performance? *Applied Animal Behaviour Science*, 184, 16-24.

- MUNSTERHJELM, C., PELTONIEMI, O. A., HEINONEN, M., HÄLLI, O., KARHAPÄÄ, M. & VALROS, A. 2009. Experience of moderate bedding affects behaviour of growing pigs. *Applied Animal Behaviour Science*, 118, 42-53.
- NANNONI, E., VALSAMI, T., SARDI, L. & MARTELLI, G. 2014. Tail docking in pigs: a review on its short-and long-term consequences and effectiveness in preventing tail biting. *Italian Journal of Animal Science*, 13, 3095.
- NATIONALPORKBOARD 2008. On-farm euthanasia for swine. Recommendations for the producer. Publication 04259-01/09. Des Moines IA: National Pork Board.
- NEWBERRY, R., WOOD-GUSH, D. & HALL, J. 1988. Playful behaviour of piglets. *Behavioural Processes*, 17, 205-216.
- NEWBERRY, R. C. 1995. Environmental enrichment: increasing the biological relevance of captive environments. *Applied Animal Behaviour Science*, 44, 229-243.
- NIELSEN, B. L., LAWRENCE, A. B. & WHITTEMORE, C. T. 1995. Effect of group size on feeding behaviour, social behaviour, and performance of growing pigs using single-space feeders. *Livestock Production Science*, 44, 73-85.
- NIELSEN, E. K. & INGVARTSEN, K. L. 2000. Effects of cereal disintegration method, feeding method and straw as bedding on stomach characteristics including ulcers and performance in growing pigs. Acta Agriculturae Scandinavica, Section A-Animal Science, 50, 30-38.
- NOONAN, G., RAND, J., PRIEST, J., AINSCOW, J. & BLACKSHAW, J. 1994. Behavioural observations of piglets undergoing tail docking, teeth clipping and ear notching. *Applied Animal Behaviour Science*, 39, 203-213.
- NUNTAPAITOON, M. & TUMMARUK, P. 2015. Piglet preweaning mortality in a commercial swine herd in Thailand. *Tropical animal health and production*, 47, 1539-1546.
- O'CONNELL, N., BEATTIE, V. & WEATHERUP, R. 2004. Influence of group size during the post-weaning period on the performance and behaviour of pigs. *Livestock Production Science*, 86, 225-232.
- O'CONNOR, A., ANTHONY, R., BERGAMASCO, L., COETZEE, J., GOULD, S., JOHNSON, A. K., KARRIKER, L. A., MARCHANT-FORDE, J., MARTINEAU, G. & MCKEAN, J. 2014. Pain management in the neonatal piglet during routine management procedures. Part 2: grading the quality of evidence and the strength of recommendations. *Animal Health Research Reviews*, 15, 39-62.
- OIE 2010. Killing of animals for disease control purposes. In: Terrestrial Animal Health Code. Paris FR: World Organization for Animal

Health.

- . World Organization for Animal Health (OIE) (2010). Chapter 7.6
- OLIVIERO, C., HEINONEN, M., VALROS, A., HÄLLI, O. & PELTONIEMI, O. 2008. Effect of the environment on the physiology of the sow during late pregnancy, farrowing and early lactation. *Animal reproduction science*, 105, 365-377.
- OLSSON, A.-C., ANDERSSON, M., BOTERMANS, J., RANTZER, D. & SVENDSEN, J. 2011. Animal interaction and response to electronic sow feeding (ESF) in 3 different herds and effects of function settings to increase capacity. *Livestock Science*, 137, 268-272.
- ONYANGO, P. O., GESQUIERE, L. R., WANGO, E. O., ALBERTS, S. C. & ALTMANN, J. 2008. Persistence of maternal effects in baboons: mother's dominance rank at son's conception predicts stress hormone levels in subadult males. *Hormones and behavior*, 54, 319-324.
- OOSTINDJER, M., KEMP, B., VAN DEN BRAND, H. & BOLHUIS, J. E. 2014. Facilitating 'learning from mom how to eat like a pig'to improve welfare of piglets around weaning. *Applied Animal Behaviour Science*, 160, 19-30.

- OOSTINDJER, M., VAN DEN BRAND, H., KEMP, B. & BOLHUIS, J. E. 2011. Effects of environmental enrichment and loose housing of lactating sows on piglet behaviour before and after weaning. *Applied Animal Behaviour Science*, 134, 31-41.
- PAIRIS-GARCIA, M., JOHNSON, A., STALDER, K., ABELL, C., KARRIKER, L., COETZEE, J. & MILLMAN, S. 2015. Behavioural evaluation of analgesic efficacy for pain mitigation in lame sows. *Anim Welf*, 24, 93-9.
- PAJOR, E., WEARY, D., FRASER, D. & KRAMER, D. 1999. Alternative housing for sows and litters:

 1. Effects of sow-controlled housing on responses to weaning. *Applied Animal Behaviour Science*, 65, 105-121.
- PALANDER, P. A. 2016. The Tail biting pig-Nutritional and physiological approaches to understanding the behavior.
- PEDERSEN, B. 1998. Heritability of skatole in back fat. Skatole and boar taint, 129-136.
- PEDERSEN, L., ROJKITTIKHUN, T., EINARSSON, S. & EDQVIST, L.-E. 1993. Postweaning grouped sows: effects of aggression on hormonal patterns and oestrous behaviour. *Applied animal behaviour science*, 38, 25-39.
- PEDERSEN, L. J. 2018. Chapter I Overview of commercial pig production systems and their main welfare challenges A2 Špinka, Marek. Advances in Pig Welfare. Woodhead Publishing.
- PEDERSEN, L. J., HERSKIN, M. S., FORKMAN, B., ELVANG, H. & MARGIT, J. Increasing amounts of straw increase growing pigs production and health. International Conference on Pig Welfare: Improving Pig Welfare-What are the Ways forward, 2015.
- PETCHEY, A. & HUNT, K. 1990. The boar: size and space requirements. Farm Building Progress, 17-20.
- PETERSON, A. & LEE, R.-F. 2003. Improving successful pregnancies after embryo transfer. *Theriogenology*, **59**, **687-697**.
- PETHERICK, J. 1983. A biological basis for the design of space in livestock housing. Farm animal housing and welfare, 103-120.
- PLUSKE, J., MULLAN, B. & KIM, J. 2017. Cereal and protein sources fed to pigs after weaning influence faecal shedding of β-haemolytic Escherichia coli. *Animal Production Science*, **57**, 2507-2507.
- PRICE, E. O. 2002. Animal domestication and behavior, Cabi.
- PRUNIER, A. & BONNEAU, M. 2006. Quelles alternatives à la castration des porcelets. *Journ Rech. Porcine Fr*, 38, 427-436.
- PRUNIER, A., BONNEAU, M., VON BORELL, E., CINOTTI, S., GUNN, M., FREDRIKSEN, B., GIERSING, M., MORTON, D., TUYTTENS, F. & VELARDE, A. 2006. A review of the welfare consequences of surgical castration in piglets and the evaluation of non-surgical methods. ANIMAL WELFARE-POTTERS BAR THEN WHEATHAMPSTEAD-, 15, 277.
- PRUNIER, A., MOUNIER, A. & HAY, M. 2005. Effects of castration, tooth resection, or tail docking on plasma metabolites and stress hormones in young pigs 1. *Journal of Animal Science*, 83, 216-222.
- QUINIOU, N., DAGORN, J. & GAUDRÉ, D. 2002. Variation of piglets' birth weight and consequences on subsequent performance. Livestock Production Science, 78, 63-70.
- RAJ, A. 1999. gases and the time required to stun and kill them: welfare implications. *The Veterinary Record*, 144, 168.
- RAJ, A. 2006. Recent developments in stunning and slaughter of poultry. *World's Poultry Science Journal*, 62, 467-484.
- RAJ, A. & GREGORY, N. 1995. Welfare implications of the gas stunning of pigs 1. Determination of aversion to the initial inhalation of carbon dioxide or argon. *Animal welfare*, 4, 273-280.

- RAJ, A. & GREGORY, N. 1996. Welfare implications of the gas stunning of pigs 2. Stress of induction of anaesthesia. *Animal Welfare*, 5, 71-78.
- RAMONET, Y., MEUNIER-SALAÜN, M.-C. & DOURMAD, J.-Y. 1999. High-fiber diets in pregnant sows: digestive utilization and effects on the behavior of the animals. *Journal of animal science*, 77, 591-599.
- RANDOLPH, J., CROMWELL, G., STAHLY, T. & KRATZER, D. 1981. Effects of group size and space allowance on performance and behavior of swine. *Journal of Animal Science*, 53, 922-927.
- RAULT, J.-L., KELLS, N., JOHNSON, C., DENNIS, R., SUTHERLAND, M. & LAY JR, D. C. 2015. Nitrous oxide as a humane method for piglet euthanasia: Behavior and electroencephalography (EEG). *Physiology & behavior*, 151, 29-37.
- RAULT, J.-L. & LAY, D. 2011. Nitrous oxide by itself is insufficient to relieve pain due to castration in piglets. *Journal of animal science*, 89, 3318-3325.
- RAULT, J.-L., LAY, D. C. & MARCHANT-FORDE, J. N. 2011. Castration induced pain in pigs and other livestock. *Applied Animal Behaviour Science*, 135, 214-225.
- RAULT, J.-L., MCMUNN, K., MARCHANT-FORDE, J. & LAY JR, D. 2013. Gas alternatives to carbon dioxide for euthanasia: A piglet perspective. *Journal of animal science*, 91, 1874-1883.
- RAULT, J.-L., MORRISON, R., HANSEN, C. F., HANSEN, L. & HEMSWORTH, P. 2014. Effects of group housing after weaning on sow welfare and sexual behavior. *Journal of animal science*, 92, 5683-5692.
- RAUW, W., KANIS, E., NOORDHUIZEN-STASSEN, E. & GROMMERS, F. 1998. Undesirable side effects of selection for high production efficiency in farm animals: a review. *Livestock production science*, 56, 15-33.
- REMIENCE, V., WAVREILLE, J., CANART, B., MEUNIER-SALAÜN, M.-C., PRUNIER, A., BARTIAUX-THILL, N., NICKS, B. & VANDENHEEDE, M. 2008. Effects of space allowance on the welfare of dry sows kept in dynamic groups and fed with an electronic sow feeder. *Applied Animal Behaviour Science*, 112, 284-296.
- RIOJA-LANG, F. C., SEDDON, Y. M. & BROWN, J. A. 2018. Shoulder lesions in sows: A review of their causes, prevention, and treatment. *Journal of Swine Health and Production*, 26, 101-107.
- RIZVI, S., NICOL, C. & GREEN, L. 1998. Risk factors for vulva biting in breeding sows in south-west England. *The Veterinary Record*, 143, 654-658.
- ROBERT, S., MATTE, J., FARMER, C., GIRARD, C. & MARTINEAU, G. 1993. High-fibre diets for sows: effects on stereotypies and adjunctive drinking. *Applied Animal Behaviour Science*, 37, 297-309.
- ROBERT, S., RUSHEN, J. & FARMER, C. 1997. Both energy content and bulk of food affect stereotypic behaviour, heart rate and feeding motivation of female pigs. *Applied Animal Behaviour Science*, 54, 161-171.
- ROBERTSON, I., ACCIOLY, J., MOORE, K., DRIESEN, S., PETHICK, D. & HAMPSON, D. 2002. Risk factors for gastric ulcers in Australian pigs at slaughter. *Preventive veterinary medicine*, 53, 293-303.
- RODRÍGUEZ, P., DALMAU, A., RUIZ-DE-LA-TORRE, J., MANTECA, X., JENSEN, E., RODRIGUEZ, B., LITVAN, H. & VELARDE, A. 2008. Assessment of unconsciousness during carbon dioxide stunning in pigs. *Animal Welfare*, 17, 341-349.
- ROLANDSDOTTER, E., WESTIN, R. & ALGERS, B. 2009. Maximum lying bout duration affects the occurrence of shoulder lesions in sows. *Acta Veterinaria Scandinavica*, 51, 44.
- ROSENDAL, T. & NIELSEN, J. P. Risk factors for the development of decubital ulcers over the scapula in sows. Proceedings of the 18th IPVS Congress, Hamburg, Germany IPVS, 2004.

- RUITERKAMP, W. 1987. The behaviour of grower pigs in relation to housing systems. *Netherlands Journal of Agricultural Science (Netherlands)*.
- RUITERKAMP, W. A. 1985. Het gedrag van mestvarkens in relatie tot huisvesting.
- RUSHEN, J. & PASSILLÉ, A. M. B. D. 1992. The scientific assessment of the impact of housing on animal welfare: a critical review. *Canadian Journal of Animal Science*, 72, 721-743.
- RYDHMER, L., LUNDSTRÖM, K. & ANDERSSON, K. 2010. Immunocastration reduces aggressive and sexual behaviour in male pigs. *animal*, 4, 965-972.
- SADLER, L., HAGEN, C., WANG, C., WIDOWSKI, T. & MILLMAN, S. Comparison of different behaviors as indicators of distress in piglets euthanized via CO2 or mixed CO2: Argon gas at different flow rates using the Smart Box euthanasia device. Proc. 5 th Inter. Conf. Assess. Anim. Welf. Farm Group Level (WAFL), Guelph, Canada, 2011a. 96.
- SADLER, L., KARRIKER, L., SCHWARTZ, K., JOHNSON, A., WIDOWSKI, T., WANG, C., SUTHERLAND, M. & MILLMAN, S. 2014c. Are severely depressed suckling pigs resistant to gas euthanasia. *Anim. Welf,* 3, 145-155.
- SADLER, L. J., HAGEN, C., WANG, C., WIDOWSKI, T., JOHNSON, A. & MILLMAN, S. T. 2014. Effects of flow rate and gas mixture on the welfare of weaned and neonate pigs during gas euthanasia. *Journal of animal science*, 92, 793-805.
- SADLER, L. J., HAGEN, C., WANG, C., WIDOWSKI, T., JOHNSON, A. & MILLMAN, S. T. 2014b. Effects of flow rate and gas mixture on the welfare of weaned and neonate pigs during gas euthanasia. *Journal of animal science*, 92, 793-805.
- SALAK-JOHNSON, J., DEDECKER, A., HORSMAN, M. & RODRIGUEZ-ZAS, S. 2012. Space allowance for gestating sows in pens: Behavior and immunity. *Journal of Animal Science*, 90, 3232-3242.
- SALAK-JOHNSON, J., NIEKAMP, S., RODRIGUEZ-ZAS, S., ELLIS, M. & CURTIS, S. 2007. Space allowance for dry, pregnant sows in pens: Body condition, skin lesions, and performance I. *Journal of Animal Science*, 85, 1758-1769.
- SAMARAKONE, T. S. & GONYOU, H. W. 2009. Domestic pigs alter their social strategy in response to social group size. *Applied Animal Behaviour Science*, 121, 8-15.
- SAMBRAUS, H. & SCHUNKE, B. 1982. Verhaltensstorungen bei Zuchtsauen im Kastenstand. Wiener tierarztliche Monatsschrift.
- SANDERCOCK, D., SMITH, S., DI GIMINIANI, P. & EDWARDS, S. 2016. Histopathological characterization of tail injury and traumatic neuroma development after tail docking in piglets. *Journal of comparative pathology*, 155, 40-49.
- SANDERCOCK, D. A., GIBSON, I. F., RUTHERFORD, K. M., DONALD, R. D., LAWRENCE, A. B., BRASH, H. M., SCOTT, E. M. & NOLAN, A. M. 2011. The impact of prenatal stress on basal nociception and evoked responses to tail-docking and inflammatory challenge in juvenile pigs. *Physiology & behavior*, 104, 728-737.
- SAPOLSKY, R. M. 2002. Endocrinology of the stress-response.
- SCHMIDT, A., DIACONESCU, A. O., KOMETER, M., FRISTON, K. J., STEPHAN, K. E. & VOLLENWEIDER, F. X. 2012. Modeling ketamine effects on synaptic plasticity during the mismatch negativity. *Cerebral Cortex*, 23, 2394-2406.
- SCHMOLKE, S., LI, Y. & GONYOU, H. 2003. Effect of group size on performance of growing-finishing pigs. *Journal of Animal Science*, 81, 874-878.
- SCHMOLKE, S. A., LI, Y. Z. & GONYOU, H. W. 2004. Effects of group size on social behavior following regrouping of growing–finishing pigs. *Applied Animal Behaviour Science*, **88**, 27-38.

- SCHNEIDER, J., TOKACH, M., DRITZ, S., NELSSEN, J., DEROUCHEY, J. & GOODBAND, R. 2007. Effects of feeding schedule on body condition, aggressiveness, and reproductive failure in group-housed sows. *Journal of animal science*, 85, 3462-3469.
- SCHOUTEN, W. & RUSHEN, J. 1992. Effects of naloxone on stereotypic and normal behaviour of tethered and loose-housed sows. *Applied Animal Behaviour Science*, 33, 17-26.
- SCHRØDER-PETERSEN, D. L. & SIMONSEN, H. 2001. Tail biting in pigs. *The Veterinary Journal*, 162, 196-210.
- SCOLLO, A., CONTIERO, B. & GOTTARDO, F. 2016. Frequency of tail lesions and risk factors for tail biting in heavy pig production from weaning to 170 kg live weight. *The Veterinary Journal*, 207, 92-98.
- SCOLLO, A., GOTTARDO, F., CONTIERO, B. & EDWARDS, S. A. 2014. Does stocking density modify affective state in pigs as assessed by cognitive bias, behavioural and physiological parameters? *Applied Animal Behaviour Science*, 153, 26-35.
- SCOTT, K., BINNENDIJK, G., EDWARDS, S., GUY, J., KIEZEBRINK, M. & VERMEER, H. 2009. Preliminary evaluation of a prototype welfare monitoring system for sows and piglets (Welfare Quality® project). *Animal Welfare*, 18, 441-449.
- SCOTT, K., CHENNELLS, D., CAMPBELL, F. M., HUNT, B., ARMSTRONG, D., TAYLOR, L., GILL, B. & EDWARDS, S. 2006. The welfare of finishing pigs in two contrasting housing systems: Fully-slatted versus straw-bedded accommodation. *Livestock Science*, 103, 104-115.
- SCOTT, K., TAYLOR, L., GILL, B. P. & EDWARDS, S. A. 2007. Influence of different types of environmental enrichment on the behaviour of finishing pigs in two different housing systems: 2. Ratio of pigs to enrichment. *Applied Animal Behaviour Science*, 105, 51-58.
- SETH, A. K., BAARS, B. J. & EDELMAN, D. B. 2005. Criteria for consciousness in humans and other mammals. *Consciousness and cognition*, 14, 119-139.
- SIMONSEN, H., KLINKEN, L. & BINDSEIL, E. 1991. Histopathology of intact and docked pigtails. *British Veterinary Journal*, 147, 407-412.
- SINGH, C. & HEMSWORTH, P. Comparison of the behaviour of piglets housed in loose pens and farrowing crates. Proceedings of the Fourteenth Biennial Conference of the Australasian Pig Science Association (APSA), Manipulating Pig Production XIV, 2013. 242.
- SINGH, C., VERDON, M., CRONIN, G. & HEMSWORTH, P. 2017. The behaviour and welfare of sows and piglets in farrowing crates or lactation pens. *animal*, 11, 1210-1221.
- SMITH, A. C., EHLER, W. J. & SWINDLE, M. M. 2008. Anesthesia and analgesia in laboratory animals. Elsevier.
- SMITH, A. L., STALDER, K. J., SERENIUS, T. V., BAAS, T. J. & MABRY, J. W. 2007. Effect of piglet birth weight on weights at weaning and 42 days post weaning. *Journal of Swine Health and Production*, 15, 213-218.
- SMITH, R. K., RAULT, J.-L., GATES, R. S. & LAY, D. C. 2018. A Two-Step Process of Nitrous Oxide before Carbon Dioxide for Humanely Euthanizing Piglets: On-Farm Trials. *Animals*, 8, 52.
- SMULDERS, D., HAUTEKIET, V., VERBEKE, G. & GEERS, R. 2008. Tail and ear biting lesions in pigs: an epidemiological study. *Animal Welfare*, 17, 61-69.
- SPARREY, J. & WOTTON, S. 1997. The design of pig stunning tong electrodes—A review. *Meat Science*, 47, 125-133.
- SPICER, H. & AHERNE, F. 1987. The effects of group size/stocking density on weanling pig performance and behavior. *Applied Animal Behaviour Science*, 19, 89-98.
- ŠPINKA, M., ILLMANN, G., DE JONGE, F., ANDERSSON, M., SCHUURMAN, T. & JENSEN, P. 2000. Dimensions of maternal behaviour characteristics in domestic and wild× domestic crossbred sows. *Applied Animal Behaviour Science*, 70, 99-114.

- SPOOLDER, H., GEUDEKE, M., VAN DER PEET-SCHWERING, C. & SOEDE, N. 2009. Group housing of sows in early pregnancy: A review of success and risk factors. *Livestock Science*, 125, 1-14.
- SPOOLDER, H. A., BURBIDGE, J. A., EDWARDS, S. A., SIMMINS, P. H. & LAWRENCE, A. B. 1995. Provision of straw as a foraging substrate reduces the development of excessive chain and bar manipulation in food restricted sows. *Applied Animal Behaviour Science*, 43, 249-262.
- STALDER, K., KNAUER, M., BAAS, T., ROTHSCHILD, M. & MABRY, J. 2004. Sow longevity. *Pig News and information*, 25, 53N.
- STEEN, H. A. V. D. 1994. Genotypes for outdoor production. Pig News and Information, 15, 129-130.
- STEGEMAN, A., ELBERS, A., DE SMIT, H., MOSER, H., SMAK, J. & PLUIMERS, F. 2000. The 1997–1998 epidemic of classical swine fever in the Netherlands. *Veterinary Microbiology*, 73, 183-196
- STEVENS, B., KARLEN, G. M., MORRISON, R., GONYOU, H. W., BUTLER, K. L., KERSWELL, K. J. & HEMSWORTH, P. H. 2015. Effects of stage of gestation at mixing on aggression, injuries and stress in sows. Applied animal behaviour science, 165, 40-46.
- STOLBA, A., BAKER, N. & WOOD-GUSH, D. 1983. The characterisation of stereotyped behaviour in stalled sows by informational redundancy. *Behaviour*, 87, 157-182.
- STOLBA, A. & WOOD-GUSH, D. 1989. The behaviour of pigs in a semi-natural environment. *Animal Science*, 48, 419-425.
- STRAW, B. & BARTLETT, P. 2001. Flank or belly nosing in weaned pigs. *Journal of swine health and production*, 9, 19-23.
- STRAWFORD, M., LI, Y. & GONYOU, H. 2008. The effect of management strategies and parity on the behaviour and physiology of gestating sows housed in an electronic sow feeding system. *Canadian journal of animal science*, 88, 559-567.
- STREET, B. & GONYOU, H. 2008. Effects of housing finishing pigs in two group sizes and at two floor space allocations on production, health, behavior, and physiological variables 1. *Journal of Animal Science*, 86, 982-991.
- STUDNITZ, M., JENSEN, K. H. & JØRGENSEN, E. 2003. The effect of nose rings on the exploratory behaviour of outdoor gilts exposed to different tests. *Applied Animal Behaviour Science*, 84, 41-57.
- SUTHERLAND, M. 2010. Developing best management practices for on-farm euthanasia of young pigs using carbon dioxide gas. National Pork Board Des Moines, IA.
- SUTHERLAND, M. 2015a. Welfare implications of invasive piglet husbandry procedures, methods of alleviation and alternatives: a review. New Zealand veterinary journal, 63, 52-57.
- SUTHERLAND, M., BRYER, P. & BACKUS, B. 2017. The effect of age and method of gas delivery on carbon dioxide euthanasia of pigs. *Animal Welfare*, 26, 293-299.
- SUTHERLAND, M., BRYER, P., KREBS, N. & MCGLONE, J. 2008. Tail docking in pigs: acute physiological and behavioural responses. *Animal*, 2, 292-297.
- SUTHERLAND, M., BRYER, P., KREBS, N. & MCGLONE, J. 2009. The effect of method of tail docking on tail-biting behaviour and welfare of pigs. *Animal Welfare*, 18, 561-570.
- SUTHERLAND, M., DAVIS, B., BROOKS, T. & MCGLONE, J. 2010. Physiology and behavior of pigs before and after castration: effects of two topical anesthetics. *Animal*, 4, 2071-2079.
- SUTHERLAND, M., DAVIS, B. & MCGLONE, J. 2011. The effect of local or general anesthesia on the physiology and behavior of tail docked pigs. *Animal*, 5, 1237-1246.
- SUTHERLAND, M. A. 2015b. Welfare implications of invasive piglet husbandry procedures, methods of alleviation and alternatives: a review. *New Zealand Veterinary Journal*, **63**, 52-57.

- SUTHERLAND, M. A. & TUCKER, C. B. 2011. The long and short of it: A review of tail docking in farm animals. *Applied Animal Behaviour Science*, 135, 179-191.
- SWABY, H. & GREGORY, N. 2012. A note on the frequency of gastric ulcers detected during post-mortem examination at a pig abattoir. *Meat science*, **90**, 269-271.
- TAJET, H. & ANDRESEN, Ø. 2006. Estimation of genetic parameters of boar taint; skatole and androstenone and their correlations with sexual maturation. *Acta Veterinaria Scandinavica*, 48, S9.
- TALLET, RAKOTOMAHANDRY, HERLEMONT & PRUNIER 2016. Impact de la coupe de queue sur le comportement des porcelets allaite s. Presented at 48e mes Journe es de la Recherche Porcine en France, 47, 235-240.
- TALLING, J., WARAN, N., WATHES, C. & LINES, J. 1996. Behavioural and physiological responses of pigs to sound. Applied animal behaviour science, 48, 187-201.
- TANNENBAUM, J. 2001. The paradigm shift toward animal happiness: what it is, why it is happening, and what it portends for medical research. Why Animal Experimentation Matters: The Use of Animals in Medical Research. Transaction Publishers, New Brunswick, 93-130.
- TAROU, L. R. & BASHAW, M. J. 2007. Maximizing the effectiveness of environmental enrichment: Suggestions from the experimental analysis of behavior. *Applied Animal Behaviour Science*, 102, 189-204.
- TAYLOR, A. A., WEARY, D. M., LESSARD, M. & BRAITHWAITE, L. 2001. Behavioural responses of piglets to castration: the effect of piglet age. *Applied Animal Behaviour Science*, 73, 35-43.
- TAYLOR, I., BARNETT, J., CRONIN, G., BOTTCHER, R. & HOFF, S. Optimum group size for pigs. Proceeding of the 5th International Symposium on Livestock Environment, American Society of Agricultural Engineers, St. Joseph, MI, 1997. 965-971.
- TAYLOR, N. R., MAIN, D. C., MENDL, M. & EDWARDS, S. A. 2010. Tail-biting: a new perspective. *The Veterinary Journal*, 186, 137-147.
- TELKÄNRANTA, H. & EDWARDS, S. A. 2018. 4 Lifetime consequences of the early physical and social environment of piglets A2 Špinka, Marek. *Advances in Pig Welfare*. Woodhead Publishing.
- TEMPLE, D., COURBOULAY, V., VELARDE, A., DALMAU, A. & MANTECA, X. 2012. The welfare of growing pigs in five different production systems in France and Spain: assessment of health. *Animal Welfare*, 21, 257-271.
- TERLOUW, C., ASTRUC, T., DEISS, V. & ESPINOSA, L. 2006. Anesthésie gazeuse des porcs: variations physiologiques et comportementales et qualités des viandes. *JOURNEES DE LA RECHERCHE PORCINE EN FRANCE*, 38, 89.
- TERLOUW, E., LAWRENCE, A. B. & ILLIUS, A. W. 1991. Influences of feeding level and physical restriction on development of stereotypies in sows. *Animal Behaviour*, 42, 981-991.
- TERLOUW, E. C. & LAWRENCE, A. B. 1993. Long-term effects of food allowance and housing on development of stereotypies in pigs. *Applied Animal Behaviour Science*, 38, 103-126.
- THODBERG, K., JENSEN, K. H. & HERSKIN, M. S. 2002a. Nest building and farrowing in sows: relation to the reaction pattern during stress, farrowing environment and experience. *Applied Animal Behaviour Science*, 77, 21-42.
- THODBERG, K., JENSEN, K. H. & HERSKIN, M. S. 2002b. Nursing behaviour, postpartum activity and reactivity in sows: effects of farrowing environment, previous experience and temperament. *Applied Animal Behaviour Science*, 77, 53-76.
- THORUP, F. Back fat level at farrowing affects the frequency of shoulder lesions. 19th congress of the International Pig Veterinary society. Copenhagen, 2006. 33-07.

- THUN, R., GAJEWSKI, Z. & JANETT, F. 2006. Castration in male pigs: techniques and animal welfare issues. *Journal of physiology and pharmacology: an official journal of the Polish Physiological Society*, 57, 189-194.
- TILBROOK, A. & RALPH, C. 2018. Hormones, stress and the welfare of animals. *Animal Production Science*, 58, 408-415.
- TILBROOK, A., TURNER, A. & CLARKE, I. 2000. Effects of stress on reproduction in non-rodent mammals: the role of glucocorticoids and sex differences. Reviews of reproduction, 5, 105-113.
- TILBROOK, A. J. & RALPH, C. R. 2017. Neurophysiological assessment of animal welfare. *Animal Production Science*, 57, 2370-2375.
- TOSCANO, M., LAY JR, D., CRAIG, B. & PAJOR, E. 2007. Assessing the adaptation of swine to fifty-seven hours of feed deprivation in terms of behavioral and physiological responses. *Journal of animal science*, 85, 441-451.
- TRICKETT, S. L., GUY, J. H. & EDWARDS, S. A. 2009. The role of novelty in environmental enrichment for the weaned pig. *Applied Animal Behaviour Science*, 116, 45-51.
- TROEGER, K. & WOLTERSDORF, W. 1991. Gas anesthesia of slaughter pigs. I. Stunning experiments under laboratory conditions with fat pigs of known halothane reaction type: meat quality, animal protection. Fleischwirtschaft (Germany, FR).
- TURKSTRA, J., ZENG, X., VAN DIEPEN, J. T. M., JONGBLOED, A., OONK, H., VAN DE WIEL, D. & MELOEN, R. 2002. Performance of male pigs immunized against GnRH is related to the time of onset of biological response. *Journal of Animal Science*, 80, 2953-2959.
- TURNER, S., EDWARDS, S. & BLAND, V. 1999. The influence of drinker allocation and group size on the drinking behaviour, welfare and production of growing pigs. *Animal Science*, **68**, 617-624.
- TURNER, S., EWEN, M., ROOKE, J. & EDWARDS, S. 2000. The effect of space allowance on performance, aggression and immune competence of growing pigs housed on straw deep-litter at different group sizes. *Livestock Production Science*, **66**, **47**-55.
- TURNER, S., ROEHE, R., D'EATH, R., ISON, S., FARISH, M., JACK, M., LUNDEHEIM, N., RYDHMER, L. & LAWRENCE, A. 2009. Genetic validation of postmixing skin injuries in pigs as an indicator of aggressiveness and the relationship with injuries under more stable social conditions. *Journal of Animal Science*, 87, 3076-3082.
- TURNER, S. P., CAMERLINK, I., BAXTER, E. M., D'EATH, R. B., DESIRE, S. & ROEHE, R. 2018. 14 Breeding for pig welfare: Opportunities and challenges A2 Špinka, Marek. *Advances in Pig Welfare*. Woodhead Publishing.
- TURNER, S. P., FARNWORTH, M. J., WHITE, I. M., BROTHERSTONE, S., MENDL, M., KNAP, P., PENNY, P. & LAWRENCE, A. B. 2006. The accumulation of skin lesions and their use as a predictor of individual aggressiveness in pigs. *Applied Animal Behaviour Science*, **96**, 245-259.
- TURPIN, D. L., LANGENDIJK, P., PLUSH, K. & PLUSKE, J. R. 2017. Intermittent suckling with or without co-mingling of non-littermate piglets before weaning improves piglet performance in the immediate post-weaning period when compared with conventional weaning. *Journal of animal science and biotechnology*, **8,** 14.
- TUYTTENS, F. A. M. 2005. The importance of straw for pig and cattle welfare: a review. Applied animal behaviour science, 92, 261-282.
- URSINUS, W. W., VAN REENEN, C. G., KEMP, B. & BOLHUIS, J. E. 2014. Tail biting behaviour and tail damage in pigs and the relationship with general behaviour: Predicting the inevitable? *Applied Animal Behaviour Science*, 156, 22-36.
- VALROS, A. 2017. Tail biting. Advances in Pig Welfare. Elsevier.

- VALROS, A. 2018. Chapter 5 Tail biting A2 Špinka, Marek. Advances in Pig Welfare. Woodhead Publishing.
- VALROS, A. & HEINONEN, M. 2015. Save the pig tail. Porcine Health Management, 1, 2.
- VALROS, A., MUNSTERHJELM, C., HÄNNINEN, L., KAUPPINEN, T. & HEINONEN, M. 2016. Managing undocked pigs—on-farm prevention of tail biting and attitudes towards tail biting and docking. *Porcine health management*, 2, 2.
- VAN DE WEERD, H., DOCKING, C., DAY, J. & EDWARDS, S. 2005. The development of harmful social behaviour in pigs with intact tails and different enrichment backgrounds in two housing systems. *Animal Science*, 80, 289-298.
- VAN DE WEERD, H. A. & BAUMANS, V. 1995. Environmental enrichment in rodents. *Environmental enrichment information resources for laboratory animals*. *AWIC Resource Series*, **2**, 145-149.
- VAN DE WEERD, H. A. & DAY, J. E. 2009. A review of environmental enrichment for pigs housed in intensive housing systems. *Applied Animal Behaviour Science*, 116, 1-20.
- VAN DE WEERD, H. A., DOCKING, C. M., DAY, J. E., BREUER, K. & EDWARDS, S. A. 2006. Effects of species-relevant environmental enrichment on the behaviour and productivity of finishing pigs. *Applied Animal Behaviour Science*, 99, 230-247.
- VAN DIXHOORN, I. D., REIMERT, I., MIDDELKOOP, J., BOLHUIS, J. E., WISSELINK, H. J., KOERKAMP, P. W. G., KEMP, B. & STOCKHOFE-ZURWIEDEN, N. 2016. Enriched housing reduces disease susceptibility to co-infection with porcine reproductive and respiratory virus (PRRSV) and Actinobacillus pleuropneumoniae (A. pleuropneumoniae) in young pigs. *PloS one*, 11, e0161832.
- VAN NIEUWAMERONGEN, S., SOEDE, N., VAN DER PEET-SCHWERING, C., KEMP, B. & BOLHUIS, J. 2015. Development of piglets raised in a new multi-litter housing system vs. conventional single-litter housing until 9 weeks of age. *Journal of animal science*, 93, 5442-5454.
- VAN PUTTEN, G. 1969. An investigation into tail-biting among fattening pigs. *British Veterinary Journal*, 125, 511-517.
- VANHEUKELOM, V., DRIESSEN, B. & GEERS, R. 2012. The effects of environmental enrichment on the behaviour of suckling piglets and lactating sows: A review. *Livestock Science*, 143, 116-131.
- VELARDE, A. 2007. 12. Skin lesions. pig welfare, 79.
- VELARDE, A., CRUZ, J., GISPERT, M., CARRIÓN, D., DE LA TORRE, J. R., DIESTRE, A. & MANTECA, X. 2007a. Aversion to carbon dioxide stunning in pigs: effect of carbon dioxide concentration and halothane genotype. ANIMAL WELFARE-POTTERS BAR THEN WHEATHAMPSTEAD-, 16, 513.
- VELARDE, A. & DALMAU, A. 2017. Slaughter of pigs. Advances in Pig Welfare. Elsevier.
- VELARDE, A., GISPERT, M., OLIVER, M., SOLER, J., TIBAU, J. & FABREGA, E. The effect of immunocastration on the behaviour of pigs. Proceedings of the 41st International Congress of the International Society for Applied Ethology, 2007b. 117.
- VERDON, M., HANSEN, C. F., RAULT, J.-L., JONGMAN, E., HANSEN, L. U., PLUSH, K. & HEMSWORTH, P. H. 2015. Effects of group housing on sow welfare: A review1. *Journal of Animal Science*, 93, 1999-2017.
- VERDON, M., MORRISON, R. S., RICE, M. & HEMSWORTH, P. H. 2016. Individual variation in sow aggressive behavior and its relationship with sow welfare I. *Journal of Animal Science*, 94, 1203-1214.
- VERDON, M. & RAULT, J.-L. 2018. 8 Aggression in group housed sows and fattening pigs A2 Špinka, Marek. Advances in Pig Welfare. Woodhead Publishing.

- VERDON, M., ZEGARRA, N., ACHAYRA, R. & HEMSWORTH, P. H. 2018. Floor feeding sows their daily allocation over multiple drops per day does not result in more equitable feeding opportunities in later drops. *Animal*, 8, 1-12.
- VIEUILLE-THOMAS, C., LE PAPE, G. & SIGNORET, J. 1995. Stereotypies in pregnant sows: indications of influence of the housing system on the patterns expressed by the animals. *Applied Animal Behaviour Science*, 44, 19-27.
- VIEUILLE-THOMAS, C. & SIGNORET, J. 1992. Pheromonal transmission of an aversive experience in domestic pig. *Journal of chemical ecology*, 18, 1551-1557.
- VOGEL, K., BADTRAM, G., CLAUS, J., GRANDIN, T., TURPIN, S., WEYKER, R. & VOOGD, E. 2011. Head-only followed by cardiac arrest electrical stunning is an effective alternative to head-only electrical stunning in pigs. *Journal of animal science*, 89, 1412-1418.
- VON BORELL, E., BAUMGARTNER, J., GIERSING, M., JÄGGIN, N., PRUNIER, A., TUYTTENS, F. A. M. & EDWARDS, S. A. 2009. Animal welfare implications of surgical castration and its alternatives in pigs. *animal*, 3, 1488-1496.
- VON-BORELL, E., BOCKISCH, F.-J., BÜSCHER, W., HOY, S., KRIETER, J., MÜLLER, C., PARVIZI, N., RICHTER, T., RUDOVSKY, A. & SUNDRUM, A. 2001. Critical control points for onfarm assessment of pig housing. *Livestock Production Science*, 72, 177-184.
- WALDMANN, V., OTTO, K. & BOLLWAHN, W. 1994. Piglet castration--pain sensation and pain elimination. DTW. Deutsche tierarztliche Wochenschrift, 101, 105-109.
- WALKER, B., JÄGGIN, N., DOHERR, M. & SCHATZMANN, U. 2004. Inhalation anaesthesia for castration of newborn piglets: experiences with isoflurane and isoflurane/N2O. *Transboundary and Emerging Diseases*, 51, 150-154.
- WALKER, P. & BILKEI, G. 2006. Tail-biting in outdoor pig production. *The Veterinary Journal*, 171, 367-369.
- WALLENBECK, A. & KEELING, L. 2013. Using data from electronic feeders on visit frequency and feed consumption to indicate tail biting outbreaks in commercial pig production. *Journal of animal science*, 91, 2879-2884.
- WANG, L. H. & LI, Y. Z. 2016. Effect of continuous access to feeding stalls during mixing on behavior, welfare, and performance of group-housed gestating sows in different social ranks. *Canadian journal of animal science*, **96**, 386-396.
- WEBB, N. & NILSSON, C. 1983. Flooring and injury—an overview. Farm animal housing and welfare, 226-259.
- WEBER, R., KEIL, N., FEHR, M. & HORAT, R. 2007. Piglet mortality on farms using farrowing systems with or without crates. *Animal Welfare*, 16, 277-279.
- WENG, R., EDWARDS, S. & ENGLISH, P. 1998. Behaviour, social interactions and lesion scores of group-housed sows in relation to floor space allowance. *Applied Animal Behaviour Science*, 59, 307-316.
- WESTIN, R., HOLMGREN, N., HULTGREN, J., ORTMAN, K., LINDER, A. & ALGERS, B. 2015.

 Post-mortem findings and piglet mortality in relation to strategic use of straw at farrowing.

 Preventive veterinary medicine, 119, 141-152.
- WHITE, R., DESHAZER, J., TRESSLER, C., BORCHER, G., DAVEY, S., WANINGE, A., PARKHURST, A., MILANUK, M. & CLEMENS, E. 1995. Vocalization and physiological response of pigs during castration with or without a local anesthetic. *Journal of Animal Science*, 73, 381-386.
- WHITING, T. L. & MARION, C. R. 2011a. Perpetration-induced traumatic stress—a risk for veterinarians involved in the destruction of healthy animals. *The Canadian Veterinary Journal*, 52, 794.

- WHITING, T. L., STEELE, G. G., WAMNES, S. & GREEN, C. 2011b. Evaluation of methods of rapid mass killing of segregated early weaned piglets. *The Canadian Veterinary Journal*, 52, 753.
- WHITTAKER, X., SPOOLDER, H., EDWARDS, S., LAWRENCE, A. & CORNING, S. 1998. The influence of dietary fibre and the provision of straw on the development of stereotypic behaviour in food restricted pregnant sows. Applied Animal Behaviour Science, 61, 89-102.
- WIDOWSKI, T., ELGIE, R. & LAWLIS, P. 2008b. Assessing the effectiveness of a non-penetrating captive bolt for euthanasia of newborn piglets.
- WIDOWSKI, T. M., TORREY, S., BENCH, C. J. & GONYOU, H. W. 2008. Development of ingestive behaviour and the relationship to belly nosing in early-weaned piglets. *Applied animal behaviour science*, 110, 109-127.
- WILLEKE, H., CLAUS, R., MÜLLER, E., PIRCHNER, F. & KARG, H. 1987. Selection for high and low level of 5α-androst-16-en-3-one in boars. *Journal of animal breeding and genetics*, 104, 64-73.
- WILSON, K., ZANELLA, R., VENTURA, C., JOHANSEN, H. L., FRAMSTAD, T., JANCZAK, A., ZANELLA, A. J. & NEIBERGS, H. L. 2012. Identification of chromosomal locations associated with tail biting and being a victim of tail-biting behaviour in the domestic pig (Sus scrofa domesticus). *Journal of applied genetics*, 53, 449-456.
- WINGERT, F. & KNODT, C. Effects of the total floor space allocation for swine during the finishing period. JOURNAL OF ANIMAL SCIENCE, 1960. AMER SOC ANIMAL SCIENCE 1111 NORTH DUNLAP AVE, SAVOY, IL 61874, 1300-1300.
- WISCHNER, D., KEMPER, N. & KRIETER, J. 2009a. Nest-building behaviour in sows and consequences for pig husbandry. *Livestock Science*, 124, 1-8.
- WISCHNER, D., KEMPER, N., STAMER, E., HELLBRUEGGE, B., PRESUHN, U. & KRIETER, J. 2009b. Characterisation of sows' postures and posture changes with regard to crushing piglets. *Applied animal behaviour science*, 119, 49-55.
- WOODS, J., HILL, J., SCHWARTZ, K., PARSONS, R., GRANDIN, T. & MILLMAN, S. Traumatic brain injury associated with captive bolt euthanasia of swine. Proc. Humane Slaughter Assoc.(HSA), Centenary International Symposium. Portsmouth, UK, 2011b.
- WOODS, J., HILL, J., SCHWARTZ, K., SADLER, L., PARSONS, R., GRANDIN, T. & MILLMAN, S. 2011a. Analysis of the cash euthanizer system in commercial production settings.
- WOODS, J., MILLMAN, S., HILL, J., SCHWARTZ, K. & BROOKS, R. 2010a. The adoption of captive bolt technology for on farm euthanasia of swine.
- . Research Report 08-167. Des Moines IA: National Pork Board.
- WOODS, J., SHEARER, J. K. & HILL, J. 2010. Recommended on-farm euthanasia practices. *Improving animal welfare: a practical approach*, 186-213.
- WOODS, J., SHEARER, J. K. & HILL, J. 2010b. Recommended on-farm euthanasia practices. *Improving animal welfare: a practical approach*, 186-213.
- WOROBEC, E., DUNCAN, I. & WIDOWSKI, T. 1999. The effects of weaning at 7, 14 and 28 days on piglet behaviour. *Applied Animal Behaviour Science*, 62, 173-182.
- WOTTON, S., ANIL, M., WHITTINGTON, P. & MCKINSTRY, J. 1992. Pig slaughtering procedures: head-to-back stunning. *Meat Science*, 32, 245-255.
- WÜRBEL, H., CHAPMAN, R. & RUTLAND, C. 1998. Effect of feed and environmental enrichment on development of stereotypic wire-gnawing in laboratory mice. *Applied Animal Behaviour Science*, 60, 69-81.

- XUE, J., DIAL, G. D., HOLTON, E. E., VICKERS, Z., SQUIRES, E. J., LOU, Y., GODBOUT, D. & MOREL, N. 1996. Breed differences in boar taint: relationship between tissue levels boar taint compounds and sensory analysis of taint. *Journal of animal science*, 74, 2170-2177.
- YEAGER, M., GUYRE, P. & MUNCK, A. 2004. Glucocorticoid regulation of the inflammatory response to injury. *Acta Anaesthesiologica Scandinavica*, 48, 799-813.
- YUN, J., SWAN, K.-M., OLIVIERO, C., PELTONIEMI, O. & VALROS, A. 2015a. Effects of prepartum housing environment on abnormal behaviour, the farrowing process, and interactions with circulating oxytocin in sows. *Applied Animal Behaviour Science*, 162, 20-25.
- YUN, J., SWAN, K.-M., VIENOLA, K., FARMER, C., OLIVIERO, C., PELTONIEMI, O. & VALROS, A. 2013. Nest-building in sows: Effects of farrowing housing on hormonal modulation of maternal characteristics. *Applied Animal Behaviour Science*, 148, 77-84.
- YUN, J. & VALROS, A. 2015b. Benefits of prepartum nest-building behaviour on parturition and lactation in sows—a review. Asian-Australasian journal of animal sciences, 28, 1519.
- ZAMARATSKAIA, G. & RASMUSSEN, M. K. 2015a. Immunocastration of Male Pigs Situation Today. *Procedia Food Science*, 5, 324-327.
- ZAMARATSKAIA, G. & RASMUSSEN, M. K. 2015b. Immunocastration of male pigs–situation today. *Procedia Food Science*, 5, 324-327.
- ZAMARATSKAIA, G. & SQUIRES, E. J. 2009. Biochemical, nutritional and genetic effects on boar taint in entire male pigs. *animal*, 3, 1508-1521.
- ZOELS, S., LANGHOFF, R., KLINGER, E., MILJKOVIC, V. & GIBOIN, H. Effect of two non-steroidal analgesics for preemptive use in piglet castration. 22nd International Pig Veterinary Society Congress Proceedings. Jeju, Korea. pp. WP-453, 2006.
- ZONDERLAND, J., SCHEPERS, F., BRACKE, M., DEN HARTOG, L., KEMP, B. & SPOOLDER, H. 2011. Characteristics of biter and victim piglets apparent before a tail-biting outbreak. *Animal*, 5, 767-775.
- ZONDERLAND, J., VERMEER, H., VEREIJKEN, P. & SPOOLDER, H. 2003. Measuring a pig's preference for suspended toys by using an automated recording technique.
- ZONDERLAND, J. J., WOLTHUIS-FILLERUP, M., VAN REENEN, C. G., BRACKE, M. B., KEMP, B., DEN HARTOG, L. A. & SPOOLDER, H. A. 2008. Prevention and treatment of tail biting in weaned piglets. *Applied Animal Behaviour Science*, 110, 269-281.
- ZURBRIGG, K. 2006. Sow shoulder lesions: Risk factors and treatment effects on an Ontario farm. *Journal of animal science*, 84, 2509-2514.

APPENDIX I
Minimum space allowance for gilts, sows and boars

Class Australia		Canada	Denmark
	7 14001 4114	1.4 – 1.7m ²	
Gilts in group	lm ²	(partly slatted)	1.64m ²
housing		1.5 – 1.9m ²	
		(solid bedded)	
		1.8 – 2.2m ²	
Sows in group	1.4m ²	(partly slatted)	2.25m ²
housing	.,	$2.0 - 2.4 \text{m}^2$	_,,
		(solid bedded)	
		(
Sows in stall	0.6m x 2.2m	0.6m – 0.8m	
		(width)	
		(<150kg to >340)	
		7	
Farrowing crate	0.5m x 2.m		
J			
Farrowing pen	5.6m ² per sow		
		0.7m x 2.13m	
Boars in stall	$0.7m \times 2.4m$	(upto 135kg)	
		0.82m x 2.29m	
		(upto 180kg)	
		0.91m x 2.44m	
		(>225kg)	
		5.6m ²	
Boars in	6.0m ²	(partly or fully	6m ²
individual pens		" slatted)	(housing)
•		7.4m ²	10m ²
		(solid bedded)	(service)
		,	, ,
Weaners,	0.14 - 0.74m ²	0.16 - 0.82m ²	0.15 - 1.0 m ²
growers and			
finishers			
(10kg to 120kg)			
. 5 - 6/			
OUTDOOR			
HOUSING			
Dry sows	20-25 sows/ha		
(paddock)			
u /			
Lactating sows	9-14 sows/ha		
with piglets			
(paddock)			

Dry sows (shelter)	1.2 - 1.5m ² /sow	
Lactating sows with piglets (shelter)	4 – 6m²	
Boars	2m²/ boar	

APPENDIX II
Comparison of Code of Practice for provision of enrichment

Australia	New Zealand	Canada	Denmark	UK
Australia N/A	Does not specifically state to provide enrichment but requires pigs to be managed in a manner that provides them sufficient opportunities to express and satisfy their normal behaviour	Pigs must be provided with multiple form of enrichment to improve the welfare of animals through the enhancement of their physical and social environments	All pigs must have permanent access to a sufficient quantity of enrichment materials that does not compromise their health and enables them to carry out proper investigation and manipulation activities and fulfil their behavioural needs	To enable proper investigation and manipulation activities, all pigs must have permanent access to a sufficient quantity of material such as straw, hay, wood, sawdust, mushroom compost, peat or mixture of such which does not adversely affect the health of the
	Denaviour		needs	animals.

APPENDIX III

Comparison of elective husbandry procedure

Procedure	Australia	New Zealand	Canada	Denmark	UK
Castration	Recommends surgical castration of pigs older than 21 days must be carried under anaesthesia and by veterinary practitioner	Surgical castration of pigs at any age must be carried out by a veterinarian	Castration performed at any age must be done with analgesics to help control post-operative pain	Surgical castration of pigs should be abandoned	Male pigs may be castrated provided it is not done by tearing tissues. Castration carried out after 7 days of life must be done by veterinary surgeon
Tail docking	If performed, tail docking should be carried out before 7 days of age	Tail docking performed over 7 days of age should be done by a veterinarian	Tail docking performed at any age must be done with analgesics to help control post-operative pain	If necessary, no more than half the tail may be docked, and may be carried out between 2nd and 4th day of life	Must not be performed routinely. Only part of tail can be docked. If performed after 7 days must be done under anaesthetic and prolonged analgesia
Teeth clipping	Recommends that teeth clipping should not be a routine procedure. Where necessary, should be done within 3 days of life, by removing no more than quarter of the tip.	Teeth clipping, or grinding must be carried out before 5 days.	Need for teeth clipping should be evaluated and performed only when deemed necessary	Needle teeth may be removed by grinding within first 3 days of life	Can be done by uniform reduction of needle teeth by grinding or clipping no later than 7th day of life. Other measures to improve environmental conditions or management systems should be considered first

APPENDIX IV

Australian Model Code of Practice for the Welfare of Animals – Pigs

Model Code of Practice for the Welfare of Animals - Pigs (revised)

This revised Model Code of Practise for the Welfare of Animals - Pigs is the final draft as approved by the Primary Industries Ministerial Council on Friday, 20 April 2007.

This Code is yet to be edited and formatted for final public release. This will be done in the coming weeks and the final version will be available through CSIRO. Editing and formatting will be to style only. There will be no further amendments made to the content of the revised Code.

 $\label{eq:APPENDIXV} \text{Code of Practice for the Care and Handling of Pigs, 2014 (Canada)}$



CODE OF PRACTICE



FOR THE CARE AND HANDLING OF





Canadä

APPENDIX VI

Codes of Recommendations for the Welfare of Livestock: Pigs (The United Kingdom)



Printed on Recycled Paper containing 75% post consumer waste and 25% Elemental Chlorine Free virgin pulp.

Defra Publications, Admail 6000 London, SW1A 2XX © Crown Copyright March 2003 PB 7950





APPENDIX VII Council Directive 2008/120/EC (The European Union)

EN 18.2.2009

Official Journal of the European Union

L 47/5

DIRECTIVES

COUNCIL DIRECTIVE 2008/120/EC

of 18 December 2008

laying down minimum standards for the protection of pigs (Codified version)

THE COUNCIL OF THE EUROPEAN UNION,

Having regard to the Treaty establishing the European Community, and in particular Article 37 thereof,

Having regard to the proposal from the Commission,

Having regard to the opinion of the European Parliament (1),

Whereas:

- Council Directive 91/630/FFC of 19 November 1991 laying down minimum standards for the protection of pigs (*) has been substantially amended several times (*). In the interests of clarity and rationality the said Directive should be codified.
- Most Member States have ratified the European Convention for the protection of animals kept for farming purposes. The Community has also approved this Convention by Council Decision 78/923/EEC (*).
- Council Directive 98/58/EC of 20 July 1998 concerning the protection of animals kept for farming purposes (2) establishes Community provisions applying to all farmed animals in relation to construction requirements for animal housing, insulation, heating and ventilation conditions, equipment inspection and inspection of livestock. It is therefore necessary to deal with these matters in this Directive when more detailed requirements have to be established.
- Pigs, being live animals, are included in the list of products set out in Annex I to the Treaty.
- (5) The keeping of pigs is an integral part of agriculture. It constitutes a source of revenue for part of the agricultural population.
- (1) OJ C 146 E, 12.6.2008, p. 78. (2) OJ L 340, 11.12.1991, p. 33. (7) See Annex II, Part A. (4) OJ L 323, 17.11.1978, p. 12. (5) OJ L 221, 8.8.1998, p. 23.

- Differences which may distort conditions of competition interfere with the smooth running of the organisation of the common market in pigs and pig products.
- There is therefore a need to establish common minimum standards for the protection of pigs kept for rearing and fattening in order to ensure rational development of production.
- Pigs should benefit from an environment corresponding to their needs for exercise and investigatory behaviour. The welfare of pigs appears to be compromised by severe restrictions of space.
- When pigs are kept in groups, appropriate management measures for their protection should be taken to improve their welfare.
- (10) Sows prefer to have social interactions with other pigs when provided with freedom of movement and environ-mental complexity. Keeping sows in continuous close confinement should therefore be prohibited.
- (11) Tail-docking, tooth-dipping and tooth-grinding are likely to cause immediate pain and some prolonged pain to pigs. Castration is likely to cause prolonged pain which is worse if there is tearing of the fissues. Those practices are therefore detrimental to the welfare of pigs, especially when carried out by incompetent and inexperienced persons. As consequence, rules should be laid down to ensure better practices.
- (12) A balance should be kept between the various aspects to be taken into consideration, as regarding welfare including health, economic and social considerations, and also environmental impact.
- (13) It is necessary for official services, producers, consumers and others to be kept informed of developments in this field. The Commission should therefore, on the basis of an opinion from the European Food Safety Authority, actively pursue scientific research into the best pig-rearing system(s) from the point of view of pig welfare. Provision should accordingly be made for an interim period to enable the Commission to complete this task successfully.

Code of Welfare

Pigs

Code of Welfare

1 October 2018

Issued under the Animal Welfare Act 1999

New Zealand Government

Pigs

Animal Welfare (Pigs) Code of Welfare 2010

A code of welfare issued under the Animal Welfare Act 1999

3 December 2010

ISBN 978-0-478-37503-9 (print) ISBN 978-0-478-37504-6 (online)

National Animal Welfare Advisory Committee
C/- Animal Welfare Directorate, MAF Biosecurity New Zealand, PO Box 2528, Wellington 6140